From:	Raczkowski, Victor
Sent:	Tuesday, August 22, 2006 9:13 AM
То:	Marchione, Carol; Cansler, Kristen; Adams, Jessica; Diaz, Simon; Warner, Jamie
Subject:	Immediate Action Needed: Final Version of Actiq RMP submission (to FDA on
	Tuesday August 22nd ASAP)
Attachments:	Final Cover Letter for amend 3 to s-023 VR v1.doc; Actiq RMP 04 Nov 1998 Clean.pdf; Actiq RMP 09 Feb 1999 Clean.pdf; Actiq RMP 01 Aug 2001 Clean.pdf; Actiq RMP 09 Feb 1999 vs 04 Nov 1998.pdf; Actiq RMP 01 Aug 2001 vs 09 Feb 1999.pdf;
	Actiq RMP 16 Jan 2002 S009.pdf
Importance:	High

Dear all,

I've attached a copy of the cover letter for the Actiq RMP and its attachments that need to go to FDA ASAP on Tuesday morning (we have a teleconference scheduled with FDA later on Tuesday afternoon).

Carol: I made substantial changes to your cover letter and chronology. Please review to ensure accuracy.

All: Carol is at the FENTORA launch meeting in Las Vegas and is several (three?) time zones behind us and may not see this until late morning Frazer time. If you have not heard from Carol by 10:00 a.m. Frazer time (or earlier if you feel pressed) then please go forward with finalizing the document in the absence of her input. Based on my review of the information in CentFile and CephDocs, I have sufficient confidence that the information provided is accurate, and while perhaps not optimal given the time constraints, the submission will be adequate to meet FDA's immediate needs.

I recognize that the approach of extracting documents (i.e., versions of the RMP and tracked-changes between successive RMPS) from previous submissions may not be optimal (e.g., modifications to these documents may have occurred during the review cycle). However, I was careful in the cover letter to describe these excerpts accurately as being from the submission (as opposed to saying with certainty that they were the approved documents). Again, I believe this is sufficient to meet FDA's immediate needs given the time constraints.

Kristen and Jessica: Please coordinate to have the submission published with appropriate links to the attachments. Please proofread for typos. Please send it by e-mail to FDA (Kim Compton) ASAP. Please indicate and ensure that a copy of the CD (or a hard copy or hard copies of the submission) are delivered to FDA by courier today.

Simon or Jamie: I will be at the dentist on Tuesday morning and should be back in the office by around 11:30 a.m. or noon; If I am not available to sign the letter, please sign on Carol's behalf.

Thank you.

Victor



Robert A. Rappaport, M.D. Director Division of Anesthesia, Analgesia and Rheumatology Products, HFD-170 Food and Drug Administration 5901-B Ammendale Rd. Beltsville, MD 20705-1266

> NDA 20-747 Actiq (Oral Transmucosal Fentanyl Citrate) Amendment to S-023

Dear Dr. Rappaport,

Reference is made to our Prior-Approval Supplement (S-023) that was submitted to the Agency on March 5, 2006 to allow for a generic version of Actiq. The supplement contained proposals for generic labeling, a generic risk management plan (RMP), and a generic product description. Reference is also made to the August 9, 2006 teleconference with Dr. S. Hertz, Deputy Director of the Division of Anesthesia, Analgesia and Rheumatology Products (DAARP), and Ms. K. Compton, FDA Regulatory Health Project Manager for Actiq, during which the Agency stated that the currently approved RMP dated August 1, 2001 should be used as the basis for the generic RMP and during which Dr. Hertz requested that Cephalon submit a generic RMP showing deletion of the name "Actiq" throughout the document and replacement with "Oral Transmucosal Fentanyl Citrate." Finally, reference is made to an amendment to Supplement S-023 submitted on August 14, 2006 which included a proposed revised generic RMP meeting the criteria outlined in the August 9, 2006 teleconference

On August 18, 2006, FDA personnel contacted Cephalon to request a summary of the changes that have impacted the RMP since its initiation, including an annotated listing of each change. This submission provides a response to the Agency's request. To address the Agency's request, we are providing the following items:

- A chronology of the changes to the Actiq Risk Management Plan, organized by supplement, since its first approval on November 4, 1998 (see Attachment 1). As is evident upon reading the chronology, the approved supplements (S-003, S-008 and S-009) capture the changes to the RMP over time. However, for completeness and because they provide useful context, key communications between FDA and Cephalon about supplements pertaining to the RMP are summarized in the chronology regardless of their approval status.
- Clean copies of the key versions of the Actiq Risk Management Plan:
 Version dated November 4, 1998

Comment [CI1]: Link to Attachment 1

Comment [CI2]: Link to "ACTIQ RMP 04 NOV

1998 CLEAN.pdf

ACTIQ[®](Oral Transmucosal Fentanyl Citrate) NDA 20-747 Amendment to S-023 August 22, 2006 Page 2

(Extracted from Anesta's submission dated February 10, 1999; S-003)

- Version dated February 9, 1999
 (Extracted from Anesta's submission dated February 10, 1999; S-003)
- Version dated August 1, 2001
 (Extracted from Cephalon's submission dated August 8, 2001; S-008)
- Red-line/Strike-out versions of the Actiq Risk Management Plan showing the changes between successive key versions:
 - Changes between Version dated February 9, 1999 and Version dated November 4, 1998
 - (Extracted from Anesta's submission dated February 10, 1999; S-003)
 Changes between Version dated August 1, 2001 and Version dated

February 9, 1999 (Extracted from Cephalon's submission dated August 8, 2001; S-008)

• A copy of Cephalon's submission of January 16, 2002 (S-009)

As is evident from the review of the *Chronology of FDA-Approved Changes to the Actiq Risk Management Program*, the key supplements impacting the RMP since its approval in 1998 are S-003, S-008, and S-009.

Cephalon has considered the RMP submitted under S-008 as the "currently approved" document. Because the changes approved under S-009 include a change in the name of the sales force as well as a revised letter indicating their responsibilities pertaining to the RMP, Cephalon believes that the RMP version of August 1, 2001, submitted under S-008, should therefore be revised to reflect the name "Pain Care Specialists" where the name of the sales force is specified. We have not provided a revised version of the RMP indicating this change with this amendment since the Agency may have additional comments that require further revisions. We can confirm this in forthcoming discussions with the Agency, such as the teleconference scheduled for August 22, 2006.

If there are any questions concerning this submission, please do not hesitate to contact me at (610) 738-6237.

Sincerely,

Carol S. Marchione Sr. Director, Regulatory Affairs

-(Comment [CI3]: Link to "ACTIQ RMP 09 FEB 1999 CLEAN.pdf"
1	Comment [CI4]: Link to "ACTIQ RMP 01 AUG 2001 CLEAN.pdf"

Comment [CI5]: Link to "ACTIQ RMP 09 FEB 1999 VS 04 NOV 1998.pdf"

Comment [CI6]: Link to "ACTIQ RMP 01 Aug 2001 VS 09 FEB 1999.pdf"

Comment [CI7]: Link to "ACTIQ RMP 16 JAN 2002 S009.pdf"

Comment [C18]: Link to "Chronology of FDA-Approved Changes to the Actiq Risk Management Program in attachment 1 ACTIQ[®](Oral Transmucosal Fentanyl Citrate) NDA 20-747 Amendment to S-023 August 22, 2006 Page 2

ATTACHMENT 1

Chronology of FDA-Approved Changes to the Actiq Risk Management Program

(Organized by NDA Supplement)

- 1. The initial Actiq RMP (RMP version dated November 4, 1998) was approved on November 4, 1998 as part of the approval action taken on the Actiq NDA submitted by Anesta Corp. (Anesta).¹
- 2. Anesta proposed revisions to the Actiq RMP in a submission dated February 10, 1999. The proposed revisions reflected new information received from outside consultants, deletion of information deemed to be proprietary by Abbott Laboratories (e.g., the organizational structure within Abbott), and corrections relating to grammar and spelling. Some of the key revisions included (a) changes to the Carton--Back Panel Text (e.g., moving text without changing the content and updating the pharmacist checklist), (b) changes to the Child-resistant Lock (e.g., change from a magnetic cabinet lock to a plastic latch/lock, known as a "double-lock"), (c) correction of a statement about the reading level of the Children's Booklet, and (d) revisions to reflect current procedures at Abbott Laboratories for adverse event investigation and follow-up. FDA approved the revised RMIP (RMIP version dated February 9, 1999) on March 26, 1999 under S-003.
- 3. In a correspondence to the NDA dated October 18, 1999, Anesta submitted a revised RMP (RMP version dated October 18, 1999) to reflect the currently approved version of the package insert. The content of the revised RMP was identical to the approved February 9, 1999 version of the RMP with the exception of Attachment 5 (i.e., the Actiq package insert). Thus, the RMP was changed only by substituting the currently approved package insert in Attachment 5 of the RMP for the outdated package insert.
- 4. In a correspondence dated May 31, 2000, Anesta filed proposed changes to the RMP (RMP version dated May 26, 2000) under S-007 to reflect recent changes in responsibility for the sales and marketing of Actiq in the United States. The submission indicated that Anesta had responsibility for the sales and marketing of Actiq in the U.S. and that Abbott would continue to manufacture and distribute Actiq in the U.S. Although initially a joint effort between Anesta

¹ On October 10, 2000, Anesta Corp of Salt Lake City, Utah became a wholly owned subsidiary of Cephalon Inc.

ACTIQ[®](Oral Transmucosal Fentanyl Citrate) NDA 20-747 Amendment to S-023 August 22, 2006 Page 2

and Abbott Laboratories, the RMP would now be the sole responsibility of Anesta.

On October 1, 2001, FDA issued a not approvable letter for S-007. Cephalon subsequently responded to the identified deficiencies in a submission dated October 26, 2001, Cephalon. In its response, Cephalon noted that because of the change in ownership of Actiq, the proposed May 26, 2000 version of the RMP was now obsolete. Cephalon indicated that the RMP would be revised to acknowledge the change in ownership of Actiq and to incorporate the Agency's comments to S-007 where still relevant while reflecting Cephalon's current practices. No response was received by Cephalon to its October 26, 2001 communication.

- 5. In a Cephalon submission dated August 8, 2001 (S-008)², Cephalon submitted a proposed revised RMP (RMP version dated August 1, 2001) to FDA as part of a prior-approval supplement. The supplement provided for (a) a transfer of the manufacturing site for the U.S. Actiq market from Abbott, North Chicago to Cephalon Salt Lake City Operations; and (b) a change in the drug product formulation from the cooked-sugar product to a compressed matrix product. More specifically, the sNDA provided for changes of the supplier, manufacturing process and regulatory specifications of the drug substance; as well as for changes in the formulation, manufacturing process, facilities, regulatory specifications and test methods, and container and labeling of the drug product. Consequently, the submission included proposed changes to the packaging, labeling, and RMP. FDA approved S-008 on February 19, 2003.
- 6. In a prior-approval supplement dated January 16, 2002 (S-009), Cephalon addressed a comment in the Agency's not approvable letter for Supplement S-007. Specifically, Cephalon responded to the Agency's concern over the name of the sales force as reflected in section 5.2 (The Oncology Specialist) of the RMP. The submission included a proposal to name the individuals in this sector of the sales force "Pain Care Specialists." It also included proposed revisions to a letter that the company sends to the Sales Specialists, which outlines their responsibilities pertaining to the RMP. On January 29, 2003, FDA approved S-009 changing the name used to refer to the portion of the sales force that markets the drug product.

² Cephalon's August 8, 2001 submission (S-008) should not be confused with Anesta's submission of May 31, 2000 (S-007). The Cephalon submission dated August 8, 2001 was designated initially by Cephalon as Supplement S-007. However, FDA's letter dated September 24, 2001 acknowledging receipt of the submission referred to it as Supplement S-008. Consequently Cephalon subsequently began to refer to the August 8, 2001 submission as Supplement S-008 in accordance with FDA's designation.

ACTIQ®(Oral Transmucosal Fentanyl Citrate) NDA 20-747 Amendment to S-023 August 22, 2006 Page 2

6. On November 22, 2004, Cephalon submitted a proposal to revise the RMP (S-020). The purpose was to provide more clear and concise text, to delete the launch activities described in the original document, to more accurately describe the RMP processes as adopted by Cephalon, and to emphasize the three key safety messages of the RMP even more clearly. On June 21, 2005, FDA issued a not approvable letter for S-020.

On January 6, 2006, Cephalon amended S-020 to address the deficiencies identified in the Agency's not approvable letter. Noting that the review of the entire application is not complete, FDA issued comments to Cephalon on July 24, 2006 on S-020 which had been provided by the Office of Surveillance and Epidemiology (OSE) and the Controlled Substances Staff (CSS). An FDA action on the amended supplement S-020 is pending.

FDA APPROVED RMP (November 4, 1998)

Note: The Attached RMP Was Included In The November 4, 1998 Facsimile From FDA (See November 4, 1998 Approval Letter)

19- 124

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999 Actiq®

(oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate)

Risk Management Program

(November 4, 1998)

NDA Number: 20-747

Sponsor:

.

Anesta Corp. 4745 Wiley Post Way Plaza 6, Suite 650 Sait Lake City, UT 84116 801-595-1405

j 🍋 - -

Marketing Partner:

Abbott Laboratories Hospital Products Division Abbott Park, IL 60064

19- 125

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TABLE OF CONTENTS				
1.0 INTRODUCTION	5			
1.1 Key Messages for the RMP	6			
2.0 PRODUCT DEFINITION	6			
2.3 Actig Shelf Carton	8			
2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units	9			
2.4.1 Multiple Dosage Strengths	9			
2.4.2 Pricing.	10			
2.4.3Prescribing Directions	10			
3.0 LABELING	10			
3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification)	10			
3.2 Patient Leaflet	11			
3.3 Package Insert	11			
4.0 PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL EDUCATION	12			
4.1 Key Message Points	13			
4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph	13			
4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs	13			
4.4 Publications	14			
4.4.1 Broad-Based Publications	14			
4.4.2 Pharmaceutical Compendia	14			
4.4.3 Major Nursing Journals	15			
4.4.4 Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters	15			
4.4.5 Major Pharmacy Journals	15			
4.4.6 Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic)	15			
4.5 COMMUNICATION WITH DEA	16			
5.0 ACTIQ LAUNCH PROGRAM	16			
5.1 Target Audience	16			
5.2 The Actiq Specialist (Abbott Sales Organization)	16			
5.3 Detail Aids	17			
5.4 Direct Mail	17			

_

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

19- 126

2

5.4.1 Actiq Professional Information Kit	18
5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter	18
5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter	18
5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services	18
5.5 Multimedia Programs	18
5.5.1 Actiq CD ROM Program	19
5.5.2 Actiq Internet Site	19
5.5.3 Emergency 911	19
5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number	19
6.0 PATIENT AND CAREGIVER EDUCATION	19
6.1 The Actig Welcome Kit	19
6.2 Patient Oriented Actiq Safety Video	· 20
6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet	21
6.4 Children's Booklet	21
7.0 POINT OF DISPENSING INTERVENTIONS	21
7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit	22
8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES	22
8.1 Direct Patient Feedback	23
8.1.1 Rite-Aid / Eckerd call back system	23
8.2 Prescription Monitoring	23
8.2.1 IMS Xponent	23
8.2.2 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index	24
8.2.3 Wholesaler Data	24
8.3 Adverse Events	24
8.3.1 Abbott Standard Operating Procedure	24
8.3.3 Literature Monitoring	25
8.4 Poisoning and Overdose	25
8.4.1Central 1-800 Poison Control Number	26
8.4.2 Toxic Exposures Surveillance System (TESS).	26
8.5 Abuse	26

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

3

8.5.1 Routine Abbott Interaction with DEA	25
8.5.2 Abbott Exceptions System	26
8.5.3 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)	26
8.6 Promotional Message Audit	27
9.0 INTERVENTION	27
9.1 Off-Label Usage	27
9.1.1 Individual Prescribers	27
9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers	27
9.2 Accidental Ingestion	28
10.0 FDA REPORTING	28

,

Actiq Risk Management Program Novernoer 4 1998

10

19- 128

4

--- -

1.0 Introduction

The Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) has been designed to address three key potential risk situations:

- 1) accidental ingestion of Actiq by children
- 2) improper patient selection (prescriptions to and usage by opioid non-tolerant patients)
- 3) diversion or abuse

Anesta Corp. and Abbott Laboratories have designed and developed a comprehensive program with the primary goal of making every reasonable effort to reduce the risk of potential untoward events in the unintended populations to the extent possible. This program includes the following:

- strong labeling for professionals, patients and caregivers
- product specific design features to increase child safety
- redundant child-resistant packaging and storage containers
- comprehensive professional, patient caregivers, and child educational programs
- interventions at the point of dispensing
- Actiq's CII status

This document provides details and implementation tactics for all elements of the Actiq Risk Management Program. No single element can provide the complete answer to reducing risk. A lengthy series of events must occur in sequence before a risk event can occur, yet any one of multiple RMP elements can intervene to interrupt the sequence and prevent the risk event. Redundancy of program elements is one measure used to strengthen the effectiveness of the RMP.

The purpose of the RMP is to ensure the safe use of this product. It is not intended that any portions of this RMP should be used in a promotional context or used to promote Actiq in a manner inconsistent with the product label.

The Risk Management Plan and all of its components will be fully operational at the time of launch.

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

5

1.1 Key Messages for the RMP

There are several key messages repeated throughout the RMP, which are listed below. For the balance of the document, these messages will be referenced simply as Child Safety, Proper Patient Selection and Prevention of Diversion and Abuse messages.

- Child Safety Messages
 - Actiq must be kept out of the reach of children
 - Actiq could be harmful or fatal to a child if accidentally ingested
 - Actig must be properly stored and handled
 - Actiq must be properly disposed of after use
 - Healthcare professionals must counsel patients on child safety messages
 - Accessible and easily understood directions on what to do in case of accidental ingestion
- Proper Patient Selection Messages
 - Definition of an opioid tolerant patient
 - Actig is specifically contraindicated for use in opioid non-tolerant patients
 - Actiq is specifically contraindicated for acute/postoperative pain
 - Directions on what to do in case of suspected overdose
 - Actiq is specifically indicated solely for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain in chronic opioid tolerant cancer patients.
- Prevention of Diversion and Abuse Messages
 - Actig is a CII medication
 - Actig is to be used only by the patient for whom it is dispensed
 - Actiq may be habit forming
 - Actig requires appropriate disposal of unused medication

2.0 Product Definition

The Actiq unit, containing dosages of fentanyl ranging from 200 to 1600 mcg per unit, consists of a raspberry-flavored lozenge on a handle (See Figure 1). Actiq provides median peak fentanyl blood levels in 20-40 minutes (range of 20-480 minutes) when the unit is consumed over a 15-minute period and fentanyl is absorbed by a combination of transmucosal and gastrointestinal absorption.

> Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

P.7

Concern has been raised that Actiq may be perceived as a lollipop. Because of the design of the Actiq unit and its drug delivery characteristics, steps will be taken in an effort to minimize the risk of accidental poisoning, inappropriate use and diversion.

2.1 Actiq unit

The Actiq unit consists of an opaque, white to off-white drug matrix that has been opacified and colored to make it look less appealing to children. Its handle has been designed with a "paddle" with a molded "Rx" in the center to identify it as a product for medical use. Additionally, on the backside of the paddle the word "fentanyl" is clearly visible.

The Actiq unit complies with current drug imprinting requirements (see 21 CFR §206.10, Imprinting of Solid Oral Dosage Form Products for Human Use). The handle carries legible, laser-engraved product identification information (microgram content of active drug, product code, manufacturer logo, and "fentanyl") in 9 point, charcoal-gray type on a pure white background. The laser-engraved imprint on the handle is intended to provide immediate documentation of drug and dose in the event of an accidental poisoning.

Insert Figure 1

2.2 Actiq Child-Resistant Pouch

- See Figures 2 and 3.
- Each Actiq unit is individually sealed in its own child-resistant pouch. The Actiq pouch is made of a heavy, multi-layer laminated foil material and requires seissors to open. It meets the specifications provided in the Poison Prevention Packaging Act. The child-resistant testing was conducted in compliance with the Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970, 16 CFR §1700, cited in the Federal Register (Volume 38, No. 151, August 7, 1973). This package passed the child resistance test protocol with a 99% effectiveness rating, exceeding the 80% requirement.
- Individual child-resistant packaging (one dosage unit in each pouch) is intended to minimize exposure by limiting access to just one unit at a time.
- The pouch is opaque. A child cannot see the unit when it is in its pouch. The pouch does not resemble food or most candy wrappers.
- The dosage strength of each unit is marked on each handle, on the foil pouch, and shelf carton. The colors are a secondary aid in product identification:

Gray 200 mcg

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

19- 131

Blue	400 mcg
Orange	600 mcg
Purple	800 mcg
Green	1200 mcg
Burgundy	1600 mcg

- The front of each pouch utilizes an icon to draw attention to warnings about child safety and opioid tolerance, standard product identification information is also included on the front of the pouch. The back of each pouch contains the same icon, plain-language warnings about child safety and proper product storage, and a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet.
- The front of each pouch contains the CII symbol, a "May be habit forming" warning and an "Rx only" warning.

Insert Figures2

Insert Figure 3

2.3 Actig Shelf Carton

The Actiq shelf carton includes labeling messages targeting all three at-risk populations (Figures 4, 6 pages). The shelf carton contains strong warnings prominently and redundantly displayed on the front and back pharmacy label space on the back of the shelf carton.

- The front of the shelf carton has a conspicuous icon calling attention to warnings about child safety, and a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. There is also a warning about appropriate patient selection.
- The right hand side of the back of the shelf carton contains a designated location for the application of the pharmacy-dispensing label. A checklist for the pharmacist is included in this space. The checklist reminds the pharmacist to make sure the patient is already taking opioids chronically, to counsel the patient about child safety, to encourage the patient to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet, and to discuss the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. Below this space are prominent instructions on what to do in case of an accidental exposure. On the left hand side of the back of the shelf carton an icon calls attention to prominent warnings about child safety, the need for appropriate patient selection (opioid tolerance), the importance of appropriate disposal of partially consumed units, and a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. On the top of the shelf carton is another reminder for the patient or caregiver to read the *Actig* Patient Leaflet.
- At the initiation of Actiq therapy, it is recommended that physicians prescribe an initial supply of six 200-mcg units. At each new dose of Actiq during titration, it

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

is recommended that only six units of the next higher dose be prescribed to limit the potential for left over units in the home.

- The most prominent front panel warnings will be provided in Spanish in sticker form to pharmacies upon request. As additional languages are identified, appropriate stickers will be developed and distributed in similar fashion.
- Each shelf carton contains eight strips of three pouches, for a total of 24 pouches of a single strength of *Actiq*. The shelf carton represents approximately a ten-day to two-week supply of *Actiq* after the appropriate dose has been established via titration. Except for the top panel, all printed panels of the shelf carton contain the CII symbol.

Insert Figure 4

Insert figure 5-1

Insert figure 5-2

Insert figure 5-3

Insert figure 5-4

2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units

It is important to limit the availability of unused and partially consumed units in the home. Warnings are placed on the shelf carton to remind patients to properly dispose of partially consumed units. The following steps will be taken to reduce the availability of unused and partially consumed units by (1) the provision of multiple dosage strengths, (2) proportional pricing, and (3) directions for titration and prescribing.

2.4.1 Multiple Dosage Strengths

Actiq will be made available in six dosage strengths (200, 400, 600, 800, 1200, 1600 mcg units) so that parients can be titrated to the unit strength which provides adequate relief with acceptable side effects. The directions to both healthcare professionals and patients clearly state that Actiq dosage units are to be completely consumed.

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

19- 133

سعر

9

2.4.2 Pricing

Pricing of *Actiq* will provide proportionality on a per mcg basis. This pricing plan is an attempt to minimize the economic incentive to partially consume an *Actiq* unit and save the remainder for a future breakthrough cancer pain episode, reducing the potential risk to children.

2.4.3 Prescribing Directions

As per the *Actiq* titration instructions, the initial recommended prescription size is six units of the 200 mcg dose. If a patient requires a higher dose, the titration instructions recommend a second prescription of six units of the 400 mcg dose. This process of prescribing six units of the next highest available dosage form is recommended until the appropriate dose is found.

The package insert contains specific instructions recommending that physicians prescribe a small quantity (6 units) for titration and/or dosage adjustment in an effort to minimize the number of units in the home.

3.0 Labeling

3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification)

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration places very specific controls on the storage, distribution, accountability, prescribing and usage of scheduled products (see 21 CFR §1301). Actiq will be a CII product, consistent with other strong opioids such as fentanyl, morphine, oxycodone, and hydromorphone-based products. CII is the most restrictive classification available, and raises the overall level of vigilance and surveillance by all parties involved with the product. These restrictions include:

- strongest tracking and controls throughout the distribution system (DEA Form 222 required for all transactions)
- 100% drug accountability by individual count is required
- most stringent physical storage requirements
- no refills allowed, triplicate prescriptions may be required in some states
- registered pharmacist is required to ensure a legitimate medical purpose before dispensing

Actiq's status as a CII product is the primary risk management element against the third potential risk event -- the potential for diversion and/or abuse. It is important to note, however, that simply the fact that a product is CII raises the level of attention devoted to

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

the prescribing and dispensing of the product by all parties involved in the process and that this is expected to also reduce the risk of accidental ingestion and prescribing for opioid non-tolerant patients because of this heightened awareness.

3.2 Patient Leaflet

A Patient Leaflet has been written for *Actiq*, and three copies will be packaged in every shelf carton (RMP Attachment 1). Extra copies will be broadly distributed for use by physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers, and patients. The leaflet will be included in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit and in other direct to patient communication and educational programs. It will be available in Spanish as well.

- The first page of the ACTIQ Patient Leaflet contains a strong boxed warning and redundant child warning with graphics for emphasis.
- The ACT/Q Patient Leaflet explicitly addresses, in plain language, preventing access by children. These messages include:
 - Child Safety messages
 - safe storage instructions for whole and partially consumed units
 - Disposal directions for used and unused units and a 1-800 number for additional disposal assistance. Patients calling the 1-800 number will receive a more personalized "walk through" of disposal instructions. If additional assistance is required, callers will be referred to their local DEA office for information.
- It contains emergency information on what should be done in case of accidental ingestion by a child or any opioid non-tolerant person.
 - a prompt to call 911 if the patient or child is not awake and alert
 - a prompt to call 1-800 Poison Control if the patient or child is awake
 - instructions for care of the patient or child who is having trouble breathing or not breathing at all
- It contains proper patient selection messages

19-

 Strong language has been used throughout the Actiq Patient Leaflet. In all warning statements, the word "must" is used instead of the word "should". The warning language "can be harmful or fatal to a child" and "can cause injury or death in people who are not already taking prescription opioid pain medicines ..." is used.

135

3.3 Package Insert

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TEVA_CHI_00049250 P-11326 _ 00018

The Actiq Package Insert (PI) [See RMP Attachment 2], clearly and explicitly communicates messages about child safety, proper patient selection and prevention of diversion and abuse (RMP Attachment 3). The PI highlights the serious risks associated with Actiq use and mandates that the healthcare professional must become involved in the process of educating patients and home caregivers. The key elements in the PI include:

- Indication: Actiq is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are already receiving and who are tolerant to opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain.
- Black box warnings:

PHYSICIANS AND OTHER HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS MUST BECOME FAMILIAR WITH THE IMPORTANT WARNINGS IN THIS LABEL. Actiq is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are <u>already receiving and who are tolerant to</u> <u>opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain</u>. Patients considered opioid tolerant are those who are taking at least 60 mg morphine/day, 50 µg transdermal fentanyl/hour, or an equianalgesic dose of another opioid for a week or longer.

Because life-threatening hypoventilation could occur at any dose in patients not taking chronic oplates, *Actiq* is contraindicated in the management of acute or postoperative pain. This product <u>must not</u> be used in oploid non-tolerant patients.

Actiq is intended to be used only in the care of cancer patients only by oncologists and pain specialists who are knowledgeable of and skilled in the use of Schedule II opioids to treat cancer pain.

Patients and their caregivers must be instructed that *Actiq* contains a medicine in an amount that can be fatal to a child. Patients and their caregivers must be instructed to keep all units out of the reach of children and to discard opened units properly.

- Titration instructions which minimize the number of units in the home
- Detailed safe home handling and storage
- Detailed instructions for disposal of used and unused units
- Cll designation

4.0 Professional Medical Education

19- 136

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

Anesta and Abbott will work in conjunction with FDA (through the office of Health Affairs) in interfacing with licensing boards and professional associations on the development of and dissemination of educational materials related to Actiq.

4.1 Key Message Points

The education of physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients on the safe use of *Actiq* is an integral part of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program. These educational messages are drawn directly from the *Actiq* Package Insert. The key safety messages have been described carlier in section 1.1 of this RMP:

- Child safety messages
- Proper patient selection messages
- Prevention of diversion and abuse messages

The educational programs for physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients will also reinforce the following:

- Process for titration to an effective dose
- Proper (total) consumption of the product
- Proper storage and disposal of the product
- · Efficacy and side effects of the product
- Basic Life Support training and potential for certain families to be trained in the treatment of accidental narcotic overdose including antagonist therapy.

These key educational messages, primarily focusing on safety, will be provided to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists through the communication vehicles, which are discussed on the following pages.

4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph

This monograph is written by nurses who participated in the *Actiq*-clinical trials. It contains specific information about breakthrough cancer pain and the *Actiq* key safety messages. It will be distributed via direct mail and the sales force. This publication has also received Oncology Nursing Society CEU certification for 3.5 hours of continuing education. This as well as all educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

4.3 The Actig Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs

Prior to product launch, Anesta and Abbott will formally train the following professionals on all aspects of *Actiq* consistent with the package insert, particularly the RMP elements (Attachment 2):

> Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

- Approximately 50 prominent physician educators in pain management
- Approximately 50 prominent nurse educators in pain management
- Approximately 25 prominent pharmacist educators in pain management

These groups will then be called upon to educate their respective peers and patients via presentations in local, state, regional and national settings.

* 4.4 Publications

Anesta and Abbott will publish articles, in peer-reviewed journals, messages that will reenforce elements of this RMP. The publications selected are those that combine a specific focus into the key cancer pain management audience, as well as other healthcare groups who make up the RMP target audience.

4.4.1 Broad-Based Publications

- Journal of the National Cancer Institute (circulation 10,000+)
- Journal of Pain and Symptom Management (10,000)
- Journal of Clinical Oncology (circulation 20,000)
- Anesthesia and Analgesia (circulation 5,000)
- Seminars in Oncology (circulation 10,000)
- Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 3,000)
- Oncology Times (circulation 20,000)
- Cancer for the Clinician (circulation 10,000)

4.4.2 Pharmaceutical Compendia

Pharmaccutical compendia will serve physicians, nurses and pharmacists in several ways. The compendia regularly send out updates to inform about new products. The circulation numbers for each of these publications, although proprietary, are believed to be greater than 50,000 per publication. Abbott and Anesta will have *Actig* listed in each of the following well-known compendia:

- Physician's Desk Reference (PDR)
- American Hospital Formulary Service (AHFS)
- Facts and Comparisons

In cases where material is excerpted from the Package Insert. Anesta will contact these publications to request increased emphasis on the RMP elements.

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

19- 138

15

4.4.3 Major Nursing Journals

- American Journal of Nursing (circulation 250,000+)
- American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 100.000+)
- Nurse Practitioner (circulation 100,000+)
- Home Health Care Nurse (circulation 25.000+)
- Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing (circulation 20,000+)
- Seminars in Oncology Nursing (circulation 6,000+)
- Oncology Nursing Forum (circulation 20,000+)
- RN Magazine (circulation 200,000+)

4.4.4 Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters

- The Oncology Nursing Society Newsletter
- Local ONS chapter newsletters
- Oncology Nursing Society computer mail announcements
- State board of nursing newsletters
- State Cancer Pain Initiative mailings

4.4.5 Major Pharmacy Journals

- U.S. Pharmacist (circulation 100,000+)
- Drug Topics /Hospital Pharmacist's Report (circulation 100,000+)
- Formulary (circulation 100,000+)
- Journal of the Association of Healthsystem Pharmacists (circulation 70,000+)
- Journal of the American Pharmaceutical Association (circulation 48,000 +)
- Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy (circulation 40,000+)

4.4.6 Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic)

Abbott and Anesta will incorporate the Actiq key safety messages and new product reviews into the newsletters of various national, regional, state and local pharmacy organizations including:

- The Pharmacist's Letter (circulation 100,000+)
- Chain drugstore newsletters and electronic updates
 - CVS 4,000 stores
 - Rite Aid 3,000 stores
 - Walgreens 2,200 stores

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

State board of pharmacy newsletters

4.5 Communication with DEA

Information on proper disposal of Actiq will be provided to the DEA for use by their field offices on an as requested basis. Background and training materials will be designed in concert with the Office of Diversion Control, Policy Liaison at DEA headquarters and will be distributed to all DEA field offices.

5.0 Actiq Launch Program

Actiq will target a relatively small group of clinicians. The emphasis of the promotion will be highly educational.

All educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.1 Target Audience

The target physician audience for Actiq is a group of approximately 5,000 oncologists and pain specialists, their nurses and office staff. These physicians are already using CII opioids to treat cancer pain, are generally knowledgeable about breakthrough cancer pain, and should understand the appropriate use of Actiq for opioid tolerant cancer patients. Since the majority of Actiq use is anticipated to be in the oncology outpatient setting, the pharmacist will play an important gate keeping role in the Actiq RMP by screening for proper patient selection (opioid tolerant cancer patients only) and by providing information on safe product use and handling to patients and caregivers. Please note the entire universe of practicing oncologists, oncology nurses and pharmacists will receive the key messages through some of the broad-based communication vehicles described in the Professional Education section of this document.

5.2 The Actiq Specialist (Abbott Sales Organization)

Abbott will place approximately 40 full time *Actig* Specialists in the field to personally call on the target audience. The *Actig* Specialists will be the primary, day to day link to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists who will be using the product. The *Actig* Specialists will play a key role in implementing the RMP.

Each Actig Specialist must be certified on Actig via a rigorous product education and sales training program. This program begins with four home-study modules, which explicitly spell out the three groups of key safety messages. The home study modules are followed by two weeks of in-house training at Abbott corporate headquarters and at least one week of training in the field with a field trainer or seasoned field manager. This program is designed to clearly communicate the key safety messages and Abbott expectations regarding sales activity in the field. Importantly, Actig Specialists will be tested prior to being certified to discuss Actig.

140

19-

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

Hig

17

In the approximately 3 months between product approval and product availability, the *Actiq* Specialists will personally call on 1,000 of the 2,000 pharmacies dispensing the largest volume of CII products. In these calls they will educate the pharmacist on all safety issues and enlist their assistance as gatekeepers. The second group of 1,000 high CII dispensing pharmacies will be called on by the *Actiq* Specialist in the first three months post product launch with the same messages.

Pharmacies not included in the initial target group will be offered opportunities to obtain additional information through several elements of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program, including: Dear Pharmacist letter, pharmacy direct mail services, pharmacy journal advertising, pharmacy newsletters, and pharmaceutical compendia. These programs will all provide access to the 1-800 number and website for additional information about *Actiq*. In addition, the group of pharmacies and health care practitioners serving rural areas will be the target of a post approval commitment to better understand and meet their unique needs through an educational outreach program.

Upon hiring, each Specialist will receive a letter outlining his responsibilities. This letter will stress the requirement to limit the promotion of Actig to the approved indication, discourage off-label use, direct the specialist to promote only to the target audiences, describe the serious consequences of violating this policy, and reinforce the three key messages of the RMP. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue. Moreover, the compensation program for *Actig* Specialists will direct them to promote into only the target audience.

In their personal calls to physicians, nurses, and pharmacists, the *Actiq* Specialist will demonstrate a variety of educational material which may include:

- Package insert and patient leaflet
- Actig safety video
- Actig CD ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists
- Actig Internet site
- Central 1-800 poison control number
- The Activ Welcome Kit

All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.3 Detail Aids

Detail aids for *Actiq* will emphasize the three key safety messages. To ensure consistent attention to the key safety messages, all "leave behind" detail aids will also prominently display the detail flag. This flag as well as all other promotional materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.4 Direct Mail

All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

18

5.4.1 Actiq Professional Information Kit

Upon product launch, the target physician group will receive an Actig Information Kit including.

- Actig Package Insert and Actig Patient Leaflet
- Actig Safety video designed for patients which covers
 - child safety
 - patient selection (opioid tolerance)
 - titration
 - storage
 - disposal
 - emergency care
- Information on accessing the 1-800 number, the Actiq internet site and Physician CD ROM program all of which are designed to provide additional information
- Information on how to obtain the Actig Welcome Kit

5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter

Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered physicians in the U.S. will be conducted. This letter will reinforce the three key messages (child safety, proper patient selection and prevention of diversion and abuse) and encourage the appropriate physicians to mail in an enclosed business reply card and/or to visit the *Actig* Internet site for more information. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue.

5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter

Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered pharmacists in the U.S. will be conducted. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue. This letter will reinforce proper patient selection and child safety messages and encourage the pharmacists to mail in the enclosed business reply card and/or visit the *Actiq* internet site for more detailed information.

5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services

Information to pharmacists using pharmacy direct mail services will prominently feature the three key safety messages. All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

5.5 Multimedia Programs

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

19

5.5.1 Actiq CD ROM Program

A CD-ROM will be developed and made available to all *Actiq* target audiences. It will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. A detailed schematic of the separate CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists is presented in RMP Attachment 7. This program will be available via mass direct mail, the *Actiq* Specialist and the *Actiq* Internet site.

5.5.2 Actiq Internet Site

An Acriq Internet site will be made available to all Acriq target audiences. This will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. Sections will be targeted at physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients and caregivers.

5.5.3 Emergency 911

This number will be prominently featured in all patient education and promotional materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed and the patient or child is not awake and alert or is breathing slowly.

5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number

A single 1-800-telephone number will be established at the Rocky Mountain Poison Control Center to receive all US emergency calls for *Actiq*. Having a central number allows for a focused, well-trained staff to be able to deliver a consistent message to patients and caregivers. It also provides for a near real-time surveillance of all poison control calls and an opportunity for timely analysis of any trends. This number will be prominently featured in all patient education and promotional materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed, and the patient is awake and alert.

6.0 Patient and Caregiver Education

- 6.1 The Actig Welcome Kit

Upon launch, the 5,000 target oncologists and pain specialists will receive a supply of the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. The *Actiq* Welcome Kit will include the following items:

- Child Safety Lock a magnetic lock to secure almost any existing household cabinet or drawer for the storage of *Actiq* and other medications (Figure 7).
- Secure Personal Container a lockable pouch with a waistband (a fanny pack) will be provided so the patient can safely and conveniently store a day or two supply of *Actiq*. This pouch can be secured directly to the patient or to patient's bed or chair (Figure 8).

143 19-

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

TEVA_CHI_00049258 P-11326 _ 00026

NO.785 P010/019

CONFIDENTIAL

20

- Child -Resistant Storage container an opaque container featuring easy-entry, but child-resistant removal. A warning decal will be attached to the outside of each container. This bottle will fit into the secure personal container (fanny pack) and will be used to secure completely and/or partially used Actiq units (should they exist) until the patient or caregiver can properly dispose of them (Figure 9). Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and wherever Actiq is dispensed.
- Patient Leaflet
- Home Warning Stickers and Magnet (detail in section 6.3)
- Children's Booklet (detail in section 6.4)
- Emergency treatment information
- A brightly colored flyer with a special alert to families with young children

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use. Every Actiq patient will receive a free Welcome Kit from his or her physician or via a 1-800 number The kit and ordering information for it are described in the Patient Leaflet. Target pharmacists will be given an Actiq Welcome Kit by an Actiq Specialist and briefed on how patients can obtain them.

Several components of the Welcome Kit--the Patient Leaflet and the Child Safety booklet --will be available in Spanish, and will be distributed in those geographical areas with high Hispanic populations. These will be available on request through the 1-800 number.

Insert Figure 7

Insert Figure 8

Insert Figure 9

6.2 Patient Oriented Actiq Safety Video

A detailed patient oriented safety video will be made available to practitioners and patients to communicate the following messages:

- Child safety messages
- Proper patient selection messages
- Product storage and handling in the home.
- Product intration
- Product disposal
- Emergency instructions

Actia Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

This video will be mailed to the offices of the target physicians and will also be available to physicians and patients through the *Actiq* Specialist or 1-800 number. This video will be available in either English or Spanish.

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet

An Actiq specific home warning sticker and refrigerator magnet will be distributed to all Actiq patients through the Actiq Welcome Kit. This sticker/magnet is to be placed around the home in high visibility areas and on the telephone. They will provide warnings for child safety and proper patient selection and contain emergency instructions for calling 911 and the central 1-800 poison control number.

6.4 Children's Booklet

A child-friendly booklet designed by the National SAFEKIDS Campaign in collaboration with the chairperson of the public education committee of the American Association of Poison Control Centers, Gail Banach, M.S.Ed. to be read and be understood by younger children will be distributed. This book has been developed at a 2nd to 3nd grade reading level. Older children may read it on their own. The primary goal of this booklet is to educate children on safe handling of all medicines including *Actig*. The booklet will use simplistic language, realistic graphics and will be interactive to maximize the child's learning. This booklet will be made available in English or Spanish in the *Actig* Welcome Kit and in the offices of all target physicians and pharmacists.

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

7.0 POINT OF DISPENSING INTERVENTIONS

The following activities will be implemented at all Actig points of dispensing. Product samples will not be made available.

7.1 Pharmacy Software Systems - Precaution Software

In order to prompt the pharmacist to inquire about the presence of children in the home and to verify opioid tolerance of the patient, Actiq warnings will be placed in the major commercial pharmacy precaution software systems being used in the U.S. and its territories. Participating software systems will cover approximately 90% of the data systems in the U.S. pharmacy market.

Examples of pharmacist warning screens and electronically produced patient information sheets are provided as RMP Attachment 7.

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

TEVA_CHI_00049260 P-11326 _ 00028

7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit

This kit (previously described) will be personally presented to all targeted retail pharmacies by an *Actiq* Specialist and will be made available to any pharmacist upon request. The pharmacist will be encouraged to explain to the patient how they can obtain a free *Actiq* Welcome Kit, if they do not already have one, either directly from their physician or via a 1-800 number. Directions to obtain the *Actiq* Welcome Kit are also provided in the Patient Leaflet.

In addition to being enclosed in each *Actiq* shelf carton, the Patient Leaflet will be distributed in quantity to all target pharmacists by the Abbott *Actiq* Specialists and be made available to any pharmacist upon request. The package and the computer program screen will prompt the pharmacist to go over the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet with every new *Actiq* patient. The Patient Leaflet will also be provided in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. Where possible (e.g. the *Actiq* Internet site and CD-ROM), the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet will be made available electronically.)

7.3 Temporary Storage Container

Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and wherever Actiq is dispensed.

8.0 Surveillance Goals and Activities

The goals of the Actig Surveillance and Monitoring Program are to:

- determine the effectiveness of the Actiq Risk Management Program by monitoring the potential incidence and outcome of child accidental ingestion, potential product use among opioid non-tolerant populations. off-label use, and possible diversion and abuse
- trigger intervention when problems are discovered
- make modifications to the Actig Risk Management Program to improve its effectiveness

The following pages summarize the various means by which *Actiq* use and safety data will be collated and analyzed. (In the event that any of these pharmacy organizations are unable to participate in this program, Anesta/Abbott will commit to substituting another potential supplier to broaden our sample in a timely manner.)

19-

146

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

8.1 Direct Patient Feedback

8.1.1 Rite-Aid / Eckerd call back system

A callback system will be used to directly query *Actiq* patients. Under this program, patients who receive an *Actiq* prescription at a participating pharmacy will receive a follow-up phone call by a company pharmacist. During this call, the following information will be collected:

- Did the patient receive an Actig Welcome Kit?
- Was the patient already on a strong opioid when they received the *Actiq* prescription?
- Was the patient or carcgiver provided with the appropriate safety messages?
- What titration process has been used to this point?
- Are there any children in the home or with access to the home?
- How is the patient or caregiver storing and disposing of the product?
- Provide a child safety reminder.

The partners included in this system include Rite-Aid, Eckerd. Walgreens, and the Merck Medeo system. This program will capture real time trends of inappropriate patient selection and child safety issues during the first year of sales, interviewing up to 1,000 patients per chain who fill *Actig* prescriptions in each of these pharmacies.

This program will provide timely and specific data on actual patients in a significant, geographically distributed population sample as Walgreen, Rite-Aid and Eckerd stores are well-distributed throughout the country, and the Merck Medco mail order system is one of the largest in the U.S.

After the first year of the call back programs, the firm and the FDA may agree to discontinue the call back programs if it can be established that there is no longer a need.

8.2 Prescription Monitoring

8.2.1 IMS Xponent

Prescription data will be routinely monitored. The source of this data will be IMS Xponent, the largest sample available of *Actiq* prescriptions, segmented by physician specialty to determine prescribing trends. The IMS Xponent data sample represents prescriptions from over one million prescribers and over 35,000 retail pharmacies. Additionally, IMS Xponent captures 60 million mail order prescriptions per year. This data provides the prescriber's name, the physician specialty and zip code. This data will be analyzed by comparing the proportion of prescriptions being written by specialties such as hematologists/oncologists (appropriate patient selection) to usage by specialties

> Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

such as surgcons (inappropriate patient selection). Abbott will receive IMS Xponent data 28 days after the end of each month. Therefore, data will be between 28-58 days current.

8.2.2 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index

National prescription data segmented by physician specialty and by indication from IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index (NDTI) will be analyzed. An example of an NDTI data sheet is attached as RMP Attachment 6. These data will be reported to the FDA on a quarterly basis as described in section 10.0.

* 8.2.3 Wholesaler Data

Per the FDA's previous agreement with Abbott Laboratories. *Actiq* will not be sold directly to retail pharmacy outlets, but will be sold only to DEA hospital and distribution registrants.

Through its chargeback system, Abbott will receive information on retail pharmacy sales from drug wholesalers. This information will be shared with the *Actiq* Specialist. The *Actiq* Specialist will follow-up with these pharmacies to ensure that they are employing the "Point of Dispensing" interventions described previously.

Additionally, every two months an Abbott Trade Sales Specialist (wholesaler representative) will call on the high volume *Actiq* wholesalers. This person will reinforce appropriate product usage and confirm the accuracy of the high volume *Actiq* pharmacy listing on which the *Actiq* Specialists are visiting. Information from the Abbott Trade Specialists' meetings with wholesalers will be shared with the *Actiq* Specialists for follow-up.

The sponsor will monitor for compliance to the RMP "Point of Dispensing" and report violations to the FDA quarterly along with any interventions made as a result.

8.3 Adverse Events

8.3.1 Abbott Standard Operating Procedure

Abbott has established specific procedures to respond to serious adverse events, which may be associated with *Actig*.

A toll free number will be staffed to receive adverse events reports. This system can be accessed 24 hours a day. Reports can be logged by clinicians, pharmacists, home caregivers, patients, sales representatives or others. All reports are logged into a computer database and investigated.

All serious events, as defined by current federal regulations, receive immediate investigation and follow-up by Abbott. The details of this procedure are summarized below.

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

TEVA_CHI_00049263 P-11326 _ 00031

ł

- a) The incident report is reviewed by the *Actiq* Incident Review Team and an action plan is developed. This group remains responsible for oversight of the process and for briefing senior management as the investigation proceeds.
- b) An investigation team is assigned and contact made with the reporting entity as
- soon as possible. On-site investigation is implemented if deemed necessary.
 - c) The investigation team report conclusions are reported to the Incident Review Team, which consults with senior management to determine if corrective action should be recommended and/or taken.

A schematic of the Incident Review Team and process is attached as RMP Attachment 7.

8.3.2 Special Safety Commitments

Reports of all serious adverse events to the FDA will be made in accordance with current Federal Regulations. Based on an agreement between FDA and the sponsor, the following type of adverse experiences will also be reported to the FDA within 15 days:

- Any unintended pediatric exposure, whether or not serious and whether or not unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert".
- Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of diversion (i.e., use by an individual other than for whom it was prescribed), whether or not the experiences is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert".
- Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of "off label use" (i.e., that is used outside of the approved indication for Actiq) whether or not the experiences is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert".

Definitions of "serious adverse drug experiences," "adverse drug experience," "unexpected adverse drug experiences," and "15-day Alert Report," are stated in 21 CFR §314.80. These Special Safety commitments are in addition to the requirement for reporting of adverse experiences set down in 21 CFR §314.80. The above apply to reports from any source (eg., call-in, literature, poison control centers, etc).

8.3.3 Literature Monitoring

In addition to specific event reporting, Abbott maintains a system to monitor the literature for adverse events. This review is conducted monthly or at the time a specific literature citation is reported. (Any significant findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR § 314.80).

8.4 Poisoning and Overdose

Quarterly reports to FDA will include poison information, trends, and interventions derived from the following sources:

Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

8.4.1 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number

A single 1-800-telephone number will be established to receive emergency calls when *Actig* has potentially been accidentally ingested and the patient or child is awake and alert. This system allows a near real time surveillance of all poison control calls. This number will be highly publicized in all patient education materials. (Any significant findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR § 314.80).

8.4.2 Toxic Exposures Surveillance System (TESS)

TESS reports all contacts with U.S. Poison Control Centers. This database will be monitored for *Actuq* exposures. This data is available once yearly and will be included in the analysis for FDA quarterly reports.

8.5 Abuse

Quarterly reports to FDA will include information, trends, and interventions derived from the following sources:

8.5.1 Routine Abbott Interaction with DEA

Abbott Laboratories Corporate Regulatory Affairs maintains a proactive program to identify possible product diversion. Abbott routinely visits DEA District offices with jurisdiction over Abbott distribution facilities to review information on the potential "street use" of Abbott products. In addition, an interactive relationship has been developed so that Abbott is alerted to specific instances. Any incident is investigated and resolved in conjunction with the DEA and state drug control authorities.

8.5.2 Abbott Exceptions System

Actig will be added to Abbott's exception reporting system to the DEA. Under this system, any orders that exceed the norm by two or more standard deviations are reported to the DEA for follow-up and investigation.

8.5.3 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)

The Drug Abuse Warning Network is an ongoing national survey of non-federal, shortstay general hospitals that have a 24-hour emergency department (ED). A representative sample of these hospitals EDs submit data, and national estimates of ED drug episodes or drug mentions are generated for all such hospitals. The DAWN system also collects data on drug-related deaths from a nonrandom sample of medical examiners located in 41 metropolitan áreas. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) division of the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) supports

> Actiq Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

<u>-</u>

27

DAWN This database will also be monitored to identify issues, which have not surfaced through standard DEA interactions.

8.5.4 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy

Reports of diversion or abuse received from state drug control authorities will be investigated and submitted to the FDA as part of the quarterly report.

8.6 Promotional Message Audit

Promotional message testing at six month intervals following product launch will be conducted to ensure that *Actiq* Specialists are accurately delivering the key safety messages. This will be accomplished via telephone interviews or paper questionnaires with physicians that are prescribing *Actiq* and have been called on by the *Actiq* specialist. Where necessary, sales representatives will be re-trained and/or disciplined to ensure compliance with the targeted focused launch/promotional plan.

9.0 Intervention

9.1 Off-Label Usage

9.1.1 Individual Prescribers

Whenever a problem of off-label usage becomes known and individual prescribers are identified, the following activities will take place:

- A letter from Abbott's Medical Department will be sent to all identified prescribers to emphasize the approved indication and appropriate patient selection The letter must have FDA revisions and approval before it is issued.
- 2) Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physicians in question. If a problem persists, an *Actiq* Specialist will visit the physician/s to gather information and remind them of appropriate prescribing of *Actiq*.

9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers

If groups of physicians (such as a particular specialty) are identified as having prescribed *Actiq* inappropriately, and these prescriptions represent potential off-label usage greater than 15% of total quarterly Actiq prescriptions, Abbott will contact the appropriate professional society (i.e. American College of Surgeons, American Society of Anesthesiologists). This letter will outline prescribing concerns and offer to implement an educational program in conjunction with the professional society in a national setting.

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physician groups in question and should the level continue to exceed 15% of total Actiq prescriptions for 2 additional quarters, an aggressive educational program will be initiated by mail clearly warning of the potential liabilities of prescribing *Actiq* to inappropriate patient populations.

9.2 Accidental Ingestion

In the event of a serious child poisoning report, Abbott will initiate the standard operating procedure for adverse events detailed in section 8.3.1 of this RMP and in RMP Attachment 7.

10.0 FDA REPORTING

Adverse drug experiences will be reported in accordance with 21 CFR §314.80, with the additional commitment that unintended pediatric exposures, and any serious adverse events and deaths associated with diversion or off-label use will be handled and processed as 15-day "Alert Reports" (See Section 8.3.2, Special Safety Commitments). In addition to the reporting requirements of 21 CFR §314.80(c), these "15-day Alert reports" will be sent to Surveillance and Monitoring (OPDRA) and the Division of Anesthetic, Critical Care, and Addiction Drug Products.

Anesta / Abbott will provide a quarterly report to the FDA compiled from all data collected by the methods described under the Actiq Surveillance and Monitoring Program and Interventions (see Section 8.0 and 9.0 of this document). This report will describe and provide data on any concerns for child safety, diversion, and off-label usage. Anesta/Abbott will also describe any trends and associated interventions made as a result of concerns raised and will also describe any proposed changes to the Actiq Risk Management Plan. This report will be provided as part of the Actiq quarterly report to the NDA during the first year of marketing. The sponsor and FDA will then determine requirements for further reports and their frequency after the first year of marketing. These reports will be cumulative and contain current reports and identified safety trends.

Actig Risk Management Program November 4, 1998

29

CONFIDENTIAL

ATTACMENTS

- RMP 1 Actiq Patient Leaflet
- RMP 2 Actig Package Insert
- RMP 3 Elements of RMP to be included in Speaker Bureau Training
- RMP 4 Actiq CD ROM schematic
- RMP 5 Pharmacy Computer Warning screens
- RMP 6 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index example page
- RMP 7 Incident Team schematic

19- 153
Actiq®

(oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate)

Risk Management Program

(February 9, 1999)

NDA Number: 20-747

Sponsor:

Anesta Corp. 4745 Wiley Post Way Plaza 6, Suite 650 Salt Lake City, UT 84116 801.595.1405

Marketing Partner:

Abbott Laboratories Hospital Products Division Abbott Park, IL 60064

19-

002

February 9, 1999

TEVA_CHI_00049269 P-11326 _ 00037

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- - -

	5
1.1 Key Messages for the RMP	5
.0 PRODUCT DEFINITION	6
2.1 Actiq Unit	6
2.2 Actiq Child-Resistant Pouch	7
2.3 Actiq Shelf Carton	7
2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units	
2.4.2 Pricing	
2.4.3 Prescribing Directions	9
0 LABELING	9
21 CH (Schodula H Classification)	0
3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification)	
2.0 D.4'. 4 T. 20.4	•
3.2 Patient Leaflet	9
	* ^
3.3 Package Insert	10
0 PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL EDUCATION	
4.1 Key Message Politis	
4.1 Key Message Points4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph	
	12
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 	1 2
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications 	1 2 1 2 1 2
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 12 12 13
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 12 13 13
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	1 2 1 2 1 2 12 13 13 13
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	1 2 1 2 1 2 12 13 13 13
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 13 13 13 13 13
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 13 13 13 13
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 13 13 13 13 14
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 13 13 13 13 14
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 13 13 13 13 14
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 13 13 13 13 14
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 4 1 4
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	12 12 12 13 13 13 14 14 15
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs	1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 4 1 4 1 5 RMP)

.

TEVA_CHI_00049270 P-11326 _ 00038

2

5.3 Detai	l Aids
5 4 DI	
	t Mail
	tiq Professional Information Kit
	e Dear Doctor Letter
	e Dear Pharmacist Letter
5.4.4 Ph	armacy Direct Mail Services
5.5 Multi	media Programs
5.5.1 Ac	tiq CD-ROM Program
	tiq Internet Site
5.5.3 Er	nergency 911
5.5.4 Ce	entral 1-800 Poison Control Number
0 PATI	ENT AND CAREGIVER EDUCATION
6.1 The A	ctiq Welcome Kit
61 Datio	nt Oriented Actiq Safety Video
6.3 Home	Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet
6.4 Child	Iren's Booklet
0 POIN	T OF DISPENSING INTERVENTIONS
7.1 Phar	nacy Software Systems - Precaution Software
	nacy Software Systems - Precaution Software
7.2 The A	
7.2 The A 7.3 Temp	<i>ctiq</i> Welcome Kit
7.2 The A 7.3 Temp .0 SURV	<i>ctiq</i> Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
7.2 The A 7.3 Temp .0 SUR 8.1 Direc	orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SUR 8.1 Direc 8.1.1 Ch 	actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container /EILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES t Patient Feedback
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SUR 8.1 Direc 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Preso 	actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp .0 SURV 8.1 Direct 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Press 8.2.1 IN 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SURV 8.1 Direct 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Press 8.2.1 IN 8.2.2 IV 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SURV 8.1 Direct 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Press 8.2.1 IN 8.2.2 IV 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SURV 8.1 Directorial 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Presson 8.2.1 IN 8.2.2 IN 8.2.3 W 8.3 Adve 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SURV 8.1 Director 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Presson 8.2.1 IN 8.2.2 INV 8.2.3 W 8.3 Advetor 8.3.1 Ab 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SUR 8.1 Direct 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Press 8.2.1 IN 8.2.2 IN 8.2.3 W 8.3 Advet 8.3.1 At 8.3.2 Sp 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SUR 8.1 Direct 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Press 8.2.1 IN 8.2.2 IN 8.2.3 W 8.3 Advet 8.3.1 At 8.3.2 Sp 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SURV 8.1 Direct 8.1.1 Ch 8.2 Press 8.2.1 IN 8.2.2 IN 8.2.3 W 8.3 Advet 8.3.1 At 8.3.2 Sp 8.3.3 Li 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container
 7.2 The A 7.3 Temp 0 SURV 8.1 Direct 8.1.1 Cr 8.2 Press 8.2.1 IN 8.2.2 IN 8.2.3 W 8.3 Advet 8.3.1 Att 8.3.2 Sp 8.3.3 Li 8.4 Poiso 	Actiq Welcome Kit orary Storage Container

---- ----

19- 004

·

.

8.5 Abuse	
8.5.1 Routine Abbott Interaction with DEA	
8.5.2 Abbott Exceptions System	
8.5.3 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)	
8.5.4 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy	
8.6 Promotional Message Audit	25
9.0 INTERVENTION	25
9.1 Off-Label Usage	
9.1.1 Individual Prescribers	
9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers	
9.2 Accidental Ingestion	
10.0 FDA REPORTING	26

TEVA_CHI_00049272 P-11326 _ 00040

4

1.0 Introduction

The Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) has been designed to address three key potential risk situations:

- 1. accidental ingestion of Actiq by children
- 2. improper patient selection (prescriptions to and usage by opioid non-tolerant patients)
- 3. diversion or abuse

Anesta Corp. and Abbott Laboratories have designed and developed a comprehensive program with the primary goal of making every reasonable effort to reduce the risk of potential untoward events in the unintended populations to the extent possible. This program includes the following:

- strong labeling for professionals, patients and caregivers
- product specific design features to increase child safety
- redundant child-resistant packaging and storage containers
- comprehensive professional, patient caregivers, and child educational programs
- interventions at the point of dispensing
- CII status for Actiq

This document provides details and implementation tactics for all elements of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program. No single element can provide the complete answer to reducing risk. A lengthy series of events must occur in sequence before a risk event can occur, yet any one of multiple RMP elements can intervene to interrupt the sequence and prevent the risk event. Redundancy of program elements is one measure used to strengthen the effectiveness of the RMP.

The purpose of the RMP is to ensure the safe use of this product. It is not intended that any portions of this RMP should be used in a promotional context or used to promote *Actiq* in a manner inconsistent with the product label.

The RMP and all of its components should be fully operational at the time of launch.

1.1 Key Messages for the RMP

There are several key messages repeated throughout the RMP, which are listed below. For the balance of the document, these messages will be referenced simply as Child Safety, Proper Patient Selection and Prevention of Diversion and Abuse messages.

- Child Safety Messages
 - Actiq must be kept out of the reach of children
 - Actiq could be harmful or fatal to a child if accidentally ingested

- Actiq must be properly stored and handled
- Actiq must be properly disposed of after use
- Healthcare professionals must counsel patients on child safety messages
- Accessible and easily understood directions on what to do in case of accidental ingestion
- Proper Patient Selection Messages
 - Definition of an opioid tolerant patient
 - Actiq is specifically contraindicated for use in opioid non-tolerant patients
 - Actiq is specifically contraindicated for use in acute/postoperative pain
 - Directions on what to do in case of suspected overdose
 - *Actiq* is specifically indicated solely for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain in chronic opioid tolerant cancer patients
- Prevention of Diversion and Abuse Messages
 - Actiq is a CII medication
 - Actig is to be used only by the patient for whom it is dispensed
 - Actiq may be habit forming
 - Actiq requires appropriate disposal of unused medication

2.0 Product Definition

The Actiq unit, containing dosages of fentanyl ranging from 200 to 1600 mcg per unit, consists of a raspberry-flavored lozenge on a handle (see Attachment 1). Actiq provides median peak fentanyl blood levels in 20-40 minutes (range of 20-480 minutes) when the unit is consumed over a 15-minute period and fentanyl is absorbed by a combination of transmucosal and gastrointestinal absorption.

Concern has been raised that *Actiq* may be perceived as a lollipop. Because of the design of the *Actiq* unit and its drug delivery characteristics, steps will be taken in an effort to minimize the risk of accidental poisoning, inappropriate use and diversion.

2.1 Actiq Unit

The Actiq unit consists of an opaque, white to off-white drug matrix that has been opacified and colored to make it look less appealing to children. Its handle has been designed with a "paddle" with a molded "Rx" in the center to identify it as a product for medical use. Additionally, on the back side of the paddle the word "fentanyl" is clearly visible.

The Actiq unit complies with current drug imprinting requirements (see 21 CFR §206.10, Imprinting of Solid Oral Dosage Form Products for Human Use). The handle carries legible, laser-engraved product identification information (ie, microgram content of active drug, product code, Abbott logo, and "fentanyl") in 9 point, charcoal-gray type on a pure

white background. The laser-engraved imprint on the handle is intended to provide immediate documentation of drug and dose in the event of an accidental poisoning.

2.2 Actiq Child-Resistant Pouch

Each Actiq unit is individually sealed in its own child-resistant pouch. The Actiq pouch is made of a heavy, multi-layer laminated foil material and requires scissors to open. It meets the specifications provided in the Poison Prevention Packaging Act. The child-resistant testing was conducted in compliance with the Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970, 16 CFR §1700, cited in the Federal Register (Volume 38, No. 151, August 7, 1973). This package passed the child resistance test protocol with a 99% effectiveness rating, exceeding the 80% requirement.

Individual child-resistant packaging (one dosage unit in each pouch) is intended to minimize exposure by limiting access to just one unit at a time.

The pouch is opaque. A child cannot see the unit when it is in its pouch. The pouch does not resemble food or most candy wrappers.

The dosage strength of each unit is marked on each handle, and on the foil pouch and shelf carton. The colors are a secondary aid in product identification.

200 mcg
400 mcg
600 mcg
800 mcg
1200 mcg
1600 mcg

The front of each pouch utilizes an icon to draw attention to warnings about child safety and opioid tolerance, standard product identification information is also included on the front of the pouch (see Attachment 2). The back of each pouch contains the same icon, plain-language warnings about child safety and proper product storage, and a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet.

The front of each pouch contains the CII symbol, a "May be habit forming" warning, and an "Rx only" warning.

2.3 Actiq Shelf Carton

The *Actiq* shelf carton includes labeling messages targeting all three at-risk populations (Attachment 3). The shelf carton contains strong warnings prominently and redundantly displayed on the front and back pharmacy label space on the back of the shelf carton.

- The front of the shelf carton has a conspicuous icon calling attention to warnings about child safety, and a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. There is also a warning about appropriate patient selection.
- The right hand side of the back of the shelf carton contains a designated location for the application of the pharmacy-dispensing label. A checklist for the pharmacist is included in this space. The checklist reminds the pharmacist to make sure the

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

TEVA_CHI_00049275 P-11326_00043 patient is already taking opioids chronically, to counsel the patient about child safety, to encourage the patient to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet, to discuss the *Actiq* Welcome Kit, and to counsel the patient about disposal of partially consumed units.

- On the left hand side of the back of the shelf carton an icon calls attention to prominent warnings about child safety, the need for appropriate patient selection (opioid tolerance), the importance of appropriate disposal of partially consumed units, a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet, and prominent instructions on what to do in case of an accidental exposure.
- On the top of the shelf carton is another reminder for the patient or caregiver to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet .

At the initiation of *Actiq* therapy, it is recommended that physicians prescribe an initial supply of six 200 mcg units. At each new dose of *Actiq* during titration, it is recommended that only six units of the next higher dose be prescribed to limit the potential for left over units in the home.

The most prominent front panel warnings will be provided in Spanish in sticker form to pharmacies upon request. As additional languages are identified, appropriate stickers will be developed and distributed in a similar fashion.

Each shelf carton contains eight strips of three pouches, for a total of 24 pouches of a single strength of *Actiq*. The shelf carton represents approximately a ten day to two-week supply of *Actiq* after the appropriate dose has been established via titration. Except for the top panel, all printed panels of the shelf carton contain the CII symbol.

2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units

It is important to limit the availability of unused and partially consumed units in the home. Warnings are placed on the shelf cartons to remind patients to properly dispose of partially consumed units. The following steps will be taken to reduce the availability of unused and partially consumed units by (1) the provision of multiple dosage strengths, (2) proportional pricing, and (3) directions for prescribing.

2.4.1 Multiple Dosage Strengths

Actiq will be made available in six dosage strengths (200, 400, 600, 800, 1200, 1600 mcg units) so that patients can be titrated to the unit strength which provides adequate relief with acceptable side effects. The directions to both healthcare professionals and patients clearly state that Actiq dosage units are to be completely consumed.

2.4.2 Pricing

Pricing of *Actiq* will provide proportionality on a per mcg basis. This pricing plan is an attempt to minimize the economic incentive to partially consume an *Actiq* unit and save the remainder for a future breakthrough cancer pain episode, reducing the potential risk to children.

2.4.3 Prescribing Directions

As per the Actiq titration instructions, the initial recommended prescription size is six units of the 200 mcg dose. If a patient requires a higher dose, the titration instructions recommend a second prescription of six units of the 400 mcg dose. This process of prescribing six units of the next highest available dosage form is recommended until the appropriate dose is found.

The package insert contains specific instructions recommending that physicians prescribe a small quantity (6 units) for titration and/or dosage adjustment in an effort to minimize the number of units in the home.

3.0 Labeling

3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification)

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration places very specific controls on the storage, distribution, accountability, prescribing and usage of scheduled products (see 21 CFR §1301). *Actiq* will be a CII product, consistent with other strong opioids such as fentanyl, morphine, oxycodone, and hydromorphone-based products. CII is the most restrictive classification available, and raises the overall level of vigilance and surveillance by all parties involved with the product. These restrictions include:

- strongest tracking and controls throughout the distribution system (DEA Form 222 required for all transactions)
- strict accountability of finished units
- most stringent physical storage requirements
- no refills allowed, triplicate prescriptions may be required in some states
- registered pharmacist is required to check for a legitimate medical purpose before dispensing

The status of *Actiq* as a CII product is the primary risk management element against the third potential risk event -- the potential for diversion and/or abuse. It is important to note, however, that simply the fact that a product is CII raises the level of attention devoted to the prescribing and dispensing of the product by all parties involved in the process and that this is expected to also reduce the risk of accidental ingestion and prescribing for opioid non-tolerant patients because of this heightened awareness.

3.2 Patient Leaflet

A Patient Leaflet has been written for *Actiq*, and four copies will be packaged in every shelf carton (see Attachment 4). Extra copies will be broadly distributed for use by physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers, and patients. The leaflet will be included in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit and in other direct to patient communication and educational programs. It will be available in Spanish as well.

- The first page of the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet contains a strong boxed warning and redundant child warning with graphics for emphasis.
 - 19- 010

- The Actiq Patient Leaflet explicitly addresses, in plain language, preventing access by children. These messages include:
 - Child Safety messages
 - safe storage instructions for whole and partially consumed units
 - Disposal directions for used and unused units and a 1-800 number for additional disposal assistance. Patients calling the 1-800 number will receive a more personalized "walk through" of disposal instructions. If additional assistance is required, callers will be referred to their local DEA office for information.
- It contains emergency information on what should be done in case of accidental ingestion by a child or any opioid non-tolerant person.
 - a prompt to call 911 if the patient or child is not awake and alert
 - a prompt to call Poison Control at 1-800-690-3924 if the patient or child is awake
 - instructions for care of the patient or child who is having trouble breathing or not breathing at all
- It contains proper patient selection messages
- Strong language has been used throughout the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. In all warning statements, the word "must" is used instead of the word "should." The warning language "can be harmful or fatal to a child" and "can cause injury or death in people who are not already taking prescription opioid (narcotic) pain medicines..." is used.

3.3 Package Insert

The Actiq Package Insert (PI) clearly and explicitly communicates messages about child safety, proper patient selection, and prevention of diversion and abuse (see Attachment 5). These messages (see Attachment 6) are important elements of the RMP. The PI highlights the serious risks associated with Actiq use and mandates that the healthcare professional must become involved in the process of educating patients and home caregivers. The key elements in the PI include:

- Indication: Actiq is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are <u>already receiving and who are tolerant to</u> <u>opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain</u>.
- Black box warnings, which are:

PHYSICIANS AND OTHER HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS MUST BECOME FAMILIAR WITH THE IMPORTANT WARNINGS IN THIS LABEL.

Actiq is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are <u>already receiving and</u> who are tolerant to opioid therapy for their <u>underlying persistent</u> <u>cancer pain</u>. Patients considered opioid tolerant are those who are taking at least 60 mg morphine/day, 50 mcg transdermal fentanyl/hour, or an equianalgesic dose of another opioid for a week or longer.

Because life-threatening hypoventilation could occur at any dose in patients not taking chronic opiates, *Actiq* is contraindicated in the management of acute or postoperative pain. This product <u>must not</u> be used in opioid non-tolerant patients.

Actiq is intended to be used only in the care of cancer patients and only by oncologists and pain specialists who are knowledgeable of and skilled in the use of Schedule II opioids to treat cancer pain.

- Patients and their caregivers must be instructed that Actiq contains a medicine in an amount which can be fatal to a child. Patients and their caregivers must be instructed to keep all units out of the reach of children and to discard opened units properly.
- Titration instructions which minimize the number of units in the home
- Detailed safe home handling and storage
- Detailed instructions for disposal of used and unused units
- CII designation

4.0 Professional Medical Education

Anesta and Abbott will work in conjunction with FDA (through the Office of Health Affairs) in interfacing with licensing boards and professional associations on the development of and dissemination of educational materials related to *Actiq*.

4.1 Key Message Points

The education of physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients on the safe use of *Actiq* is an integral part of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program. These educational messages are drawn directly from the *Actiq* Package Insert. The key safety messages, which have been described earlier in section 1.1 of this RMP, include:

- Child safety messages
- Proper patient selection messages
- Prevention of diversion and abuse messages

The educational programs for physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients will also reinforce the following:

- Process for titration to an effective dose
- Proper (total) consumption of the product
- Proper storage and disposal of the product

19- 012

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

TEVA_CHI_00049279 P-11326 _ 00047

- Efficacy and side effects of the product
- Basic Life Support training and potential for certain families to be trained in the treatment of accidental narcotic overdose including antagonist therapy.

These key educational messages, primarily focusing on safety, will be provided to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists through the communication vehicles, which are discussed on the following pages.

4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph

This monograph is written by nurses who participated in the *Actiq* clinical trials. It contains specific information about breakthrough cancer pain and the *Actiq* key safety messages. It will be distributed via direct mail and the sales force. This publication has also received Oncology Nursing Society CEU certification for 3.5 hours of continuing education. This as well as all educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs

Prior to product launch, Anesta and Abbott will formally train the following professionals on all aspects of *Actiq* consistent with the package insert, particularly the RMP elements (Attachment 6):

- At least 50 prominent physician educators in pain management
- At least 50 prominent nurse educators in pain management
- At least 25 prominent pharmacist educators in pain management

These groups will then be called upon to educate their respective peers and patients via presentations in local, state, regional, and national settings.

4.4 Publications

Manuscripts will be submitted to peer-reviewed journals for consideration. They will include messages that reinforce elements of this RMP. The manuscripts selected for publication are those that combine a specific focus into the key cancer pain management audience, as well as other healthcare groups who make up the RMP target audience.

4.4.1 Broad-Based Publications

- Journal of the National Cancer Institute (circulation 10,000+)
- Journal of Pain and Symptom Management (circulation 10,000)
- Journal of Clinical Oncology (circulation 20,000)
- Anesthesia and Analgesia (circulation 5,000)
- Seminars in Oncology (circulation 10,000)

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

- Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 3,000)
- Oncology Times (circulation 20,000)
- Cancer for the Clinician (circulation 10,000)

4.4.2 Pharmaceutical Compendia

Pharmaceutical compendia will serve physicians, nurses, and pharmacists in several ways. The compendia regularly send out updates to inform about new products. The circulation numbers for each of these publications, although proprietary, are believed to be greater than 50,000 per publication. Abbott and Anesta will have *Actiq* listed in each of the following well-known compendia:

- Physician's Desk Reference (PDR)
- American Hospital Formulary Service (AHFS)
- Facts and Comparisons

In cases where material is excerpted from the Package Insert, Anesta will contact these publications to request increased emphasis on the RMP elements.

4.4.3 Major Nursing Journals

- American Journal of Nursing (circulation 250,000+)
- American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 100,000+)
- Nurse Practitioner (circulation 100,000+)
- Home Health Care Nurse (circulation 25,000+)
- Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing (circulation 20,000+)
- Seminars in Oncology Nursing (circulation 6,000+)
- Oncology Nursing Forum (circulation 20,000+)
- RN Magazine (circulation 200,000+)

4.4.4 Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters

- The Oncology Nursing Society Newsletter
- Local ONS chapter newsletters
- Oncology Nursing Society computer mail announcements
- State board of nursing newsletters
- State Cancer Pain Initiative mailings

4.4.5 Major Pharmacy Journals

- U.S. Pharmacist (circulation 100,000+)
- Drug Topics /Hospital Pharmacist's Report (circulation 100,000+)

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

- Formulary (circulation 100,000+)
- Journal of the Association of Healthsystem Pharmacists (circulation 70,000+)
- Journal of the American Pharmaceutical Association (circulation 48,000+)
- Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy (circulation 40,000+)

4.4.6 Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic)

Abbott and Anesta will request that the *Actiq* key safety messages and new product reviews be incorporated into the newsletters of various national, regional, state and local pharmacy organizations including:

- The Pharmacist's Letter (circulation 100,000+)
- Chain drugstore newsletters and electronic updates
 - CVS 4,000 stores
 - RiteAid 3,000 stores
 - Walgreens 2,200 stores
- State board of pharmacy newsletters

4.5 Communication with DEA

Information on proper disposal of *Actiq* will be provided to the DEA for use by their field offices on an as requested basis. Background and training materials will be designed in concert with the Office of Diversion Control, Policy Liaison at DEA headquarters and will be distributed to all DEA field offices.

5.0 Actiq Launch Program

Actiq will target a relatively small group of clinicians. The emphasis of the promotion will be highly educational.

All educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.1 Target Audience

The target physician audience for *Actiq* is a group of approximately 5,000 oncologists and pain specialists, their nurses and office staff. These physicians are already using CII opioids to treat cancer pain, are generally knowledgeable about breakthrough cancer pain, and should understand the appropriate use of *Actiq* for opioid tolerant cancer patients.

Since the majority of *Actiq* use is anticipated to be in the oncology outpatient setting, the pharmacist will play an important gate keeping role in the *Actiq* RMP by screening for proper patient selection (opioid tolerant cancer patients only) and by providing information on safe product use and handling to patients and caregivers.

Please note the entire universe of practicing oncologists, oncology nurses and pharmacists will receive the key messages through some of the broad-based communication vehicles described in the Professional Education section of this document.

5.2 The Oncology Specialist (Abbott Sales Organization)

Approximately 40 full time Oncology Specialists will be placed in the field to personally call on the target audience. The Oncology Specialists will be the primary day to day link to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists who will be using the product. The Oncology Specialists will play a key role in implementing the RMP.

Each Oncology Specialist must be certified on *Actiq* via a rigorous product education and sales training program. This program begins with four home-study modules, which explicitly spell out the three groups of key safety messages. The home study modules are followed by two weeks of in-house training at Abbott corporate headquarters and at least one week of training in the field with a field trainer or seasoned field manager. This program is designed to clearly communicate the key safety messages and Abbott expectations regarding sales activity in the field. Importantly, Oncology Specialists will be tested prior to being certified to discuss *Actiq*.

In the approximately 3 months between product approval and product availability, the Oncology Specialists will personally call on 1,000 of the 2,000 pharmacies dispensing the largest volume of CII products. In these calls they will educate the pharmacist on all safety issues and enlist their assistance as gatekeepers. The second group of 1,000 high CII dispensing pharmacies will be called on by the Oncology Specialist in the first three months post product launch with the same messages.

Pharmacies not included in the initial target group will be offered opportunities to obtain additional information through several elements of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program, including: Dear Pharmacist letter, pharmacy direct mail services, pharmacy journal advertising, pharmacy newsletters, and pharmaceutical compendia. These programs will provide access to the 1-800 number and website for additional information about *Actiq*. In addition, the group of pharmacies and health care practitioners serving rural areas will be the target of a post approval commitment to better understand and meet their unique needs through an educational outreach program.

Upon hiring, each Specialist will receive a letter outlining his responsibilities. This letter will stress the requirement to limit the promotion of *Actiq* to the approved indication, discourage off-label use, direct the specialist to promote only to the target audiences, describe the serious consequences of violating this policy, and reinforce the three key messages of the RMP. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue. Moreover, the compensation program for Oncology Specialists will direct them to promote into only the target audience.

In their personal calls to physicians, nurses, and pharmacists, the Oncology Specialist will discuss a variety of educational material which may include:

- Package insert and patient leaflet
- Actiq safety video
- Actiq CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists
- Actiq Internet site
- Central 1-800 poison control number
- The Actiq Welcome Kit

All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.3 Detail Aids

Detail aids for *Actiq* will emphasize the three key safety messages. To ensure consistent attention to the key safety messages, all "leave behind" detail aids will also prominently display the detail flag. This flag as well as all other promotional materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.4 Direct Mail

All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.4.1 Actiq Professional Information Kit

Upon product launch, the target physician group will receive an Actiq Information Kit including:

- Actiq Package Insert and Actiq Patient Leaflet
- Actiq Safety video designed for patients which covers
 - child safety
 - patient selection (opioid tolerance)
 - titration
 - storage
 - disposal
 - emergency care
- Information on accessing the 1-800 number, the *Actiq* internet site and Physician CD-ROM program all of which are designed to provide additional information
- Information on how to obtain the Actiq Welcome Kit

5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter

Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered physicians in the U.S. will be conducted. This letter will reinforce the three key messages (child safety, proper patient selection and prevention of diversion and abuse) and encourage the appropriate physicians to mail in an enclosed business reply card and/or to visit the *Actiq* internet site for more information. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue.

5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter

Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered pharmacists in the U.S. will be conducted. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue. This letter will reinforce proper patient selection and child safety messages and encourage the pharmacists to mail in the enclosed business reply card and/or visit the *Actiq* internet site for more detailed information.

5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services

Information to pharmacists using pharmacy direct mail services will prominently feature the three key safety messages. All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

5.5 Multimedia Programs

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

5.5.1 Actiq CD-ROM Program

A CD-ROM will be developed and made available to all *Actiq* target audiences. It will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. A detailed schematic of the separate CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists is presented in Attachment 7. This program will be available via mass direct mail, the Oncololgy Specialist and the *Actiq* internet site.

5.5.2 Actiq Internet Site

An Actiq internet site will be made available to all Actiq target audiences. This will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. Sections will be targeted at physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients and caregivers.

5.5.3 Emergency 911

This number will be prominently featured in all patient educational materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed and the person (eg, a child) is not awake and alert or is breathing slowly.

5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number

A single 1-800 telephone number will be established at the Rocky Mountain Poison Control Center to receive all US emergency calls for *Actiq*. Having a central number allows for a focused, well-trained staff to be able to deliver a consistent message to patients and caregivers. It also provides for a near real-time surveillance of all poison control calls and an opportunity for timely analysis of any trends. This number will be prominently featured in patient educational materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed, and the person (eg, a child) is awake and alert.

6.0 Patient and Caregiver Education

6.1 The Actiq Welcome Kit

Upon launch, the 5,000 target oncologists and pain specialists will receive a supply of the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. The *Actiq* Welcome Kit will include the following items:

- Child Safety Lock a lock to secure almost any existing household cabinet or drawer for the storage of *Actiq* and other medications (Attachment 8).
- Secure Personal Container a lockable pouch with a waistband (a fanny pack) will be provided so the patient can safely and conveniently store a day or two supply of *Actiq*. This pouch can be secured directly to the patient or to patient's bed or chair (Attachment 9).
- Child-Resistant Temporary Storage Container an opaque container featuring easyentry, but child-resistant removal. A warning decal will be attached to the outside of each container. This bottle will fit into the secure personal container (fanny pack) and will be used to secure completely and/or partially used *Actiq* units (should they exist) until the patient or caregiver can properly dispose of them (Attachment 10). Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and wherever *Actiq* is dispensed.
- Patient Leaflet
- Home Warning Stickers and Magnet (detail in section 6.3)
- Children's Booklet (detail in section 6.4)
- Emergency treatment information
- A brightly colored flyer with a special alert to families with young children

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

Every Actiq patient will receive a free Welcome Kit from his or her physician or via a 1-800 number. The kit and ordering information for it are described in the Patient Leaflet. Target pharmacists will be given an Actiq Welcome Kit by an Oncology Specialist and briefed on how patients can obtain them.

Several components of the Welcome Kit--the Patient Leaflet and the Child Safety booklet -will be available in Spanish, and will be distributed in those geographical areas with high Hispanic populations. These will be available on request through the 1-800 number.

A detailed patient oriented safety video will be made available to practitioners and patients to communicate the following messages:

- Child safety messages
- Proper patient selection messages
- Product storage and handling in the home
- Product titration
- Product disposal
- Emergency instructions

This video will be mailed to the offices of the target physicians and will also be available to physicians and patients through the Oncology Specialist or 1-800 number. This video will be available in either English or Spanish.

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet

An Actiq specific home warning sticker and refrigerator magnet will be distributed to all Actiq patients through the Actiq Welcome Kit. This sticker/magnet is to be placed around the home in high visibility areas and on the telephone. They will provide warnings for child safety and proper patient selection and contain emergency instructions for calling 911 and the central 1-800 poison control number.

6.4 Children's Booklet

A child-friendly booklet designed by the National SAFEKIDS Campaign in collaboration with the chairperson of the public education committee of the American Association of Poison Control Centers, Gail Banach, M.S.Ed., to be read and to be understood by younger children will be distributed. This book has been developed at a 2nd to 4th grade reading level. Older children may read it on their own. The primary goal of this booklet is to educate children on safe handling of all medicines including *Actiq*. The booklet will use simplistic language, realistic graphics and will be interactive to maximize the child's learning. This booklet will be made available in English or Spanish in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit and in the offices of all target physicians and pharmacists.

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

7.0 Point Of Dispensing Interventions

The following activities will be implemented at the *Actiq* points of dispensing. Product samples will <u>not</u> be made available.

7.1 Pharmacy Software Systems - Precaution Software

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

In order to prompt the pharmacist to inquire about the presence of children in the home and to verify opioid tolerance of the patient, vendors of major commercial pharmacy precaution software will be asked to place *Actiq* warnings in their systems being used in the U.S. and its territories. Participating software systems will cover approximately 90% of the data systems in the U.S. pharmacy market.

Examples of pharmacy warning screens and electronically produced patient information sheets are provided as Attachment 11.

7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit

This kit (previously described) will be personally presented to all targeted retail pharmacies by an Oncology Specialist and will be made available to any pharmacist upon request. The pharmacist will be encouraged to explain to the patient how they can obtain a free *Actiq* Welcome Kit, if they do not already have one, either directly from their physician or via a 1-800 number. Directions to obtain the *Actiq* Welcome Kit are also provided in the Patient Leaflet.

In addition to being enclosed in each *Actiq* shelf carton, the Patient Leaflet will be distributed in quantity to all target pharmacists by the Abbott Oncology Specialists and be made available to any pharmacist upon request. The package (eg, back panel of shelf carton) and the computer program screen will prompt the pharmacist to go over the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet with every new *Actiq* patient. The Patient Leaflet will also be provided in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. Where possible (eg, the *Actiq* Internet site and CD-ROM), the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet will be made available electronically.

7.3 Temporary Storage Container

Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and wherever *Actiq* is dispensed.

8.0 Surveillance Goals And Activities

The goals of the Actiq Surveillance and Monitoring Program are to:

- determine the effectiveness of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program by monitoring the potential incidence and outcome of child accidental ingestion, potential product use among opioid non-tolerant populations, off-label use, and possible diversion and abuse
- trigger intervention when problems are discovered
- make modifications to the *Actiq* Risk Management Program to improve its effectiveness

The following pages summarize the various means by which *Actiq* use and safety data will be collated and analyzed. (In the event that any of these pharmacy organizations are unable to participate in this program, Abbott/Anesta will commit to substituting another potential supplier to broaden our sample in a timely manner.)



8.1 Direct Patient Feedback

8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Call Back System

A call back system will be used to directly query *Actiq* patients. Under this program, patients who receive an *Actiq* prescription at a participating pharmacy will receive a follow-up phone call by a company pharmacist. During this call, the following information will be collected:

- Did the patient receive an Actiq Welcome Kit?
- Was the patient already on a strong opioid when they received the *Actiq* prescription?
- Was the patient or caregiver provided with the appropriate safety messages?
- What titration process has been used to this point?
- Are there any children in the home or with access to the home?
- How is the patient or caregiver storing and disposing of the product?
- Provide a child safety reminder.

The partners included in this system include RiteAid, Eckerd, Walgreens, and the Merck Medco system. This program will capture real time trends of inappropriate patient selection and child safety issues during the first year of sales, interviewing up to 1,000 patients per chain who fill *Actiq* prescriptions in each of these pharmacies.

This program will provide timely and specific data on actual patients in a significant, geographically distributed population sample as Walgreen, RiteAid and Eckerd stores are well-distributed throughout the country, and the Merck Medco mail order system is one of the largest in the U.S.

After the first year of the call back programs, the firm and the FDA may agree to discontinue the call back programs if it can be established that there is no longer a need.

8.2 Prescription Monitoring

8.2.1 IMS Xponent

Prescription data will be routinely monitored. The source of this data will be IMS Xponent, the largest sample available of *Actiq* prescriptions, segmented by physician specialty to determine prescribing trends. The IMS Xponent data sample represents prescriptions from over one million prescribers and over 35,000 retail pharmacies. Additionally, IMS Xponent captures 60 million mail order prescriptions per year. These data provide the prescriber's name, the physician specialty and zip code. These data will be analyzed by comparing the proportion of prescriptions being written by specialties such as hematologists/oncologists (appropriate patient selection) to usage by specialties such as surgeons (inappropriate patient selection). Abbott will receive IMS Xponent data 28 days after the end of each month. Therefore, data will be between 28-58 days current.

8.2.2 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index

National prescription data segmented by physician specialty and by indication from IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index (NDTI) will be analyzed. An example of an NDTI data sheet is attached (see Attachment 12). These data will be reported to the FDA on a quarterly basis as described in section 10.0.

8.2.3 Wholesaler Data

Per the FDA's previous agreement with Abbott Laboratories, *Actiq* will not be sold directly to retail pharmacy outlets, but will be sold only to DEA hospital and distribution registrants.

Abbott will receive information on retail pharmacy sales. This information will be shared with the Oncology Specialist. The Oncology Specialist will follow-up with these pharmacies to ensure that they are employing the "Point of Dispensing" interventions described previously.

Additionally, every two months an Abbott Trade Sales Specialist (wholesaler representative) will call on the high volume *Actiq* wholesalers. This person will request information on any additional pharmacies which need to be added to the list. Information from the Abbott Trade Specialists' meetings with wholesalers will be shared with the Oncology Specialists for follow-up.

The sponsor will monitor for compliance to the RMP "Point of Dispensing" and report violations to the FDA quarterly along with any interventions made as a result.

8.3 Adverse Events

8.3.1 Abbott Standard Operating Procedure

Abbott has established specific procedures to respond to serious adverse events, which may be associated with *Actiq*.

A toll-free number will be staffed to receive adverse event reports. This system can be accessed 24 hours a day. Reports can be logged by clinicians, pharmacists, home caregivers, patients, sales representatives or others. All reports are logged into a computer database and investigated.

Any adverse event, as defined by current federal regulations, receives immediate investigation and follow-up by Abbott. The details of this procedure are summarized below.

- a) The incident report is reviewed by an investigation team, and an investigation is initiated. This group remains responsible for oversight of the process and for briefing senior management as the investigation proceeds.
- b) The medical experience analyst assigned contacts the reporting entity as soon as possible. On-site investigation is implemented if deemed necessary.
- c) The medical investigation conclusions are discussed with Anesta to determine reportability.

8.3.2 Special Safety Commitments

Reports of all serious adverse events to the FDA will be made in accordance with current Federal Regulations. Based on an agreement between FDA and the sponsor, the following type of adverse experiences will also be reported to the FDA within 15 days:

- Any unintended pediatric exposure, whether or not serious and whether or not unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."
- Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of diversion (ie, use by an individual other than for whom it was prescribed), whether or not the experience is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."
- Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of "off label use" (ie, that is used outside of the approved indication for *Actiq*) whether or not the experience is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."

Definitions of "serious adverse drug experiences," "adverse drug experience," "unexpected adverse drug experiences," and "15-day Alert report," are stated in 21 CFR §314.80. These Special Safety commitments are in addition to the requirement for reporting of adverse experiences set down in 21 CFR §314.80. The above apply to reports from any source (eg, call-in, literature, poison control centers, etc).

8.3.3 Literature Monitoring

In addition to specific event reporting, Abbott maintains a system to monitor the literature for adverse events. This review is conducted monthly or at the time a specific literature citation is reported. Any significant findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR §314.80).

8.4 Poisoning and Overdose

Quarterly reports to FDA will include poison information, trends, and interventions derived from the following sources:

8.4.1 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number

A single 1-800 telephone number will be established to receive emergency calls when *Actiq* has potentially been accidentally ingested and the patient or child is awake and alert. This system allows a near real time surveillance of all poison control calls. This number will be highly publicized in all patient education materials. Any significant findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR §314.80).

8.4.2 Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS)

Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS) reports all contacts with U.S. Poison Control Centers. This database will be monitored for *Actiq* exposures. These data are available once yearly and will be included in the analysis for FDA quarterly reports.

8.5 Abuse

Quarterly reports to FDA will include information, trends, and interventions derived from the following sources:

8.5.1 Routine Abbott Interaction with DEA

Abbott Laboratories Corporate Regulatory Affairs maintains a proactive program to identify possible product diversion. Abbott routinely visits DEA District offices with jurisdiction over Abbott distribution facilities to review information on the potential "street use" of Abbott products. In addition, an interactive relationship has been developed so that Abbott is alerted to specific instances. Abbott will cooperate with DEA and state drug control authorities' investigations, as requested.

8.5.2 Abbott Exceptions System

Actiq will be added to Abbott's exception reporting system to the DEA. Under this system, any orders that exceed the norm by two or more standard deviations are reported to the DEA for follow-up and investigation.

8.5.3 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)

The Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN) is an ongoing national survey of non-federal, short-stay general hospitals that have a 24-hour emergency department (ED). A representative sample of these hospital EDs submit data, and national estimates of ED drug episodes or drug mentions are generated for all such hospitals. The DAWN system also collects data on drug-related deaths from a nonrandom sample of medical examiners located in 41 metropolitan areas. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) division of the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) supports DAWN. This database will also be monitored to identify issues which have not surfaced through standard DEA interactions.

8.5.4 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy

Reports of diversion or abuse received from state drug control authorities will be investigated and submitted to the FDA as part of the quarterly report.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

Promotional message testing at six month intervals following product launch will be conducted to ensure that Oncology Specialists are accurately delivering the key safety messages. This will be accomplished via telephone interviews or paper questionnaires with physicians that are prescribing *Actiq* and have been called on by the Oncology Specialist. Where necessary, sales representatives will be re-trained and/or disciplined to ensure compliance with the targeted, focused launch/promotional plan.

9.0 Intervention

9.1 Off-Label Usage

9.1.1 Individual Prescribers

Whenever a problem of off-label usage becomes known and individual prescribers are identified, the following activities will take place:

- 1) A letter from Abbott's Medical Department will be sent to all identified prescribers to emphasize the approved indication and appropriate patient selection. The letter must have FDA review and approval before it is issued.
- 2) Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physicians in question. If a problem persists, an Oncology Specialist will visit the physician/s to gather information and remind them of appropriate prescribing of *Actiq*.

9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers

If groups of physicians (such as a particular specialty) are identified as having prescribed *Actiq* inappropriately, and these prescriptions represent potential off-label usage greater than 15% of total quarterly *Actiq* prescriptions, Abbott will contact the appropriate professional society (ie, American College of Surgeons, American Society of Anesthesiologists). This letter will outline prescribing concerns and offer to implement an educational program in conjunction with the professional society in a national setting.

Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physician groups in question and should the level continue to exceed 15% of total *Actiq* prescriptions for two additional quarters, an aggressive educational program will be initiated by mail clearly warning of the potential liabilities of prescribing *Actiq* to inappropriate patient populations.

9.2 Accidental Ingestion

In the event of an unintended pediatric exposure, Abbott will initiate their standard operating procedure for adverse events detailed in section 8.3.1 of this RMP.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

10.0 FDA Reporting

Adverse drug experiences will be reported in accordance with 21 CFR §314.80, with the additional commitment that unintended pediatric exposures, and any serious adverse events and deaths associated with diversion or off-label use will be handled and processed as 15-day Alert reports (see Section 8.3.2, Special Safety Commitments). In addition to the reporting requirements of 21 CFR §314.80(c), these 15–day Alert reports will be sent to the Division of Prescription Drug Compliance and Surveillance (HFD-330) and the Division of Anesthetic, Critical Care, and Addiction Drug Products.

Anesta/Abbott will provide a quarterly report to the FDA compiled from all data collected by the methods described under the *Actiq* Surveillance and Monitoring Program and Interventions (see Sections 8.0 and 9.0 of this document). This report will describe and provide data on any concerns for child safety, diversion, and off-label usage. Anesta/Abbott will also describe any trends and associated interventions made as a result of concerns raised and will also describe any proposed changes to the *Actiq* Risk Management Plan. This report will be provided as part of the *Actiq* quarterly report to the NDA during the first year of marketing. The sponsor and FDA will then determine requirements for further reports and their frequency after the first year of marketing. These reports will be cumulative and contain current reports and identified safety trends.

List of Attachments

- 1 Actiq Dosage Unit (example: 200 mcg)
- 2 Labeling Foil Pouch (example: 400 mcg)
- 3 Labeling Shelf Carton (example: 400 mcg)
- 4 Actiq Patient Leaflet
- 5 Actiq Package Insert
- 6 Elements of RMP to be Included in Speaker Bureau Training
- 7 Actiq CD-ROM Schematic
- 8 Child Safety Lock
- 9 Secure Personal Container (ie, "fanny pack")
- 10 Child-resistant Temporary Storage Container
- 11 Pharmacy Computer Warning screens
- 12 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index example page

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

 $\mathbf{028}$

TEVA_CHI_00049295 P-11326 _ 00063

Actiq®

(oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate)

Risk Management Program

August 1, 2001

NDA Number: 20-747

Sponsor:

Anesta Corp., a Subsidiary of Cephalon, Inc. 145 Brandywine Parkway West Chester, PA 19380

February 9. 1999

TEVA_CHI_00049296 P-11326_00064

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION	5
1.1 Key Messages for the RMP	5
2.0 PRODUCT DEFINITION	6
2.1 Actiq Unit	7
2.2 Actiq Child-ResistantBlister Package	7
2.3 Actiq Shelf Carton	8
 2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units	9 9
3.0 LABELING	9
3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification)	9
3.2 Patient Leaflet	10
3.3 Package Insert	11
4.0 PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL EDUCATION	12
4.1 Key Message Points	12
4.1 Key Message Points4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph	
	13
4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph	13 13 13 13 14 14 14 14 14
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	13 13 13 13 14 14 14 14 15
 4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph 4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs 4.4 Publications	13 13 13 13 13 14 14 14 15 15

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

5.2 The Oncology Specialist (Sales Organization)	16
5.3 Detail Aids	17
5.4 Direct Mail	17
5.4.1 Actiq Professional Information Kit	
5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter	
5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter	
5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services	
5.5 Multimedia Programs	
5.5.1 Actiq CD-ROM Program	
5.5.2 Actiq Internet Site	
5.5.3 Emergency 911	
5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number	19
6.0 PATIENT AND CAREGIVER EDUCATION	19
6.1 The <i>Actiq</i> Welcome Kit	19
6.2 Patient Oriented <i>Actiq</i> Safety Video	20
6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet	21
6.4 Children's Booklet	
0.4 Cinuren s bookiet	
7.0 POINT OF DISPENSING INTERVENTIONS	21
7.1 Pharmacy Software Systems - Precaution Software	21
7.2 The <i>Actiq</i> Welcome Kit	22
7.3 Temporary Storage Container	22
8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES	22
8.1 Direct Patient Feedback	
8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Call Back System	22
8.2 Prescription Monitoring	23
8.2.1 IMS Xponent	
8.2.2 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index	
8.2.3 Wholesaler Data	
8.3 Adverse Events	
8.3.1 Cephalon, Inc. Standard Operating Procedure	
8.3.2 Special Safety Commitments	
8.3.3 Literature Monitoring	25
8.4 Poisoning and Overdose	25
8.4.1 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number	
8.4.2 Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS)	

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

CONFIDENTIAL

8.5 Abuse	
8.5.1 Routine Cephalon, Inc. Interaction with DEA	
Cephalon, Inc.	
8.5.2 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)	
8.5.3 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy	
8.6 Promotional Message Audit	
9.0 INTERVENTION	27
9.1 Off-Label Usage 9.1.1 Individual Prescribers	
9.1.1 Individual Prescribers	
9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers	
9.2 Accidental Ingestion	
10.0 FDA REPORTING	

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

1.0 Introduction

The *Actiq* Risk Management Program (RMP) has been designed to address three key potential risk situations:

- 1. accidental ingestion of Actiq by children
- 2. improper patient selection (prescriptions to and usage by opioid non-tolerant patients)
- 3. diversion or abuse

Anesta Corporation, a subsidiary of Cephalon, Inc. has designed and developed a comprehensive program with the primary goal of making every reasonable effort to reduce the risk of potential untoward events in the unintended populations to the extent possible. This program includes the following:

- strong labeling for professionals, patients and caregivers
- product specific design features to increase child safety
- redundant child-resistant packaging and storage containers
- comprehensive professional, patient caregivers, and child educational programs
- interventions at the point of dispensing
- CII status for *Actiq*

This document provides details and implementation tactics for all elements of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program. No single element can provide the complete answer to reducing risk. A lengthy series of events must occur in sequence before a risk event can occur, yet any one of multiple RMP elements can intervene to interrupt the sequence and prevent the risk event. Redundancy of program elements is one measure used to strengthen the effectiveness of the RMP.

The purpose of the RMP is to ensure the safe use of this product. It is not intended that any portion of this RMP should be used in a promotional context or used to promote *Actiq* in a manner inconsistent with the product label.

The RMP and all of its components should be fully operational at the time of launch.

1.1 Key Messages for the RMP

There are several key messages repeated throughout the RMP, which are listed below. For the balance of the document, these messages will be referenced simply as Child Safety, Proper Patient Selection and Prevention of Diversion and Abuse messages.

> Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

CONFIDENTIAL

- Child Safety Messages
 - *Actiq* must be kept out of the reach of children
 - Actiq could be harmful or fatal to a child if accidentally ingested
 - Actiq must be properly stored and handled
 - Actiq must be properly disposed of after use
 - Healthcare professionals must counsel patients on child safety messages
 - Accessible and easily understood directions on what to do in case of accidental ingestion
- Proper Patient Selection Messages
 - Definition of an opioid tolerant patient
 - Actiq is specifically contraindicated for use in opioid non-tolerant patients
 - Actiq is specifically contraindicated for use in acute/postoperative pain
 - Directions on what to do in case of suspected overdose
 - *Actiq* is specifically indicated solely for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain in chronic opioid tolerant cancer patients
- Prevention of Diversion and Abuse Messages
 - Actiq is a CII medication
 - Actiq is to be used only by the patient for whom it is dispensed
 - Actiq may be habit forming
 - Actiq requires appropriate disposal of unused medication

2.0 Product Definition

The *Actiq* unit, containing dosages of fentanyl ranging from 200 to 1600 mcg per unit, consists of a berry-flavored lozenge on a handle (see Attachment 1). *Actiq* provides median peak fentanyl blood levels in 20-40 minutes (range of 20-480 minutes) when the unit is consumed over a 15-minute period and fentanyl is absorbed by a combination of transmucosal and gastrointestinal absorption.

Concern has been raised that *Actiq* may be perceived as a lollipop. Because of the design of the *Actiq* unit and its drug delivery characteristics, steps will be taken in an effort to minimize the risk of accidental poisoning, inappropriate use and diversion.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

2.1 Actiq Unit

The *Actiq* unit consists of an opaque, white to off-white solid drug matrix that appears medicinal to make it look less appealing to children. The solid drug matrix and the tag at the end of the handle indicate the dosage strength. The handle tag is intended to provide immediate documentation of drug and dose in the event of an accidental poisoning. A yellow triangle icon is also imprinted on the handle tag as a reminder of the child safety precautions.

The *Actiq* unit complies with current drug imprinting requirements (see 21 CFR §206.10, Imprinting of Solid Oral Dosage Form Products for Human Use).

2.2 Actiq Child-Resistant Blister Package

Each *Actiq* unit is individually sealed in its own child-resistant blister package. This blister package is made of thick PVC/Aclar blister packaging material with a strongly sealed foil/paper lidding that requires scissors to open. It meets the specifications provided in the Poison Prevention Packaging Act. The child-resistant testing was conducted in compliance with the Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970, 16 CFR §1700, cited in the Federal Register (Volume 38, No. 151, August 7, 1973). This package passed the child resistance test protocol with a 100% effectiveness rating, exceeding the 80% requirement.

Individual child-resistant packaging (one dosage unit in each blister package) is intended to minimize exposure by limiting access to just one unit at a time.

The blister package is opaque so that a child cannot see the unit when it is in the blister package. The blister package does not resemble food or candy wrappers.

The dosage strength of each unit is marked on the solid drug matrix, on each handle tag, on the blister package and on the shelf carton. The handle tags, blister packages and cartons have colored markings that are a secondary aid in product identification.

Gray	200 mcg
Blue	400 mcg
Orange	600 mcg
Purple	800 mcg
Green	1200 mcg
Burgundy	1600 mcg

The blister package utilizes an icon to draw attention to warnings about child safety and opioid tolerance and standard product identification information. (see Attachment 2). It also contains a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. In addition the blister package label contains the CII symbol, a "May be habit forming" warning, and an "Rx only" warning.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

2.3 Actiq Shelf Carton

The *Actiq* shelf carton includes labeling messages targeting all three at-risk populations (Attachment 3). The shelf carton contains strong warnings prominently and redundantly displayed on the front and back pharmacy label space on the back of the shelf carton.

- The front of the shelf carton has a conspicuous icon calling attention to warnings about child safety, and a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. There is also a warning about appropriate patient selection.
- The back of the shelf carton contains a checklist for the pharmacist. The checklist reminds the pharmacist to make sure the patient is already taking opioids chronically, to counsel the patient about child safety, to encourage the patient to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet, to discuss the *Actiq* Welcome Kit, and to counsel the patient about disposal of partially consumed units.
- On the left hand side of the back of the shelf carton an icon calls attention to prominent warnings about child safety, the need for appropriate patient selection (opioid tolerance), the importance of appropriate disposal of partially consumed units, a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet, and prominent instructions on what to do in case of an accidental exposure.
- On the top of the shelf carton is another reminder for the patient or caregiver to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet.

At the initiation of *Actiq* therapy, it is recommended that physicians prescribe an initial supply of six 200 mcg units. At each new dose of *Actiq* during titration, it is recommended that only six units of the next higher dose be prescribed to limit the potential for left over units in the home.

The most prominent front panel warnings will be provided in Spanish in sticker form to pharmacies upon request. As additional languages are identified, appropriate stickers will be developed and distributed in a similar fashion.

Each shelf carton contains ten strips of three blister packages, for a total of 30 blister packages of a single strength of *Actiq*. Each carton will also include five patient leaflets and one package insert. The shelf carton represents approximately a ten day to two-week supply of *Actiq* after the appropriate dose has been established via titration. Except for the top panel, all printed panels of the shelf carton contain the CII symbol.

2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

It is important to limit the availability of unused and partially consumed units in the home. Warnings are placed on the shelf cartons to remind patients to properly dispose of partially consumed units. The following steps will be taken to reduce the availability of unused and partially consumed units by (1) the provision of multiple dosage strengths, (2) proportional pricing, and (3) directions for prescribing.

2.4.1 Multiple Dosage Strengths

Actiq is made available in six dosage strengths (200, 400, 600, 800, 1200, 1600 mcg units) so that patients can be titrated to the unit strength which provides adequate relief with acceptable side effects. The directions to both healthcare professionals and patients clearly state that *Actiq* dosage units *are to be completely consumed*.

2.4.2 Pricing

Pricing of *Actiq* will provide proportionality on a per mcg basis. This pricing plan is an attempt to minimize the economic incentive to partially consume an *Actiq* unit and save the remainder for a future breakthrough cancer pain episode, reducing the potential risk to children.

2.4.3 **Prescribing Directions**

As per the *Actiq* titration instructions, the initial recommended prescription size is six units of the 200 mcg dose. If a patient requires a higher dose, the titration instructions recommend a second prescription of six units of the 400 mcg dose. This process of prescribing six units of the next highest available dosage form is recommended until the appropriate dose is found.

The package insert contains specific instructions recommending that physicians prescribe a small quantity (6 units) for titration and/or dosage adjustment in an effort to minimize the number of units in the home.

3.0 Labeling

3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification)

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration places very specific controls on the storage, distribution, accountability, prescribing and usage of scheduled products (see 21 CFR §1301). *Actiq* will be a CII product, consistent with other strong opioids such as fentanyl, morphine, oxycodone, and hydromorphone-based products. CII is the most restrictive classification available, and raises the overall level of vigilance and surveillance by all parties involved with the product. These restrictions include:

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01
- strongest tracking and controls throughout the distribution system (DEA Form 222 required for all transactions)
- strict accountability of finished units
- most stringent physical storage requirements
- no refills allowed, triplicate prescriptions may be required in some states
- registered pharmacist is required to check for a legitimate medical purpose before dispensing

The status of *Actiq* as a CII product is the primary risk management element against the third potential risk event -- the potential for diversion and/or abuse. It is important to note, however, that simply the fact that a product is CII raises the level of attention devoted to the prescribing and dispensing of the product by all parties involved in the process and that this is expected to also reduce the risk of accidental ingestion and prescribing for opioid non-tolerant patients because of this heightened awareness.

3.2 Patient Leaflet

A Patient Leaflet has been written for *Actiq*, and five copies will be packaged in every shelf carton (see Attachment 4). Extra copies will be broadly distributed for use by physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers, and patients. The leaflet will be included in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit and in other direct to patient communication and educational programs. It will be available in Spanish as well.

- The first page of the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet contains a strong boxed warning and redundant child warning with graphics for emphasis.
- The *Actiq* Patient Leaflet explicitly addresses, in plain language, preventing access by children. These messages include:
 - Child Safety messages
 - safe storage instructions for whole and partially consumed units
 - Disposal directions for used and unused units and a 1-800 number for additional disposal assistance. Patients calling the 1-800 number will receive a more personalized "walk through" of disposal instructions. If additional assistance is required, callers will be referred to their local DEA office for information.
- It contains emergency information on what should be done in case of accidental ingestion by a child or any opioid non-tolerant person.
 - a prompt to call 911 if the patient or child is not awake and alert
 - a prompt to call Poison Control at 1-800-690-3924 if the patient or child is awake

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

- instructions for care of the patient or child who is having trouble breathing or not breathing at all
- It contains proper patient selection messages
- Strong language has been used throughout the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. In all warning statements, the word "must" is used instead of the word "should." The warning language "can be harmful or fatal to a child" and "can cause injury or death in people who are not already taking prescription opioid (narcotic) pain medicines..." is used.

3.3 Package Insert

The *Actiq* Package Insert (PI) clearly and explicitly communicates messages about child safety, proper patient selection, and prevention of diversion and abuse (see Attachment 5). These messages (see Attachment 6) are important elements of the RMP. The PI highlights the serious risks associated with *Actiq* use and mandates that the healthcare professional must become involved in the process of educating patients and home caregivers. The key elements in the PI include:

- Indication: *Actiq* is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are <u>already receiving and who are tolerant</u> to opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain.
- Black box warnings, which are:

PHYSICIANS AND OTHER HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS MUST BECOME FAMILIAR WITH THE IMPORTANT WARNINGS IN THIS LABEL.

Actiq is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are <u>already receiving and who are</u> <u>tolerant to opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain</u>. Patients considered opioid tolerant are those who are taking at least 60 mg morphine/day, 50 mcg transdermal fentanyl/hour, or an equianalgesic dose of another opioid for a week or longer.

Because life-threatening hypoventilation could occur at any dose in patients not taking chronic opiates, *Actiq* is contraindicated in the management of acute or postoperative pain. This product <u>must not</u> be used in opioid non-tolerant patients.

Actiq is intended to be used only in the care of cancer patients and only by oncologists and pain specialists who are knowledgeable of and skilled in the use of Schedule II opioids to treat cancer pain.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

Patients and their caregivers must be instructed that *Actiq* contains a medicine in an amount which can be fatal to a child. Patients and their caregivers must be instructed to keep all units out of the reach of children and to discard opened units properly.

- Titration instructions which minimize the number of units in the home
- Detailed safe home handling and storage
- Detailed instructions for disposal of used and unused units
- CII designation

The Actiq insert will be included in each shelf carton.

4.0 Professional Medical Education

Cephalon, Inc. will work in conjunction with FDA (through the Office of Health Affairs) in interfacing with licensing boards and professional associations on the development of and dissemination of educational materials related to *Actiq*.

4.1 Key Message Points

The education of physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients on the safe use of *Actiq* is an integral part of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program. These educational messages are drawn directly from the *Actiq* Package Insert. The key safety messages, which have been described earlier in section 1.1 of this RMP, include:

- Child safety messages
- Proper patient selection messages
- Prevention of diversion and abuse messages

The educational programs for physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients will also reinforce the following:

- Process for titration to an effective dose
- Proper (total) consumption of the product
- Proper storage and disposal of the product
- Efficacy and side effects of the product
- Basic Life Support training and potential for certain families to be trained in the treatment of accidental narcotic overdose including antagonist therapy.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

These key educational messages, primarily focusing on safety, are provided to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists through the communication vehicles, which are discussed on the following pages.

4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph

This monograph is written by nurses who participated in the *Actiq* clinical trials. It contains specific information about breakthrough cancer pain and the *Actiq* key safety messages. It will be distributed via direct mail and the sales force. This publication has also received Oncology Nursing Society CEU certification for 3.5 hours of continuing education. This as well as all educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs

Prior to product launch, Anesta and Abbott formally trained the following professionals on all aspects of *Actiq* consistent with the package insert, particularly the RMP elements (Attachment 6):

- At least 50 prominent physician educators in pain management
- At least 50 prominent nurse educators in pain management
- At least 25 prominent pharmacist educators in pain management

These groups will then be called upon to educate their respective peers and patients via presentations in local, state, regional, and national settings.

4.4 Publications

Manuscripts will be submitted to peer-reviewed journals for consideration. They will include messages that reinforce elements of this RMP. The manuscripts selected for publication are those that combine a specific focus into the key cancer pain management audience, as well as other healthcare groups who make up the RMP target audience.

4.4.1 Broad-Based Publications

- Journal of the National Cancer Institute (circulation 10,000+)
- Journal of Pain and Symptom Management (circulation 10,000)
- Journal of Clinical Oncology (circulation 20,000)
- Anesthesia and Analgesia (circulation 5,000)
- Seminars in Oncology (circulation 10,000)

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

- Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 3,000)
- Oncology Times (circulation 20,000)
- Cancer for the Clinician (circulation 10,000)

4.4.2 Pharmaceutical Compendia

Pharmaceutical compendia will serve physicians, nurses, and pharmacists in several ways. The compendia regularly send out updates to inform about new products. The circulation numbers for each of these publications, although proprietary, are believed to be greater than 50,000 per publication. Cephalon, Inc. will have *Actiq* listed in each of the following well-known compendia:

- Physician's Desk Reference (PDR)
- American Hospital Formulary Service (AHFS)
- Facts and Comparisons

In cases where material is excerpted from the Package Insert, Cephalon, Inc. will contact these publications to request increased emphasis on the RMP elements.

4.4.3 Major Nursing Journals

- American Journal of Nursing (circulation 250,000+)
- American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 100,000+)
- Nurse Practitioner (circulation 100,000+)
- Home Health Care Nurse (circulation 25,000+)
- Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing (circulation 20,000+)
- Seminars in Oncology Nursing (circulation 6,000+)
- Oncology Nursing Forum (circulation 20,000+)
- RN Magazine (circulation 200,000+)

4.4.4 Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters

- The Oncology Nursing Society Newsletter
- Local ONS chapter newsletters
- Oncology Nursing Society computer mail announcements
- State board of nursing newsletters
- State Cancer Pain Initiative mailings

4.4.5 Major Pharmacy Journals

- U.S. Pharmacist (circulation 100,000+)
- Drug Topics /Hospital Pharmacist's Report (circulation 100,000+)

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

1 - 152

14

P-11326 _ 00077

- Formulary (circulation 100,000+)
- Journal of the Association of Healthsystem Pharmacists (circulation 70,000+)
- Journal of the American Pharmaceutical Association (circulation 48,000+)
- Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy (circulation 40,000+)

4.4.6 **Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic)**

During the initial launch of Actiq, requests were made that the *Actiq* key safety messages and new product reviews were to be incorporated into the newsletters of various national, regional, state and local pharmacy organizations including:

- The Pharmacist's Letter (circulation 100,000+)
- Chain drugstore newsletters and electronic updates
 - CVS 4,000 stores
 - RiteAid 3,000 stores
 - Walgreens 2,200 stores
- State board of pharmacy newsletters

4.5 Communication with DEA

Information on proper disposal of *Actiq* will be provided to the DEA for use by their field offices on an as requested basis. Background and training materials will be designed in concert with the Office of Diversion Control, Policy Liaison at DEA headquarters and will be distributed to all DEA field offices.

5.0 Actiq Launch Program

Actiq will target a relatively small group of clinicians. The emphasis of the promotion will be highly educational.

All educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

5.1 Target Audience

The target physician audience for *Actiq* is a group of approximately 5,000 oncologists and pain specialists, their nurses and office staff. These physicians are already using CII opioids to treat cancer pain, are generally knowledgeable about breakthrough cancer pain, and should understand the appropriate use of *Actiq* for opioid tolerant cancer patients.

Since the majority of *Actiq* use is anticipated to be in the oncology outpatient setting, the pharmacist will play an important gate keeping role in the *Actiq* RMP by screening for proper patient selection (opioid tolerant cancer patients only) and by providing information on safe product use and handling to patients and caregivers.

Please note the entire universe of practicing oncologists, oncology nurses and pharmacists will receive the key messages through some of the broad-based communication vehicles described in the Professional Education section of this document.

5.2 The Oncology Sales Specialist (Cephalon, Inc. Sales Organization)

Full time Oncology Sales Specialists have been placed in the field to personally call on the target audience. The Oncology Sales Specialists are the primary day to day link to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists who will be using the product. The Oncology Sales Specialists play a key role in implementing the RMP.

Each Oncology Sales Specialist must be certified on *Actiq* via a rigorous product education and sales training program. This program begins with home-study modules, which explicitly spell out the three groups of key safety messages. The home study modules are followed by one week of in-house training at Cephalon, Inc. corporate headquarters and at least by one week of training in the field with a field trainer or seasoned field manager. This program is designed to clearly communicate the key safety messages and Cephalon, Inc. expectations regarding sales activity in the field. Importantly, Oncology Sales Specialists are tested prior to being certified to discuss *Actiq*.

In the approximately 3 months between product approval and product availability, the Oncology Specialists personally called on 1,000 of the 2,000 pharmacies dispensing the largest volume of CII products. In these calls they educated the pharmacist on all safety issues and enlist their assistance as gatekeepers. The second group of 1,000 high CII dispensing pharmacies were called on by Oncology Specialists in the first three months post product launch with the same messages.

Pharmacies not included in the initial target group were offered opportunities to obtain additional information through several elements of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program, including: Dear Pharmacist letter, pharmacy direct mail services, pharmacy journal advertising, pharmacy newsletters, and pharmaceutical compendia. These programs provide access to the 1-800 number and website for additional information about *Actiq*. In addition, the group of pharmacies and health care practitioners serving rural areas will

> Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

be the target of a post approval commitment to better understand and meet their unique needs through an educational outreach program.

Upon hiring, each Specialist will receive a letter outlining his responsibilities. This letter will stress the requirement to limit the promotion of *Actiq* to the approved indication, discourage off-label use, direct the specialist to promote only to the target audiences, describe the serious consequences of violating this policy, and reinforce the three key messages of the RMP. This letter will be slightly revised from the currently approved one to reflect Cephalon's practices. It will be reviewed by FDA for prior approval before issue. Moreover, the compensation program for Oncology Specialists will direct them to promote into only the target audience.

In their personal calls to physicians, nurses, and pharmacists, the Oncology Sales Specialist will discuss a variety of educational material which may include:

- Package insert and patient leaflet
- Actiq safety video
- Actiq CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists
- Actiq Internet site
- Central 1-800 poison control number
- The *Actiq* Welcome Kit

All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use. Revisions to these materials to reflect the new packaging will also be submitted to FDA prior to use.

5.3 Detail Aids

Detail aids for *Actiq* will emphasize the three key safety messages. To ensure consistent attention to the key safety messages, all "leave behind" detail aids will also prominently display the detail flag. This flag as well as all other promotional materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.4 Direct Mail

All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.4.1 Actiq Professional Information Kit

Upon product launch, the target physician group will receive an *Actiq* Information Kit including:

• Actiq Package Insert and Actiq Patient Leaflet

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

- Actiq Safety video designed for patients which covers
 - child safety
 - patient selection (opioid tolerance)
 - titration
 - storage
 - disposal
 - emergency care
- Information on accessing the 1-800 number, the *Actiq* internet site and Physician CD-ROM program all of which are designed to provide additional information
- Information on how to obtain the Actiq Welcome Kit

5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter

Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered physicians in the U.S. will be conducted. This letter will reinforce the three key messages (child safety, proper patient selection and prevention of diversion and abuse) and encourage the appropriate physicians to mail in an enclosed business reply card and/or to visit the *Actiq* internet site for more information. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue.

5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter

Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered pharmacists in the U.S. will be conducted. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue. This letter will reinforce proper patient selection and child safety messages and encourage the pharmacists to mail in the enclosed business reply card and/or visit the *Actiq* internet site for more detailed information.

5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services

Information to pharmacists using pharmacy direct mail services will prominently feature the three key safety messages. All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

5.5 Multimedia Programs

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

5.5.1 Actiq CD-ROM Program

A CD-ROM will be developed and made available to all *Actiq* target audiences. It will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. A detailed schematic of the separate CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists is presented in Attachment 7. This program will be available via mass direct mail, the Oncololgy Specialist and the *Actiq* internet site.

5.5.2 Actiq Internet Site

An *Actiq* internet site will be made available to all *Actiq* target audiences. This will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. Sections will be targeted at physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients and caregivers.

5.5.3 Emergency 911

This number will be prominently featured in all patient educational materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed and the person (eg, a child) is not awake and alert or is breathing slowly.

5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number

A single 1-800 telephone number will be established at the Rocky Mountain Poison Control Center to receive all US emergency calls for *Actiq*. Having a central number allows for a focused, well-trained staff to be able to deliver a consistent message to patients and caregivers. It also provides for a near real-time surveillance of all poison control calls and an opportunity for timely analysis of any trends. This number will be prominently featured in patient educational materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed, and the person (eg, a child) is awake and alert.

6.0 Patient and Caregiver Education

6.1 The Actiq Welcome Kit

Upon launch, the 5,000 target oncologists and pain specialists will receive a supply of the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. The *Actiq* Welcome Kit will include the following items:

• Child Safety Lock - a lock to secure almost any existing household cabinet or drawer for the storage of *Actiq* and other medications (Attachment 8).

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

- Secure Personal Container a lockable pouch with a waistband (a fanny pack) will be provided so the patient can safely and conveniently store a day or two supply of *Actiq*. This pouch can be secured directly to the patient or to patient's bed or chair (Attachment 9).
- Child-Resistant Temporary Storage Container an opaque container featuring easy-entry, but child-resistant removal. A warning decal will be attached to the outside of each container. This bottle will fit into the secure personal container (fanny pack) and will be used to secure completely and/or partially used *Actiq* units (should they exist) until the patient or caregiver can properly dispose of them (Attachment 10). Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and wherever *Actiq* is dispensed.
- Patient Leaflet
- Home Warning Stickers and Magnet (detail in section 6.3)
- Children's Booklet (detail in section 6.4)
- Emergency treatment information
- A brightly colored flyer with a special alert to families with young children

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

Every *Actiq* patient will receive a free Welcome Kit from his or her physician or via a 1-800 number. The kit and ordering information for it are described in the Patient Leaflet. Target pharmacists will be given an *Actiq* Welcome Kit by an Oncology Sales Specialist and briefed on how patients can obtain them.

Several components of the Welcome Kit--the Patient Leaflet and the Child Safety booklet --will be available in Spanish, and will be distributed in those geographical areas with high Hispanic populations. These will be available on request through the 1-800 number.

6.2 Patient Oriented Actiq Safety Video

A detailed patient oriented safety video will be made available to practitioners and patients to communicate the following messages:

- Child safety messages
- Proper patient selection messages
- Product storage and handling in the home
- Product titration
- Product disposal
- Emergency instructions

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

This video will be mailed to the offices of the target physicians and will also be available to physicians and patients through the Oncology Sales Specialist or 1-800 number. This video will be available in either English or Spanish.

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet

An *Actiq* specific home warning sticker and refrigerator magnet will be distributed to all *Actiq* patients through the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. This sticker/magnet is to be placed around the home in high visibility areas and on the telephone. They will provide warnings for child safety and proper patient selection and contain emergency instructions for calling 911 and the central 1-800 poison control number.

6.4 Children's Booklet

A child-friendly booklet designed by the National SAFEKIDS Campaign in collaboration with the chairperson of the public education committee of the American Association of Poison Control Centers, Gail Banach, M.S.Ed., to be read and to be understood by younger children will be distributed. This book has been developed at a 2nd to 4th grade reading level. Older children may read it on their own. The primary goal of this booklet is to educate children on safe handling of all medicines including *Actiq*. The booklet will use simplistic language, realistic graphics and will be interactive to maximize the child's learning. This booklet will be made available in English or Spanish in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit and in the offices of all target physicians and pharmacists.

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

7.0 Point of Dispensing Interventions

The following activities will be implemented at the *Actiq* points of dispensing. Product samples will <u>not</u> be made available.

7.1 Pharmacy Software Systems - Precaution Software

In order to prompt the pharmacist to inquire about the presence of children in the home and to verify opioid tolerance of the patient, vendors of major commercial pharmacy precaution software will be asked to place *Actiq* warnings in their systems being used in the U.S. and its territories. Participating software systems will cover approximately 90% of the data systems in the U.S. pharmacy market.

Examples of pharmacy warning screens and electronically produced patient information sheets are provided as Attachment 11.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit

This kit (previously described) will be personally presented to all targeted retail pharmacies by an Oncology Sales Specialist and will be made available to any pharmacist upon request. The pharmacist will be encouraged to explain to the patient how they can obtain a free *Actiq* Welcome Kit, if they do not already have one, either directly from their physician or via a 1-800 number. Directions to obtain the *Actiq* Welcome Kit are also provided in the Patient Leaflet.

In addition to being enclosed in each *Actiq* shelf carton, the Patient Leaflet will be distributed in quantity to all target pharmacists by the Cephalon, Inc. Oncology Sales Specialists and be made available to any pharmacist upon request. The package (eg, back panel of shelf carton) and the computer program screen will prompt the pharmacist to go over the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet with every new *Actiq* patient. The Patient Leaflet will also be provided in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. Where possible (eg, the *Actiq* Internet site and CD-ROM), the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet will be made available electronically.

7.3 Temporary Storage Container

Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and wherever *Actiq* is dispensed.

8.0 Surveillance Goals And Activities

The goals of the Actiq Surveillance and Monitoring Program are to:

- determine the effectiveness of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program by monitoring the potential incidence and outcome of child accidental ingestion, potential product use among opioid non-tolerant populations, off-label use, and possible diversion and abuse
- trigger intervention when problems are discovered
- make modifications to the *Actiq* Risk Management Program to improve its effectiveness

The following pages summarize the various means by which *Actiq* use and safety data will be collated and analyzed. (In the event that any of these pharmacy organizations are unable to participate in this program, Cephalon, Inc. will commit to substituting another potential supplier to broaden our sample in a timely manner.)

8.1 Direct Patient Feedback

8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Call Back System

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

A call back system will be used to directly query *Actiq* patients. Under this program, patients who receive an *Actiq* prescription at a participating pharmacy will receive a follow-up phone call by a company pharmacist. During this call, the following information will be collected:

- Did the patient receive an *Actiq* Welcome Kit?
- Was the patient already on a strong opioid when they received the *Actiq* prescription?
- Was the patient or caregiver provided with the appropriate safety messages?
- What titration process has been used to this point?
- Are there any children in the home or with access to the home?
- How is the patient or caregiver storing and disposing of the product?
- Provide a child safety reminder.

The partners included in this system include RiteAid, Eckerd, Walgreens, and the Merck Medco system. This program will capture real time trends of inappropriate patient selection and child safety issues during the first year of sales, interviewing up to 1,000 patients per chain who fill *Actiq* prescriptions in each of these pharmacies.

This program will provide timely and specific data on actual patients in a significant, geographically distributed population sample as Walgreen, RiteAid and Eckerd stores are well-distributed throughout the country, and the Merck Medco mail order system is one of the largest in the U.S.

After the first year of the call back programs, the firm and the FDA may agree to discontinue the call back programs if it can be established that there is no longer a need.

8.2 Prescription Monitoring

8.2.1 IMS Xponent

Prescription data will be routinely monitored. The source of these data will be IMS Xponent, the largest sample available of *Actiq* prescriptions, segmented by physician specialty to determine prescribing trends. The IMS Xponent data sample represents prescriptions from over one million prescribers and over 35,000 retail pharmacies. Additionally, IMS Xponent captures 60 million mail order prescriptions per year. These data provide the prescriber's name, the physician specialty and zip code. These data will be analyzed by comparing the proportion of prescriptions being written by specialties such as hematologists/oncologists (appropriate patient selection) to usage by specialties such as surgeons (inappropriate patient selection). Cephalon, Inc. will receive IMS Xponent data 28 days after the end of each month. Therefore, data will be between 28-58 days current.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

8.2.2 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index

National prescription data segmented by physician specialty and by indication from IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index (NDTI) will be analyzed. An example of an NDTI data sheet is attached (see Attachment 12). These data will be reported to the FDA on a quarterly basis as described in section 10.0.

8.2.3 Wholesaler Data

Per the FDA's previous agreement with Abbott Laboratories, *Actiq* will not be sold directly to retail pharmacy outlets, but will be sold only to DEA hospital and distribution registrants.

Cephalon, Inc. will receive information on retail pharmacy sales. This information will be shared with the Oncology Sales Specialist. The Oncology Sales Specialist will followup with these pharmacies to ensure that they are employing the "Point of Dispensing" interventions described previously.

Additionally, every two months a Cephalon, Inc. Trade Sales Specialist (wholesaler representative) will call on the high volume *Actiq* wholesalers. This person will request information on any additional pharmacies which need to be added to the list. Information from the Cephalon's meetings with wholesalers will be shared with the Oncology Sales Specialists for follow-up.

The sponsor will monitor for compliance to the RMP "Point of Dispensing" and report violations to the FDA quarterly along with any interventions made as a result.

8.3 Adverse Events

8.3.1 Cephalon, Inc. Standard Operating Procedure

Cephalon, Inc. has established specific procedures to respond to serious adverse events, which may be associated with *Actiq*.

A toll-free number will be staffed to receive adverse event reports. This system can be accessed 24 hours a day. Reports can be logged by clinicians, pharmacists, home caregivers, patients, sales representatives or others. All reports are logged into a computer database and investigated.

Any adverse event, as defined by current federal regulations, receives immediate investigation and follow-up by Cephalon, Inc.. The details of this procedure are summarized below.

a) The incident report is reviewed by an investigation team, and an investigation is initiated. This group remains responsible for oversight of the process and for briefing senior management as the investigation proceeds.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

- b) The medical experience analyst assigned contacts the reporting entity as soon as possible. On-site investigation is implemented if deemed necessary.
- c) The medical investigation conclusions are discussed with Cephalon, Inc. to determine reportability.

8.3.2 Special Safety Commitments

Reports of all serious adverse events to the FDA will be made in accordance with current Federal Regulations. Based on an agreement between FDA and the sponsor, the following type of adverse experiences will also be reported to the FDA within 15 days:

- Any unintended pediatric exposure, whether or not serious and whether or not unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."
- Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of diversion (ie, use by an individual other than for whom it was prescribed), whether or not the experience is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."
- Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of "off label use" (ie, that is used outside of the approved indication for *Actiq*) whether or not the experience is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."

Definitions of "serious adverse drug experiences," "adverse drug experience," "unexpected adverse drug experiences," and "15-day Alert report," are stated in 21 CFR §314.80. These Special Safety commitments are in addition to the requirement for reporting of adverse experiences set down in 21 CFR §314.80. The above apply to reports from any source (eg, call-in, literature, poison control centers, etc).

8.3.3 Literature Monitoring

In addition to specific event reporting, Cephalon, Inc. maintains a system to monitor the literature for adverse events. This review is conducted monthly or at the time a specific literature citation is reported. Any significant findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR §314.80).

8.4 Poisoning and Overdose

Quarterly reports to FDA will include poison information, trends, and interventions derived from the following sources:

8.4.1 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

A single 1-800 telephone number will be established to receive emergency calls when *Actiq* has potentially been accidentally ingested and the patient or child is awake and alert. This system allows a near real time surveillance of all poison control calls. This number will be highly publicized in all patient education materials. Any significant findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR §314.80).

8.4.2 Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS)

Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS) reports all contacts with U.S. Poison Control Centers. This database will be monitored for *Actiq* exposures. These data are available once yearly and will be included in the analysis for FDA quarterly reports.

8.5 Abuse

Quarterly reports to FDA will include information, trends, and interventions derived from the following sources:

8.5.1 Routine Cephalon Interaction with DEA

Cephalon, Inc. will maintain communications with DEA and state drug control authorities.

8.5.2 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)

The Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN) is an ongoing national survey of nonfederal, short-stay general hospitals that have a 24-hour emergency department (ED). A representative sample of these hospital EDs submit data, and national estimates of ED drug episodes or drug mentions are generated for all such hospitals. The DAWN system also collects data on drug-related deaths from a nonrandom sample of medical examiners located in 41 metropolitan areas. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) division of the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) supports DAWN. This database will also be monitored to identify issues which have not surfaced through standard DEA interactions.

8.5.3 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy

Reports of diversion or abuse received from state drug control authorities will be investigated and submitted to the FDA as part of the quarterly report.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

8.6 Promotional Message Audit

Promotional message testing at six month intervals following product launch will be conducted to ensure that Oncology Sales Specialists are accurately delivering the key safety messages. This will be accomplished via telephone interviews or paper questionnaires with physicians that are prescribing *Actiq* and have been called on by the Oncology Sales Specialist. Where necessary, sales representatives will be re-trained and/or disciplined to ensure compliance with the targeted, focused launch/promotional plan.

9.0 Intervention

9.1 Off-Label Usage

9.1.1 Individual Prescribers

Whenever a problem of off-label usage becomes known and individual prescribers are identified, the following activities will take place:

- 1) A letter from Cephalon, Inc.'s Medical Department will be sent to all identified prescribers to emphasize the approved indication and appropriate patient selection. The letter must have FDA review and approval before it is issued.
- 2) Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physicians in question. If a problem persists, an Oncology Sales Specialist will visit the physician/s to gather information and remind them of appropriate prescribing of *Actiq*.

9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers

If groups of physicians (such as a particular specialty) are identified as having prescribed *Actiq* inappropriately, and these prescriptions represent potential off-label usage greater than 15% of total quarterly *Actiq* prescriptions, Cephalon, Inc. will contact the appropriate professional society (ie, American College of Surgeons, American Society of Anesthesiologists). This letter will outline prescribing concerns and offer to implement an educational program in conjunction with the professional society in a national setting.

Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physician groups in question and should the level continue to exceed 15% of total *Actiq* prescriptions for two additional quarters, an aggressive educational program will be initiated by mail clearly warning of the potential liabilities of prescribing *Actiq* to inappropriate patient populations.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

9.2 Accidental Ingestion

In the event of an unintended pediatric exposure, Cephalon, Inc. will initiate their standard operating procedure for adverse events detailed in section 8.3.1 of this RMP.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TEVA_CHI_00049323 P-11326 _ 00091

10.0 FDA Reporting

Adverse drug experiences will be reported in accordance with 21 CFR §314.80, with the additional commitment that unintended pediatric exposures, and any serious adverse events and deaths associated with diversion or off-label use will be handled and processed as 15-day Alert reports (see Section 8.3.2, Special Safety Commitments). In addition to the reporting requirements of 21 CFR §314.80(c), these 15–day Alert reports will be sent to the Division of Prescription Drug Compliance and Surveillance (HFD-330) and the Division of Anesthetic, Critical Care, and Addiction Drug Products.

Cephalon, Inc. will provide a quarterly report to the FDA compiled from all data collected by the methods described under the *Actiq* Surveillance and Monitoring Program and Interventions (see Sections 8.0 and 9.0 of this document). This report will describe and provide data on any concerns for child safety, diversion, and off-label usage. Cephalon, Inc. will also describe any trends and associated interventions made as a result of concerns raised and will also describe any proposed changes to the *Actiq* Risk Management Plan. This report will be provided as part of the *Actiq* quarterly report to the NDA during the first year of marketing. The sponsor and FDA will then determine requirements for further reports and their frequency after the first year of marketing. These reports will be cumulative and contain current reports and identified safety trends.

> Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 08/01/01

List of Attachments

- 1 *Actiq* Dosage Unit (example: 200 mcg)
- 2 Labeling Blister Package (example: 200 mcg)
- 3 Labeling Shelf Carton (example: 200 mcg)
- 4 Actiq Patient Leaflet
- 5 Actiq Package Insert
- 6 Elements of RMP to be Included in Speaker Bureau Training
- 7 *Actiq* CD-ROM Schematic
- 8 Child Safety Lock
- 9 Secure Personal Container (ie, "fanny pack")
- 10 Child-resistant Temporary Storage Container
- 11 Pharmacy Computer Warning screens
- 12 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index example page



19- 078

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February 9, 1999

.

.

Actiq[®]

(oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate)

Risk Management Program

(November 4, 1998February 9, 1999)

NDA Number: 20-747

Sponsor:

Anesta Corp. 4745 Wiley Post Way Plaza 6, Suite 650 Salt Lake City, UT 84116 801-595-.595.1405

Marketing Partner:

Abbott Laboratories Hospital Products Division Abbott Park, IL 60064

19- 079

FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Key Messages for the RMP <u>5</u> 5-
2.0 PRODUCT DEFINITION <u>6</u> 6
2.1 Actiq Unit <u>6</u> 6
2.2 Actiq Child-Resistant Pouch
2.3 Actiq Shelf Carton
2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units
3.0 LABELING
3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification) <u>19</u> 9-
3.2 Patient Leaflet
3.3 Package Insert
4.0 PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL EDUCATION
4.1 Key Message Points
4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph
4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs
4.4 Publications241-24.4.1 Broad-Based Publications24424.4.2 Pharmaceutical Compendia24434.4.3 Major Nursing Journals25434.4.4 Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters25434.4.5 Major Pharmacy Journals25434.4.6 Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic)2544
4.5 Communication with DEA <u>26</u> 14
5.0 ACTIQ LAUNCH PROGRAM2614

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19–** C80 FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

	<u>28</u> 1-5
5.2 The Oncology Specialist (Abbott Sales Organization)	7 81 5
5.2 The Oncology Specialist (Abbott Sales Organization)	
5.3 Detail Aids	<u>2 9</u> 1 6
5.4 Direct Mail	
5.4.1 Actiq Professional Information Kit	
5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter	
5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter	
5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services	<u>30</u> 17
5.5 Multimedia Programs	
5.5.1 Actiq CD-ROM Program	
5.5.2 Actiq Internet Site	
5.5.3 Emergency 911	
5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number	
	- ·
0.0 PATIENT AND CAREGIVER EDUCATION	<u>31</u> 18
6.1 The Actiq Welcome Kit	
6.2 Patient Oriented Actiq Safety Video	3 21.0
0.2 rationt Othenteu Actig Salety Villeo	<u>54</u> +9
6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet	<u>36</u> 19
6.4 Children's Booklet	
	<u>. v</u> i /
7.0 POINT OF DISPENSING INTERVENTIONS	<u>36</u> 19
7.1 Disamony Software Suntana Deve d'an Software	2/10
7.1 Pharmacy Software Systems - Precaution Software	<u>30</u> 19
7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit	
7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit	
7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit7.3 Temporary Storage Container	
7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit7.3 Temporary Storage Container	
7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit	<u>372-0</u>
7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit 7.3 Temporary Storage Container 8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES	<u>372-0</u> <u>372-0</u>
 7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit 7.3 Temporary Storage Container 8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES 8.1 Direct Patient Feedback	<u>372-0</u> <u>372-0</u>
 7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit 7.3 Temporary Storage Container 8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES 8.1 Direct Patient Feedback	. <u>372-0</u> . <u>372-0</u> <u>372-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u>
 7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit. 7.3 Temporary Storage Container 8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES. 8.1 Direct Patient Feedback 8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Call Back System 8.2 Prescription Monitoring. 8.2.1 IMS Xponent 	. <u>372-0</u> . <u>372-0</u> . <u>372-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u>
 7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit. 7.3 Temporary Storage Container 8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES. 8.1 Direct Patient Feedback 8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Call Back System. 8.2 Prescription Monitoring. 8.2.1 IMS Xponent 8.2.2 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index. 	. <u>372-0</u> . <u>372-0</u> . <u>372-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u>
 7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit. 7.3 Temporary Storage Container 8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES. 8.1 Direct Patient Feedback 8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Call Back System. 8.2 Prescription Monitoring. 8.2.1 IMS Xponent 	. <u>372-0</u> . <u>372-0</u> . <u>372-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u> . <u>382-1</u>

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98<u>ebruary 9, 1999</u>

- - - -

8.3.3 Literature Monitoring	<u>40</u> 23
8.4 Poisoning and Overdose	
8.4.1 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number	
8.4.2 Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS)	
8.5 Abuse	<u>4 2</u> 24
8.5.1 Routine Abbott Interaction with DEA	<u>42</u> 24
8.5.2 Abbott Exceptions System	<u>42</u> 24
8.5.3 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)	
8.5.4 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy	
8.6 Promotional Message Audit	
9.1 Off-Label Usage	<u>4 3</u> 2-5
9.1.1 Individual Prescribers	<u>4325</u>
9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers	<u>4325</u>
9.2 Accidental Ingestion	<u>4 3</u> 2-5
10.0 FDA REPORTING	<u>4 4</u> 2 6

19- 082

Actiq Risk Management Program<u>(RMP)</u> FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98<u>e</u>bruary 9, 1999

1.0 Introduction

The Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) has been designed to address three key potential risk situations:

- 1. accidental ingestion of Actiq by children
- 2. improper patient selection (prescriptions to and usage by opioid non-tolerant patients)
- 3. diversion or abuse

Anesta Corp. and Abbott Laboratories have designed and developed a comprehensive program with the primary goal of making every reasonable effort to reduce the risk of potential untoward events in the unintended populations to the extent possible. This program includes the following:

- strong labeling for professionals, patients and caregivers
- product specific design features to increase child safety
- redundant child-resistant packaging and storage containers
- comprehensive professional, patient caregivers, and child educational programs
- interventions at the point of dispensing
- Actiq's CII status CII status for Actiq

This document provides details and implementation tactics for all elements of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program. No single element can provide the complete answer to reducing risk. A lengthy series of events must occur in sequence before a risk event can occur, yet any one of multiple RMP elements can intervene to interrupt the sequence and prevent the risk event. Redundancy of program elements is one measure used to strengthen the effectiveness of the RMP.

The purpose of the RMP is to ensure the safe use of this product. It is not intended that any portions of this RMP should be used in a promotional context or used to promote *Actiq* in a manner inconsistent with the product label.

The Risk Management Plan<u>MP</u> and all of its components willshould be fully operational at the time of launch.

1.1-_Key Messages for the RMP

There are several key messages repeated throughout the RMP, which are listed below. For the balance of the document, these messages will be referenced simply as Child Safety, Proper Patient Selection and Prevention of Diversion and Abuse messages.

- Child Safety Messages
 - Actiq must be kept out of the reach of children

19-	007	1
13-	083_{FDA}	Ap

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

- Actiq could be harmful or fatal to a child if accidentally ingested
- Actiq must be properly stored and handled
- Actiq must be properly disposed of after use
- Healthcare professionals must counsel patients on child safety messages
- Accessible and easily understood directions on what to do in case of accidental ingestion
- Proper Patient Selection Messages
 - Definition of an opioid tolerant patient
 - Actiq is specifically contraindicated for use in opioid non-tolerant patients
 - Actiq is specifically contraindicated for use in acute/postoperative pain
 - Directions on what to do in case of suspected overdose
 - *Actiq* is specifically indicated solely for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain in chronic opioid tolerant cancer patients
- Prevention of Diversion and Abuse Messages
 - Actiq is a CII medication
 - Actiq is to be used only by the patient for whom it is dispensed
 - Actiq may be habit forming
 - Actiq requires appropriate disposal of unused medication

2.0 Product Definition

The Actiq unit, containing dosages of fentanyl ranging from 200 to 1600 mcg per unit, consists of a raspberry-flavored lozenge on a handle (see Figure Attachment 1). Actiq provides median peak fentanyl blood levels in 20-40 minutes (range of 20-480 minutes) when the unit is consumed over a 15-minute period and fentanyl is absorbed by a combination of transmucosal and gastrointestinal absorption.

Concern has been raised that *Actiq* may be perceived as a lollipop. Because of the design of the *Actiq* unit and its drug delivery characteristics, steps will be taken in an effort to minimize the risk of accidental poisoning, inappropriate use and diversion.

2.1-_Actiq Unit

The *Actiq* unit consists of an opaque, white to off-white drug matrix that has been opacified and colored to make it look less appealing to children. Its handle has been designed with a "paddle" with a molded "Rx" in the center to identify it as a product for medical use. Additionally, on the back side of the paddle the word "fentanyl" is clearly visible.

The Actiq unit complies with current drug imprinting requirements (see 21 CFR §206.10, Imprinting of Solid Oral Dosage Form Products for Human Use). The handle carries

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)**19-084**FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

ļ

<u>77</u>19 CONFIDENTIAL

legible, laser-engraved product identification information (<u>ie</u>, microgram content of active drug, product code, <u>manufacturerAbbott</u> logo, and "fentanyl") in 9 point, charcoal-gray type on a pure white background. <u>The laser-engraved imprint on the handle is intended to provide immediate documentation of drug and dose in the event of an accidental poisoning</u>.

19-

Actiq Risk Management Program<u>(RMP)</u> 085 FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98<u>ebruary 9, 1999</u>

19-086Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only



2.2—Actiq Child-Resistant Pouch

• See Figures 2 and 3.

Each Actiq unit is individually sealed in its own child-resistant pouch. The Actiq pouch is made of a heavy, multi-layer laminated foil material and requires scissors to open. It meets the specifications provided in the Poison Prevention Packaging Act. The child-resistant testing was conducted in compliance with the Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970, 16 CFR §1700, cited in the Federal Register (Volume 38, No. 151, August 7, 1973). This package passed the child resistance test protocol with a 99% effectiveness rating, exceeding the 80% requirement.

Individual child-resistant packaging (one dosage unit in each pouch) is intended to minimize exposure by limiting access to just one unit at a time.

The pouch is opaque. A child cannot see the unit when it is in its pouch. The pouch does not resemble food or most candy wrappers.

The dosage strength of each unit is marked on each handle, and on the foil pouch and shelf carton. The colors are a secondary aid in product identification.

Gray	200 mcg
Blue	400 mcg
Orange	600 mcg
Purple	800 mcg
Green	1200 mcg
Burgundy	1600 mcg

The front of each pouch utilizes an icon to draw attention to warnings about child safety and opioid tolerance, standard product identification information is also included on the front of the pouch (see Attachment 2). The back of each pouch contains the same icon, plain-language warnings about child safety and proper product storage, and a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet.

The front of each pouch contains the CII symbol, a "May be habit forming" warning. and an "Rx only" warning.

19- 087

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999 <u>1010</u> <u>CONFIDENTIAL</u> <u>-----[Insert figure 2--pouch front]</u>

> Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19–** C88 FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98<u>ebruary 9, 1999</u>

I

<u>1111</u>9 CONFIDENTIAL [Insert figure 3 – pouch back]

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)**19-089**FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98
ebruary 9, 1999

2.3—_Actiq Shelf Carton

The Actiq shelf carton includes labeling messages targeting all three at-risk populations (Figure 4, 6 pages Attachment 3). The shelf carton contains strong warnings prominently and redundantly displayed on the front and back pharmacy label space on the back of the shelf carton.

- The front of the shelf carton has a conspicuous icon calling attention to warnings about child safety, and a reminder to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. There is also a warning about appropriate patient selection.
- The right hand side of the back of the shelf carton contains a designated location for the application of the pharmacy-dispensing label. A checklist for the pharmacist is included in this space. The checklist reminds the pharmacist to make sure the patient is already taking opioids chronically, to counsel the patient about child safety, to encourage the patient to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet, and to discuss the *Actiq* Welcome Kit, and to counsel the patient about disposal of partially consumed units.

Kit.

- prominent instructions on what to do in case of an accidentalOn the left hand side of the back of the shelf carton an icon calls attention to prominent warnings about child safety, the need for appropriate patient selection (opioid tolerance), the importance of appropriate disposal of partially consumed units, and a reminder to read the Actiq Patient Leaflet., and Below this space are prominent instructions on what to do in case of an accidental exposure.
- On the top of the shelf carton is another reminder for the patient or caregiver to read the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet .

At the initiation of *Actiq* therapy, it is recommended that physicians prescribe an initial supply of six 200 mcg units. At each new dose of *Actiq* during titration, it is recommended that only six units of the next higher dose be prescribed to limit the potential for left over units in the home.

The most prominent front panel warnings will be provided in Spanish in sticker form to pharmacies upon request. As additional languages are identified, appropriate stickers will be developed and distributed in a similar fashion.

Each shelf carton contains eight strips of three pouches, for a total of 24 pouches of a single strength of *Actiq*. The shelf carton represents approximately a ten day to two-week supply of *Actiq* after the appropriate dose has been established via titration. Except for the top panel, all printed panels of the shelf carton contain the CII symbol.

19- 090

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

ſ

<u>1313</u>49 CONFIDENTIAL

Insert Figure 4-1

19- 091

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

<u>1414</u>19 CONFIDENTIAL

Insert figure 4-2

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98cbruary 9, 1999 **3**2

 \backslash
<u>1515</u> CONFIDENTIAL

- -

-

Insert figure 4-3

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)**19-** (P3)FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

Insert figure 4-4

19- 094

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98<u>ebruary 9, 1999</u>

171719 CONFIDENTIAL

Insert-figure 4-5

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19–** 095 FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

Insert figure 4-6

19-096Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)
FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

<u>1919</u> CONFIDENTIAL

2.4—_Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units

It is important to limit the availability of unused and partially consumed units in the home. Warnings are placed on the shelf cartons to remind patients to properly dispose of partially consumed units. The following steps will be taken to reduce the availability of unused and partially consumed units by (1) the provision of multiple dosage strengths, (2) proportional pricing, and (3) directions for titration and prescribing.

2.4.1-_Multiple Dosage Strengths

Actiq will be made available in six dosage strengths (200, 400, 600, 800, 1200, 1600 mcg units) so that patients can be titrated to the unit strength which provides adequate relief with acceptable side effects. The directions to both healthcare professionals and patients clearly state that Actiq dosage units are to be completely consumed.

2.4.2–Pricing

Pricing of *Actiq* will provide proportionality on a per mcg basis. This pricing plan is an attempt to minimize the economic incentive to partially consume an *Actiq* unit and save the remainder for a future breakthrough cancer pain episode, reducing the potential risk to children.

2.4.3—Prescribing Directions

As per the *Actiq* titration instructions, the initial recommended prescription size is six units of the 200 mcg dose. If a patient requires a higher dose, the titration instructions recommend a second prescription of six units of the 400 mcg dose. This process of prescribing six units of the next highest available dosage form is recommended until the appropriate dose is found.

The package insert contains specific instructions recommending that physicians prescribe a small quantity (6 units) for titration and/or dosage adjustment in an effort to minimize the number of units in the home.

3.0 Labeling

3.1-_CII (Schedule II Classification)

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration places very specific controls on the storage, distribution, accountability, prescribing and usage of scheduled products (see 21 CFR §1301). *Actiq* will be a CII product, consistent with other strong opioids such as fentanyl, morphine, oxycodone, and hydromorphone-based products. CII is the most restrictive classification available, and raises the overall level of vigilance and surveillance by all parties involved with the product. These restrictions include:

• strongest tracking and controls throughout the distribution system (DEA Form 222 required for all transactions)

19-	097	Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)
		FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98cbruary 9, 1999

202019 CONFIDENTIAL

- 100%-drug accountability by individual count is requiredstrict accountability of finished units
- most stringent physical storage requirements
- no refills allowed, triplicate prescriptions may be required in some states
- registered pharmacist is required to <u>ensurecheck for</u> a legitimate medical purpose before dispensing

Actiq's The status of Actiq as a CII product is the primary risk management element against the third potential risk event -- the potential for diversion and/or abuse. It is important to note, however, that simply the fact that a product is CII raises the level of attention devoted to the prescribing and dispensing of the product by all parties involved in the process and that this is expected to also reduce the risk of accidental ingestion and prescribing for opioid non-tolerant patients because of this heightened awareness.

3.2—_Patient Leaflet

A Patient Leaflet has been written for *Actiq*, and three<u>four</u> copies will be packaged in every shelf carton (<u>RMPsee</u> Attachment <u>14</u>). Extra copies will be broadly distributed for use by physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers, and patients. The leaflet will be included in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit and in other direct to patient communication and educational programs. It will be available in Spanish as well.

- The first page of the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet contains a strong boxed warning and redundant child warning with graphics for emphasis.
- The Actiq Patient Leaflet explicitly addresses, in plain language, preventing access by children. These messages include:
 - Child Safety messages
 - safe storage instructions for whole and partially consumed units
 - Disposal directions for used and unused units and a 1-800 number for additional disposal assistance. Patients calling the 1-800 number will receive a more personalized "walk through" of disposal instructions. If additional assistance is required, callers will be referred to their local DEA office for information.
- It contains emergency information on what should be done in case of accidental ingestion by a child or any opioid non-tolerant person.
 - a prompt to call 911 if the patient or child is not awake and alert
 - a prompt to call <u>1-800 POISON CONTROL Poison Control at 1-800-690-3924</u> if the patient or child is awake
 - instructions for care of the patient or child who is having trouble breathing or not breathing at all
- It contains proper patient selection messages
- Strong language has been used throughout the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. In all warning statements, the word "must" is used instead of the word "should." The warning



212119 CONFIDENTIAL

language "can be harmful or fatal to a child" and "can cause injury or death in people who are not already taking prescription opioid pain medicines. ..." is used.

• (narcotic) pain medicines ... " is

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19–** (C99 FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

3.3-Package Insert <u>used</u>.

3.3 Package Insert

The Actiq Package Insert (PI) [see RMP Attachment 2], clearly and explicitly communicates messages about child safety, proper patient selection, and prevention of diversion and abuse (see RMP Attachment 3)5). These messages (see Attachment 6) are important elements of the RMP. The PI highlights the serious risks associated with Actiq use and mandates that the healthcare professional must become involved in the process of educating patients and home caregivers. The key elements in the PI include:

- Indication: *Actiq* is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are <u>already receiving and who are tolerant to</u> <u>opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain</u>.
- Black box warnings, which are:

PHYSICIANS AND OTHER HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS MUST BECOME FAMILIAR WITH THE IMPORTANT WARNINGS IN THIS LABEL.

Actiq is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are <u>already receiving and</u> who are tolerant to opioid therapy for their <u>underlying persistent</u> cancer pain. Patients considered opioid tolerant are those who are taking at

least 60.60 mg morphine/day, $50 \mu mcg$ transdermal fentanyl/hour, or an equianalgesic dose of another opioid for a week or longer.

Because life-threatening hypoventilation could occur at any dose in patients not taking chronic opiates, *Actiq* is contraindicated in the management of acute or postoperative pain. This product <u>must_not</u> be used in opioid non-tolerant patients.

Actiq is intended to be used only in the care of cancer patients <u>and</u> only by oncologists and pain specialists who are knowledgeable of and skilled in the use of Schedule II opioids to treat cancer pain.

Patients and their care-givers must be instructed that Actiq contains a medicine in an amount which can be fatal to a child. Patients and their caregivers must be instructed to keep all units out of the reach of children and to discard opened units properly.

- Titration instructions which minimize the number of units in the home
- Detailed safe home handling and storage
- Detailed instructions for disposal of used and unused units
- CII designation

4.0 Professional Medical Education

19-100Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)
FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

Anesta and Abbott will work in conjunction with FDA (through the Office of Health Affairs) in interfacing with licensing boards and professional associations on the development of and dissemination of educational materials related to *Actiq*.

4.1—_Key Message Points

The education of physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients on the safe use of *Actiq* is an integral part of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program. These educational messages are drawn directly from the *Actiq* Package Insert. The key safety messages, which have been described earlier in section 1.1 of this RMP, include:

- Child safety messages
- Proper patient selection messages
- Prevention of diversion and abuse messages

The educational programs for physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients will also reinforce the following:

- Process for titration to an effective dose
- Proper (total) consumption of the product
- Proper storage and disposal of the product
- Efficacy and side effects of the product
- Basic Life Support training and potential for certain families to be trained in the treatment of accidental narcotic overdose including antagonist therapy.

These key educational messages, primarily focusing on safety, will be provided to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists through the communication vehicles, which are discussed on the following pages.

4.2—_Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education ——Monograph

This monograph is written by nurses who participated in the *Actiq* clinical trials. It contains specific information about breakthrough cancer pain and the *Actiq* key safety messages. It will be distributed via direct mail and the sales force. This publication has also received Oncology Nursing Society CEU certification for 3.5 hours of continuing education. This as well as all educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

4.3—_The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs

Prior to product launch, Anesta and Abbott will formally train the following professionals on all aspects of *Actiq* consistent with the package insert, particularly the RMP elements (Attachment 26):

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

- Approximatelyt least 50 prominent physician educators in pain management
- Approximatelyt least 50 prominent nurse educators in pain management
- Approximatelyt least 25 prominent pharmacist educators in pain management

These groups will then be called upon to educate their respective peers and patients via presentations in local, state, regional, and national settings.

4.4–_Publications

Anesta and Abbott will publish articles, in peer-reviewed journals, messages that will<u>Manuscripts will be submitted to peer-reviewed journals for consideration. They will include messages that reinforce elements of this RMP. The publications selected<u>manuscripts selected for publication</u> are those that combine a specific focus into the key cancer pain management audience, as well as other healthcare groups who make up the RMP target audience.</u>

4.4.1-Broad-Based Publications

- Journal of the National Cancer Institute (circulation 10,000+)
- Journal of Pain and Symptom Management (circulation 10,000)
- Journal of Clinical Oncology (circulation 20,000)
- Anesthesia and Analgesia (circulation 5,000)
- Seminars in Oncology (circulation 10,000)
- Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 3,000)
- Oncology Times (circulation 20,000)
- Cancer for the Clinician (circulation 10,000)

4.4.2-__Pharmaceutical Compendia

Pharmaceutical compendia will serve physicians, nurses, and pharmacists in several ways. The compendia regularly send out updates to inform about new products. The circulation numbers for each of these publications, although proprietary, are believed to be greater than 50,000 per publication. Abbott and Anesta will have *Actiq* listed in each of the following well-known compendia:

- Physician's Desk Reference (PDR)
- American Hospital Formulary Service (AHFS)
- Facts and Comparisons

In cases where material is excerpted from the Package Insert, Anesta will contact these publications to request increased emphasis on the RMP elements.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19– 102** FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

252519 CONFIDENTIAL 4.4.3—Major Nursing Journals

- American Journal of Nursing (circulation 250,000+)
- American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 100,000+)
- Nurse Practitioner (circulation 100,000+)
- Home Health Care Nurse (circulation 25,000+)
- Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing (circulation 20,000+)
- Seminars in Oncology Nursing (circulation 6,000+)
- Oncology Nursing Forum (circulation 20,000+)
- RN Magazine (circulation 200,000+)

4.4.4-_Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters

- The Oncology Nursing Society Newsletter
- Local ONS chapter newsletters
- Oncology Nursing Society computer mail announcements
- State board of nursing newsletters
- State Cancer Pain Initiative mailings

4.4.5-Major Pharmacy Journals

- U.S. Pharmacist (circulation 100,000+)
- Drug Topics /Hospital Pharmacist's Report (circulation 100,000+)
- Formulary (circulation 100,000+)
- Journal of the Association of Healthsystem Pharmacists (circulation 70,000+)
- Journal of the American Pharmaceutical Association (circulation 48,000+)
- Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy (circulation 40,000+)

4.4.6—Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic)

Abbott and Anesta will incorporate request that the *Actiq* key safety messages and new product reviews <u>be incorporated</u> into the newsletters of various national, regional, state and local pharmacy organizations including:

- The Pharmacist's Letter (circulation 100,000+)
- Chain drugstore newsletters and electronic updates
 - CVS- 4,000 stores
 - RiteAid 3,000 stores
 - Walgreens 2,200 stores
- State board of pharmacy newsletters

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

262619 CONFIDENTIAL 4.5—Communication with DEA

Information on proper disposal of *Actiq* will be provided to the DEA for use by their field offices on an as requested basis. Background and training materials will be designed in concert with the Office of Diversion Control, Policy Liaison at DEA headquarters and will be distributed to all DEA field offices.

.

104Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

272719 CONFIDENTIAL

5.0 Actiq Launch Program

•

---- ---

Actiq will target a relatively small group of clinicians. The emphasis of the promotion will be highly educational.

All educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

19- 105

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

- - - - - -

5.1—_Target Audience

The target physician audience for *Actiq* is a group of approximately 5,000 oncologists and pain specialists, their nurses and office staff. These physicians are already using CII opioids to treat cancer pain, are generally knowledgeable about breakthrough cancer pain, and should understand the appropriate use of *Actiq* for opioid tolerant cancer patients.

Since the majority of *Actiq* use is anticipated to be in the oncology outpatient setting, the pharmacist will play an important gate keeping role in the *Actiq* RMP by screening for proper patient selection (opioid tolerant cancer patients only) and by providing information on safe product use and handling to patients and caregivers.

Please note the entire universe of practicing oncologists, oncology nurses and pharmacists will receive the key messages through some of the broad-based communication vehicles described in the Professional Education section of this document.

5.2 <u>The Actiq</u> <u>The Oncology</u> Specialist (Abbott Sales Organization)

Abbott will place approximately 40 full time *Actiq* Specialistspproximately 40 full time <u>Oncology Specialists will be placed</u> in the field to personally call on the target audience. The *ActiqOncology* Specialists will be the primary, day to day link to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists who will be using the product. The *ActiqOncology* Specialists will play a key role in implementing the RMP.

Each *AetiqOncology* Specialist must be certified on *Actiq* via a rigorous product education and sales training program. This program begins with four home-study modules, which explicitly spell out the three groups of key safety messages. The home study modules are followed by two weeks of in-house training at Abbott corporate headquarters and at least one week of training in the field with a field trainer or seasoned field manager. This program is designed to clearly communicate the key safety messages and Abbott expectations regarding sales activity in the field. Importantly, *ActiqOncology* Specialists will be tested prior to being certified to discuss *Actiq*.

In the approximately 3 months between product approval and product availability, the *ActiqOncology* Specialists will personally call on 1,000 of the 2,000 pharmacies dispensing the largest volume of CII products. In these calls they will educate the pharmacist on all safety issues and enlist their assistance as gatekeepers. The second group of 1,000 high CII dispensing pharmacies will be called on by the *ActiqOncology* Specialist in the first three months post product launch with the same messages.

Pharmacies not included in the initial target group will be offered opportunities to obtain additional information through several elements of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program, including: Dear Pharmacist letter, pharmacy direct mail services, pharmacy journal advertising, pharmacy newsletters, and pharmaceutical compendia. These programs will all provide access to the 1-800 number and website for additional information about *Actiq*. In addition, the group of pharmacies and health care practitioners serving rural areas will be the target of a post approval commitment to better understand and meet their unique needs through an educational outreach program.

Upon hiring, each Specialist will receive a letter outlining his responsibilities. This letter will stress the requirement to limit the promotion of *Actiq* to the approved indication, discourage off-label use, direct the specialist to promote only to the target audiences, describe the serious consequences of violating this policy, and reinforce the three key messages of the RMP. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19– 106** FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

_ ____

ļ

292919 CONFIDENTIAL

Moreover, the compensation program for *ActiqOncology* Specialists will direct them to promote into only the target audience.

In their personal calls to physicians, nurses, and pharmacists, the ActiqOncology Specialist will demonstrateiscuss a variety of educational material which may include:

- Package insert and patient leaflet
- Actiq safety video
- Actiq CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists
- Actiq Internet site
- Central 1-800 poison control number
- The Actiq Welcome Kit

All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.3-Detail Aids

Detail aids for *Actiq* will emphasize the three key safety messages. To ensure consistent attention to the key safety messages, all "leave behind" detail aids will also prominently display the detail flag. This flag as well as all other promotional materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.4—_Direct Mail

All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.4.1-_Actiq Professional Information Kit

Upon product launch, the target physician group will receive an Actiq Information Kit including:

- Actiq Package Insert and Actiq Patient Leaflet
- Actiq Safety video designed for patients which covers
 - child safety
 - patient selection (opioid tolerance)
 - titration
 - storage
 - disposal
 - emergency care
- Information on accessing the 1-800 number, the *Actiq* internet site and Physician CD-ROM program all of which are designed to provide additional information
- Information on how to obtain the Actiq Welcome Kit

19-	107	Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)
13-		FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

<u>303019</u> CONFIDENTIAL 5.4.2—The Dear Doctor Letter

Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered physicians in the U.S. will be conducted. This letter will reinforce the three key messages (child safety, proper patient selection and prevention of diversion and abuse) and encourage the appropriate physicians to mail in an enclosed business reply card and/or to visit the *Actiq* internet site for more information. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue.

5.4.3—_The Dear Pharmacist Letter

Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered pharmacists in the U.S. will be conducted. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue. This letter will reinforce proper patient selection and child safety messages and encourage the pharmacists to mail in the enclosed business reply card and/or visit the *Actiq* internet site for more detailed information.

5.4.4—Pharmacy Direct Mail Services

Information to pharmacists using pharmacy direct mail services will prominently feature the three key safety messages. All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

5.5-__Multimedia Programs

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

5.5.1-_Actiq CD-ROM Program

A CD-ROM will be developed and made available to all *Actiq* target audiences. It will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. A detailed schematic of the separate CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists is presented in-RMP Attachment 47. This program will be available via mass direct mail, the *ActiqOncololgy* Specialist and the *Actiq* internet site.

5.5.2—Actiq Internet Site

An *Actiq* internet site will be made available to all *Actiq* target audiences. This will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. Sections will be targeted at physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients and caregivers.

5.5.3—Emergency 911

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19– 108** FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98<u>ebruary 9, 1999</u>

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TEVA_CHI_00049356 P-11326 _ 00124

This number will be prominently featured in all patient education and promotional materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed and the patient or childerson (eg, a child) is not awake and alert or is breathing slowly.

5.5.4-_Central 1-800 Poison Control Number

A single 1-800 telephone number will be established at the Rocky Mountain Poison Control Center to receive all US emergency calls for *Actiq*. Having a central number allows for a focused, well-trained staff to be able to deliver a consistent message to patients and caregivers. It also provides for a near real-time surveillance of all poison control calls and an opportunity for timely analysis of any trends. This number will be prominently featured in all patient education and promopatient educational materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed, and the patienterson (eg, a child) is awake and alert.

6.0 Patient and Caregiver Education

6.1—_The Actiq Welcome Kit

Upon launch, the 5,000 target oncologists and pain specialists will receive a supply of the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. The *Actiq* Welcome Kit will include the following items:

- Child Safety Lock a magnetic lock to secure almost any existing household cabinet or drawer for the storage of *Actiq* and other medications (Figure 5Attachment 8).
- Secure Personal Container a lockable pouch with a waistband (a fanny pack) will be provided so the patient can safely and conveniently store a day or two supply of *Actiq*. This pouch can be secured directly to the patient or to patient's bed or chair (Figure 6Attachment 9).
- Child-Resistant <u>Temporary</u> Storage Container an opaque container featuring easyentry, but child-resistant removal. A warning decal will be attached to the outside of each container. This bottle will fit into the secure personal container (fanny pack) and will be used to secure completely and/or partially used *Actiq* units (should they exist) until the patient or caregiver can properly dispose of them (Figure 7<u>Attachment 10</u>). Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and wherever *Actiq* is dispensed.
- Patient Leaflet
- Home Warning Stickers and Magnet (detail in section 6.3)
- Children's Booklet (detail in section 6.4)
- Emergency treatment information
- A brightly colored flyer with a special alert to families with young children

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

Every Actiq patient will receive a free Welcome Kit from his or her physician or via a 1-800 number. The kit and ordering information for it are described in the Patient Leaflet. Target pharmacists will be given an Actiq Welcome Kit by an ActiqOncology Specialist and briefed on how patients can obtain them.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

Several components of the Welcome Kit--the Patient Leaflet and the Child Safety booklet -will be available in Spanish, and will be distributed in those geographical areas with high Hispanic populations. These will be available on request through the 1-800 <u>number</u>.

> Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19– 110** FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98<u>ebruary 9, 1999</u>



| | Insert-Figure 5-child safety lock

> Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19– 111** FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

9

Insert Figure 6 fanny pack

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TEVA_CHI_00049360 P-11326_00128

.



Insert Figure 7 child resistant storage container

.

19- 113

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

6.2—Patient Oriented Actiq Safety Video

A detailed patient oriented safety video will be made available to practitioners and patients to communicate the following messages:

- Child safety messages
- Proper patient selection messages
- Product storage and handling in the home
- Product titration
- Product disposal
- Emergency instructions

This video will be mailed to the offices of the target physicians and will also be available to physicians and patients through the <u>ActiqOncology</u> Specialist or 1-800 number. This video will be available in either English or Spanish.

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

6.3-_Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet

An Actiq specific home warning sticker and refrigerator magnet will be distributed to all Actiq patients through the Actiq Welcome Kit. This sticker/magnet is to be placed around the home in high visibility areas and on the telephone. They will provide warnings for child safety and proper patient selection and contain emergency instructions for calling 911 and the central 1-800 poison control number.

6.4—_Children's Booklet

A child-friendly booklet designed by the National SAFEKIDS Campaign in collaboration with the chairperson of the public education committee of the American Association of Poison Control Centers, Gail Banach, M.S.Ed., to be read and <u>to</u> be understood by younger children will be distributed. This book has been developed at a 2nd to 3rd4th grade reading level. Older children may read it on their own. The primary goal of this booklet is to educate children on safe handling of all medicines including *Actiq*. The booklet will use simplistic language, realistic graphics and will be interactive to maximize the child's learning. This booklet will be made available in English or Spanish in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit and in the offices of all target physicians and pharmacists.

All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

7.0 Point Of Dispensing Interventions

The following activities will be implemented at the *Actiq* points of dispensing. Product samples will <u>not</u> be made available.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)**19–114**FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

373719 CONFIDENTIAL

7.1—_Pharmacy Software Systems - Precaution Software

In order to prompt the pharmacist to inquire about the presence of children in the home and to verify opioid tolerance of the patient, *Actiq* warnings will be placed in the vendors of major commercial pharmacy precaution software will be asked to place *Actiq* warnings in their systems being used in the U.S. and its territories. Participating software systems will cover approximately 90% of the data systems in the U.S. pharmacy market.

Examples of pharmacisty warning screens and electronically produced patient information sheets are provided as Attachment 511.

7.2-__The Actiq Welcome Kit

This kit (previously described) will be personally presented to all targeted retail pharmacies by an *ActiqOncology* Specialist and will be made available to any pharmacist upon request. The pharmacist will be encouraged to explain to the patient how they can obtain a free *Actiq* Welcome Kit, if they do not already have one, either directly from their physician or via a 1-800 number. Directions to obtain the *Actiq* Welcome Kit are also provided in the Patient Leaflet.

In addition to being enclosed in each *Actiq* shelf carton, the Patient Leaflet will be distributed in quantity to all target pharmacists by the Abbott *ActiqOncology* Specialists and be made available to any pharmacist upon request. The package (eg. back panel of shelf carton) and the computer program screen will prompt the pharmacist to go over the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet with every new *Actiq* patient. The Patient Leaflet will also be provided in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. Where possible (e.g.g, the *Actiq* Internet site and CD-ROM), the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet will be made available electronically.

7.3-__Temporary Storage Container

Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and wherever *Actiq* is dispensed.

8.0 Surveillance Goals And Activities

The goals of the Actiq Surveillance and Monitoring Program are to:

- determine the effectiveness of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program by monitoring the potential incidence and outcome of child accidental ingestion, potential product use among opioid non-tolerant populations, off-label use, and possible diversion and abuse
- trigger intervention when problems are discovered
- make modifications to the *Actiq* Risk Management Program to improve its effectiveness

The following pages summarize the various means by which *Actiq* use and safety data will be collated and analyzed. (In the event that any of these pharmacy organizations are unable to participate in this program, Abbott/Anesta will commit to substituting another potential supplier to broaden our sample in a timely manner.)

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) 115 19-FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98cbruary 9, 1999

383819 CONFIDENTIAL 8.1-__Direct Patient Feedback

8.1.1-_Chain Pharmacy Call Back System

A call back system will be used to directly query *Actiq* patients. Under this program, patients who receive an *Actiq* prescription at a participating pharmacy will receive a follow-up phone call by a company pharmacist. During this call, the following information will be collected:

- Did the patient receive an Actiq Welcome Kit?
- Was the patient already on a strong opioid when they received the *Actiq* prescription?
- Was the patient or caregiver provided with the appropriate safety messages?
- What titration process has been used to this point?
- Are there any children in the home or with access to the home?
- How is the patient or caregiver storing and disposing of the product?
- Provide a child safety reminder.

The partners included in this system include RiteAid, Eckerd, Walgreens, and the Merck Medco system. This program will capture real time trends of inappropriate patient selection and child safety issues during the first year of sales, interviewing up to 1,000 patients per chain who fill *Actiq* prescriptions in each of these pharmacies.

This program will provide timely and specific data on actual patients in a significant, geographically distributed population sample as Walgreen, RiteAid and Eckerd stores are well-distributed throughout the country, and the Merck Medco mail order system is one of the largest in the U.S.

After the first year of the call back programs, the firm and the FDA may agree to discontinue the call back programs if it can be established that there is no longer a need.

8.2—_Prescription Monitoring

8.2.1-_IMS Xponent

Prescription data will be routinely monitored. The source of this data will be IMS Xponent, the largest sample available of *Actiq* prescriptions, segmented by physician specialty to determine prescribing trends. The IMS Xponent data sample represents prescriptions from over one million prescribers and over 35,000 retail pharmacies. Additionally, IMS Xponent captures 60 million mail order prescriptions per year. This data providesese data provide the prescriber's name, the physician specialty and zip code. Thisese data will be analyzed by comparing the proportion of prescriptions being written by specialties such as hematologists/oncologists (appropriate patient selection) to usage by specialties such as surgeons (inappropriate patient selection). Abbott will receive IMS Xponent data 28 days after the end of each month. Therefore, data will be between 28-58 days current.

19- 116

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

8.2.2—IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index

National prescription data segmented by physician specialty and by indication from IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index (NDTI) will be analyzed. An example of an NDTI data sheet is attached as <u>RMP(see</u> Attachment 612). These data will be reported to the FDA on a quarterly basis as described in section 10.0.

8.2.3-Wholesaler Data

Per the FDA's previous agreement with Abbott Laboratories, *Actiq* will not be sold directly to retail pharmacy outlets, but will be sold only to DEA hospital and distribution registrants.

Through its chargeback system, Abbott will receive information on retail pharmacy sales from drug wholesalers. This information will be shared with the *ActiqOncology* Specialist. The *ActiqOncology* Specialist will follow-up with these pharmacies to ensure that they are employing the "Point of Dispensing" interventions described previously.

Additionally, every two months an Abbott Trade Sales Specialist (wholesaler representative) will call on the high volume *Actiq* wholesalers. This person will reinforce appropriate product usage and confirm the accuracy of the high volume *Actiq* pharmacy listing on which the *Actiq* Specialists are visitingquest information on any additional pharmacies which need to be added to the list. Information from the Abbott Trade Specialists' meetings with wholesalers will be shared with the *Actiq*Oncology Specialists for follow-up.

The sponsor will monitor for compliance to the RMP "Point of Dispensing" and report violations to the FDA quarterly along with any interventions made as a result.

8.3–_Adverse Events

8.3.1-_Abbott Standard Operating Procedure

Abbott has established specific procedures to respond to serious adverse events, which may be associated with *Actiq*.

A toll-free number will be staffed to receive adverse event reports. This system can be accessed 24 hours a day. Reports can be logged by clinicians, pharmacists, home caregivers, patients, sales representatives or others. All reports are logged into a computer database and investigated.

All serious events <u>ny adverse event</u>, as defined by current federal regulations, receives immediate investigation and follow-up by Abbott. The details of this procedure are summarized below.

- a) The incident report is reviewed by the Actiq Incident Review Team and an action plan is developan investigation team, and an investigation is initiated. This group remains responsible for oversight of the process and for briefing senior management as the investigation proceeds.
- b) An investigation team is assigned and contact made with The medical experience analyst assigned contacts the reporting entity as soon as possible. On-site investigation is implemented if deemed necessary.

19-

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **117** FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

<u>4040</u>19 CONFIDENTIAL

- c)—The investigation team report conclusions are reported to the Incident Review Team, which consults with senior management to determine if corrective action should be recommended and/or taken.
- c) A schematic of the Incident Review Team and process is attached as RMP Attachment 7medical investigation conclusions are discussed with Anesta to determine reportability.

8.3.2-_Special Safety Commitments

Reports of all serious adverse events to the FDA will be made in accordance with current Federal Regulations. Based on an agreement between FDA and the sponsor, the following type of adverse experiences will also be reported to the FDA within 15 days:

- Any unintended pediatric exposure, whether or not serious and whether or not unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."
- Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of diversion (i.e.e., use by an individual other than for whom it was prescribed), whether or not the experience is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."
- Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of "off label use" (i.e.e., that is used outside of the approved indication for *Actiq*) whether or not the experiences is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."

Definitions of "serious adverse drug experiences," "adverse drug experience," "unexpected adverse drug experiences," and "15-day Alert report," are stated in 21 CFR §314.80. These Special Safety commitments are in addition to the requirement for reporting of adverse experiences set down in 21 CFR §314.80. The above apply to reports from any source (e.g.g. call-in, literature, poison control centers, etc).

8.3.3—Literature Monitoring

In addition to specific event reporting, Abbott maintains a system to monitor the literature for adverse events. This review is conducted monthly or at the time a specific literature citation is reported. Any significant findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR §314.80).

8.4—_Poisoning and Overdose

Quarterly reports to FDA will include poison information, trends, and interventions derived from the following sources:

8.4.1-_Central 1-800 Poison Control Number

19-

A single 1-800 telephone number will be established to receive emergency calls when *Actiq* has potentially been accidentally ingested and the patient or child is awake and alert. This system allows a near real time surveillance of all poison control calls. This number will be

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)**118**FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98cbruary 9, 1999

.

.

highly publicized in all patient education materials. Any significant findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR §314.80).

19- 119

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP)**119**FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

8.4.2 <u>Toxic Exposures</u> <u>Toxic Exposure</u> Surveillance System (TESS)

TESSoxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS) reports all contacts with U.S. Poison Control Centers. This database will be monitored for *Actiq* exposures. Thisese data is are available once yearly and will be included in the analysis for FDA quarterly reports.

8.5–_Abuse

Quarterly reports to FDA will include information, trends, and interventions derived from the following sources:

8.5.1-_Routine Abbott Interaction with DEA

Abbott Laboratories Corporate Regulatory Affairs maintains a proactive program to identify possible product diversion. Abbott routinely visits DEA District offices with jurisdiction over Abbott distribution facilities to review information on the potential "street use" of Abbott products. In addition, an interactive relationship has been developed so that Abbott is alerted to specific instances. Any incident is investigated and resolved in conjunction with thebbott will cooperate with DEA and state drug control authorities' investigations, as requested.

8.5.2—Abbott Exceptions System

Actiq will be added to Abbott's exception reporting system to the DEA. Under this system, any orders that exceed the norm by two or more standard deviations are reported to the DEA for follow-up and investigation.

8.5.3—Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)

The Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN) is an ongoing national survey of non-federal, short-stay general hospitals that have a 24-hour emergency department (ED). A representative sample of these hospital EDs submit data, and national estimates of ED drug episodes or drug mentions are generated for all such hospitals. The DAWN system also collects data on drug-related deaths from a nonrandom sample of medical examiners located in 41 metropolitan areas. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) division of the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) supports DAWN. This database will also be monitored to identify issues which have not surfaced through standard DEA interactions.

8.5.4—State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of _____Pharmacy

Reports of diversion or abuse received from state drug control authorities will be investigated and submitted to the FDA as part of the quarterly report.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

8.6-__Promotional Message Audit

Promotional message testing at six month intervals following product launch will be conducted to ensure that <u>ActiqOncology</u> Specialists are accurately delivering the key safety messages. This will be accomplished via telephone interviews or paper questionnaires with physicians that are prescribing <u>Actiq</u> and have been called on by the <u>Actiq sOncology</u> <u>Specialist</u>. Where necessary, sales representatives will be re-trained and/or disciplined to ensure compliance with the targeted, focused launch/promotional plan.

9.0 Intervention

9.1–_Off-Label Usage

9.1.1—Individual Prescribers

Whenever a problem of off-label usage becomes known and individual prescribers are identified, the following activities will take place:

- 1) A letter from Abbott's Medical Department will be sent to all identified prescribers to emphasize the approved indication and appropriate patient selection. The letter must have FDA revisionsew and approval before it is issued.
- Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physicians in question. If a problem persists, an ActiqOncology Specialist will visit the physician/s to gather information and remind them of appropriate prescribing of Actiq.

9.1.2-Groups of Prescribers

If groups of physicians (such as a particular specialty) are identified as having prescribed *Actiq* inappropriately, and these prescriptions represent potential off-label usage greater than 15% of total quarterly *Actiq* prescriptions, Abbott will contact the appropriate professional society (i.e.g., American College of Surgeons, American Society of Anesthesiologists). This letter will outline prescribing concerns and offer to implement an educational program in conjunction with the professional society in a national setting.

Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physician groups in question and should the level continue to exceed 15% of total *Actiq* prescriptions for $2 \pm w_0$ additional quarters, an aggressive educational program will be initiated by mail clearly warning of the potential liabilities of prescribing *Actiq* to inappropriate patient populations.

9.2-_Accidental Ingestion

In the event of a serious child poisoning report<u>n unintended pediatric exposure</u>, Abbott will initiate the<u>ir</u> standard operating procedure for adverse events detailed in section 8.3.1 of this RMP and in RMP Attachment 7.

19- 121

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

<u>4444</u>19 CONFIDENTIAL

10.0 FDA Reporting

Adverse drug experiences will be reported in accordance with 21 CFR §314.80, with the additional commitment that unintended pediatric exposures, and any serious adverse events and deaths associated with diversion or off-label use will be handled and processed as 15-day "Alert Reports" Alert reports (see Section 8.3.2, Special Safety Commitments). In addition to the reporting requirements of 21 CFR §314.80(c), these "15-day Alert reports" will be sent to Surveillance and Monitoring (OPDRA15-day Alert reports will be sent to the Division of Prescription Drug Compliance and Surveillance (HFD-330) and the Division of Anesthetic, Critical Care, and Addiction Drug Products.

Anesta/Abbott will provide a quarterly report to the FDA compiled from all data collected by the methods described under the *Actiq* Surveillance and Monitoring Program and Interventions (see Sections 8.0 and 9.0 of this document). This report will describe and provide data on any concerns for child safety, diversion, and off-label usage. Anesta/Abbott will also describe any trends and associated interventions made as a result of concerns raised and will also describe any proposed changes to the *Actiq* Risk Management Plan. This report will be provided as part of the *Actiq* quarterly report to the NDA during the first year of marketing. The sponsor and FDA will then determine requirements for further reports and their frequency after the first year of marketing. These reports will be cumulative and contain current reports and identified safety trends.

List of Attachments

1 Actiq Patient Leaflet

2 Actiq Package Insert

- 3----- Elements of RMP to be included in Speaker Bureau Training
- 4 Actiq CD-ROM schematic
- 5Dosage Unit (example: 200 mcg)
- 2 Labeling Foil Pouch (example: 400 mcg)
- 3 Labeling Shelf Carton (example: 400 mcg)
- 4 Actiq Patient Leaflet
- 5 Actiq Package Insert
- 6 Elements of RMP to be Included in Speaker Bureau Training
- 7 Actiq CD-ROM Schematic
- 8 Child Safety Lock
- 9 Secure Personal Container (ie, "fanny pack")
- 10 Child-resistant Temporary Storage Container
- 11 Pharmacy Computer Warning screens
- 6<u>12</u> IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index example page
- 7 ----- Incident Team schematic

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) **19– 123** FDA Approved Version - 11/4/98ebruary 9, 1999

1 2		
$\frac{2}{3}$		
4	Actiq®	
5	(oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate)	
6		
7		
8	Risk Management Program	
9		
10	(February <u>91, 1999)July 20August 1, 2001</u>	
11		
12		
13		
14		
15	NDA Number: 20-747	
16		
17		
18		
19		
20		
21	Sponsor:	
22		
23	Anesta Corp.,	
24	<u>a Subsidiary of</u>	
25	Cephalon, Inc.	
26	4745 Wiley Post Way	
27 28	Plaza 6, Suite 650 Solt Lake City, UT 84116	
28 29	Salt Lake City, UT 84116 801.595.1405	
30	145 Brandywine Parkway	
31	West Chester, PA 19380	
32		I
33		
34	Marketing Partner:	
35	TIM MUMIC A MI WAVE	
36	Abbott Laboratories	
37	Hospital Products Division	
	L	

February 94. 1999

1 - 104

38 39 Abbott Park, IL 60064

1

2

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

39 40	TABLE OF CONTENTS	
4 1	1.0 INTRODUCTION	
42	1.1 Key Messages for the RMP	
43	2.0 PRODUCT DEFINITION	
44	2.1 Actiq Unit	
45	2.2 Actiq Child-Resistant-PouchBlister Package	
46	2.3 Actiq Shelf Carton	
47 48 49 50	2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units	
51	3.0 LABELING	
52	3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification)	
53	3.2 Patient Leaflet	
54	3.3 Package Insert	
55	4.0 PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL EDUCATION	
56	4.1 Key Message Points	
57	4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph	
58	4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs	
59 60 61 62 63 64 65 66	4.4 Publications 4.4.1 Broad-Based Publications 4.4.2 Pharmaceutical Compendia 4.4.3 Major Nursing Journals 4.4.4 Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters 4.4.5 Major Pharmacy Journals 4.4.6 Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic) 4.5 Communication with DEA	
67	5.0 ACT/Q LAUNCH PROGRAM	19 191814
68	5.1 Target Audience	

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

69	5.2 The Oncology Specialist (Abbott-Sales Organization)	
70	5.3 Detail Aids	
71	5.4 Direct Mail	
72	5.4.1 Actig Professional Information Kit	21212016
73	5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter	
74	5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter	
75	5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services.	
76	5.5 Multimedia Programs	
77	5.5.1 Actig CD-ROM Program	
78	5.5.2 Actiq Internet Site	
79	5.5.3 Emergency 911	
80	5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number.	23232218
81	6.0 PATIENT AND CAREGIVER EDUCATION	
82	(1 Miles 4 4 387.1-1	*** ****
82	6.1 The Actiq Welcome Kit	
83	6.2 Patient Oriented Actig Safety Video	24242310
85	0.2 Fallent Offenteu Actuq Salety Video	**************************************
84	6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet	25252419
0.		
85	6.4 Children's Booklet	
86	7.0 POINT OF DISPENSING INTERVENTIONS	
87	7.1 Pharmacy Software Systems - Precaution Software	
88	7.2 The Actig Welcome Kit	
~ ~		
89	7.3 Temporary Storage Container	
90	8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES	
91	0.1 Direct Detirect Decilies	37373234
91 92	8.1 Direct Patient Feedback	
92	8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Can Back System	
93	8.2 Prescription Monitoring	28282621
94	8.2.1 IMS Xponent.	
95	8.2.2 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index.	
96	8.2.3 Wholesaler Data	
20		a a constant a constant a constant a constant de la desta de la desta de se
97	8.3 Adverse Events	
98	8.3.1 AbbottCephalon, Inc. Standard Operating Procedure	
99	8.3.2 Special Safety Commitments	
100	8.3.3 Literature Monitoring.	
-		
101		
101	8.4 Poisoning and Overdose	
101	8.4 Poisoning and Overdose	

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

103	8.4.2 Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS)	
104	8.5 Abuse	
105	8.5.1 Routine AbbottCephalon, Inc. Interaction with DEA	
106	8.5.2 AbbottCephalon, Inc. Exceptions System	
107	8.5.32 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)	
108	8.5.43 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy	
109	8.6 Promotional Message Audit	
110	9.0 INTERVENTION	32 323125
111	9.1 Off-Label Usage	
112	9.1.1 Individual Prescribers	
113	9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers	
114	9.2 Accidental Ingestion	
115 116	10.0 FDA REPORTING	34343326
117	1.0 INTRODUCTION	
118	1.1 Key Messages for the RMP	
119	2.0 PRODUCT DEFINITION	6
120	2.1 Actiq Unit	6
121	2.2 Actiq Child-Resistant Pouch	
122	2.3 Actiq Shelf Carton	
123	2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units	8
124	2.4.1 Multiple Dosage Strengths	
125	2.4.2 Pricing	
126	2.4.3 Prescribing Directions	9
127	3.0-LABELING	9
128	3.1-CII (Schedule II Classification)	
129	3.2 Patient Leaflet	<u>و</u>
130	3.3 Package Insert	
131	4.0 PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL EDUCATION	
132	4.1 Key Message Points	

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01
133	4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph
134	4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs12
135	4.4 Publications
136	4.4.1 Broad-Based Publications
137	4.4.2 Phannaceutical Compendia
138	4.4.3 Major Nursing Journals
139	4.4.4 Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters
140	4.4.5 Major Pharmacy Journals
141	4.4.6 Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic)
142	4.5 Communication with DEA14
143	5.0 ACT/Q LAUNCH PROGRAM14
144	5.1 Target Audience14
145	5.2 The Oncology Specialist (AbbottCephalon, Inc. Sales Organization)
146	5.3 Detail Aids
147	5.4 Direct Mail
148	5.4.1 Actig Professional Information Kit
149	5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter 17
150	5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter
151	5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services 17
152	5.5 Multimedia Programs
153	5.5.1 Actig CD ROM Program.
154	5.5.2 Actig Internet Site
155	5.5.2 Frend Internet Site 117 5.5.3 Emergency 911 17
156	5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number
150	5.5.4 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number
157	6.0 PATIENT AND CAREGIVER EDUCATION
158	6.1 The Actiq Welcome Kit
159	6.2 Patient Oriented Actiq Safety Video19
160	6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet19
161	6.4 Children's Booklet
162	7.0 POINT OF DISPENSING INTERVENTIONS
163	7.1 Pharmacy Software Systems – Precaution Software
164	7.2 The Actiq Welcome Kit
165	7.3 Temporary Storage Container

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

166	8.0 SURVEILLANCE GOALS AND ACTIVITIES
167	8.1 Direct Patient Feedback
168	8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Call Back System
169	8.2 Prescription Monitoring
170	8.2.1 IMS Xponent
171	8.2.2 IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index
172	8.2.3 Wholesaler Data
173	8.3 Adverse Events
174	8.3.1 AbbottCephalon, Inc. Standard Operating Procedure
175	8.3.2 Special Safety Commitments
176	8.3.3 Literature Monitoring
177	8.4 Poisoning and Overdose
178	8.4.1 Central 1-800 Poison Control Number
179	8.4.2 Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS)
180	8.5 Abuse
181	8.5.1 Routine AbbottCephalon, Inc. Interaction with DEA
182	8.5.2 AbbottCephalon, Inc. Exceptions System
183	8.5.3 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)
184	8.5.4 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy
185	8.6 Promotional Message Audit24
186	9.0 INTERVENTION
187	9.1 Off Label Usage
188	9.1.1 Individual Prescribers
189	9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers
190	9.2 Accidental Ingestion
191	10.0 FDA REPORTING
192	

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TEVA_CHI_00049378 P-11326_00146

192	1.0	Introduction
193 194 195	The Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) has been designed to address three key potential risk situations:	
196 197	1.	accidental ingestion of Actiq by children
197 198 199 200	2.	improper patient selection (prescriptions to and usage by opioid non-tolerant patients)
201 202	3.	diversion or abuse
203 204 205 206	<u>Inc. ha</u> makin	a Corp. and Abbott Laboratories Anesta Corporation, a sSubsidiary of Cephalon, ave hass designed and developed a comprehensive program with the primary goal of g every reasonable effort to reduce the risk of potential untoward events in the nded populations to the extent possible. This program includes the following:
207	•	strong labeling for professionals, patients and caregivers
208	٠	product specific design features to increase child safety
209	•	redundant child-resistant packaging and storage containers
210	•	comprehensive professional, patient caregivers, and child educational programs
211	•	interventions at the point of dispensing
212 213	•	CII status for Actiq
213 214 215 216 217 218 219 220 221 222 223 224	Risk M reduci occur, prever	ocument provides details and implementation tactics for all elements of the <i>Actiq</i> Management Program. No single element can provide the complete answer to ng risk. A lengthy series of events must occur in sequence before a risk event can yet any one of multiple RMP elements can intervene to interrupt the sequence and at the risk event. Redundancy of program elements is one measure used to then the effectiveness of the RMP.
	The purpose of the RMP is to ensure the safe use of this product. It is not intended that - any portions of this RMP should be used in a promotional context or used to promote <i>Actiq</i> in a manner inconsistent with the product label.	
225	The R	MP and all of its components should be fully operational at the time of launch.
226 227		1.1 Key Messages for the RMP
228 229 230	For th	are several key messages repeated throughout the RMP, which are listed below. e balance of the document, these messages will be referenced simply as Child , Proper Patient Selection and Prevention of Diversion and Abuse messages.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

231 232	Child Safety Messages
233	- Actiq must be kept out of the reach of children
234	- Actiq could be harmful or fatal to a child if accidentally ingested
235	- Actiq must be properly stored and handled
236	- Actiq must be properly disposed of after use
237	- Healthcare professionals must counsel patients on child safety messages
238 239 240	- Accessible and easily understood directions on what to do in case of accidental ingestion
240 241	Proper Patient Selection Messages
242	- Definition of an opioid tolerant patient
243	- Actiq is specifically contraindicated for use in opioid non-tolerant patients
244	- Actiq is specifically contraindicated for use in acute/postoperative pain
245	- Directions on what to do in case of suspected overdose
246 247 248	- <i>Actiq</i> is specifically indicated solely for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain in chronic opioid tolerant cancer patients
248 249	• Prevention of Diversion and Abuse Messages
250	- Actiq is a CII medication
251	- <i>Actiq</i> is to be used only by the patient for whom it is dispensed
252	- Actiq may be habit forming
253 254	- Actiq requires appropriate disposal of unused medication
255	2.0 Product Definition
256 257 258 259 260 261 262	The <i>Actiq</i> unit, containing dosages of fentanyl ranging from 200 to 1600 mcg per unit, consists of a raspberry-flavored lozenge on a handle (see Attachment 1). <i>Actiq</i> provides median peak fentanyl blood levels in 20-40 minutes (range of 20-480 minutes) when the unit is consumed over a 15-minute period and fentanyl is absorbed by a combination of transmucosal and gastrointestinal absorption.
263 264 265	Concern has been raised that <i>Actiq</i> may be perceived as a lollipop. Because of the design of the <i>Actiq</i> unit and its drug delivery characteristics, steps will be taken in an effort to minimize the risk of accidental poisoning, inappropriate use and diversion.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

1 - 112

266	
267	2.1 Actiq Unit
268	
269 270	The <i>Actiq</i> unit consists of an opaque, white to off-white <u>solid</u> drug matrix that <u>appears</u> <u>medicinal has been opacified and colored</u> to make it look less appealing to children. Its-
271	handle has been designed with a "paddle" with a molded "Rx" in the center to identify it-
272	as a product for medical use. Additionally, on the back side of the paddle the word
273 274	"fentanyl" is clearly visible. The solid drug matrix and the tag at the end of the handle will indicate the dosage strength. The handle tag is intended to provide immediate
275	documentation of drug and dose in the event of an accidental poisoning. A yellow
276	triangle icon is also imprinted on the handle tag as a reminder of the child safety
277	precautions.
278	
279 280	
28 0 28 1	The Actiq unit complies with current drug imprinting requirements (see 21 CFR §206.10,
282	Imprinting of Solid Oral Dosage Form Products for Human Use). The handle carries
283	legible, laser-engraved product identification information (ie, microgram content of active
284	drug, product code, Abbott logo, and "fentanyl") in 9 point, charcoal-gray type on a pure-
285	white background. The laser engraved imprint on the handle is intended to provide
286 287	immediate documentation of drug and dose in the event of an accidental poisoning.
207	
288	2.2 Actiq Child-Resistant Blister PouchPackage
289	
290 291	Each <i>Actiq</i> unit is individually sealed in its own child-resistant_ <u>pouch</u> <u>blister package</u> . The <i>Actiq</i> pouch is made of a heavy, multi-layer laminated foil material and <u>This blister</u>
291	package is made of thick PVC/A-aclar blister packaging material with a strongly sealed
293	<u>foil-/paper lidding that</u> requires scissors to open. It meets the specifications provided in
294	the Poison Prevention Packaging Act. The child-resistant testing was conducted in
295	compliance with the Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970, 16 CFR §1700, cited in
296	the Federal Register (Volume 38, No. 151, August 7, 1973). This package passed the
297 298	child resistance test protocol with a 99100% effectiveness rating, exceeding the 80% requirement.
298	requirement.
300	Individual child-resistant packaging (one dosage unit in each_ pouchblister package) is
301	intended to minimize exposure by limiting access to just one unit at a time.
302	
303	The pouch blister package is opaque, so that A a child cannot see the unit when it is in its
304	the pouch blister package. The pouch blister package does not resemble food or most
305 306	candy wrappers.
500	

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

1 - 113

TEVA_CHI_00049381 P-11326 _ 00149

307 308 309 310	The dosage strength of each unit is marked on <u>the solid drug matrix</u> , on each handle <u>tag</u> , <u>on the blister package</u> and on the <u>foil pouch and</u> shelf carton. <u>The handle tags</u> , <u>blister</u> <u>packages and cartons have colored markings that</u> <u>that</u> <u>The colors</u> are a secondary aid in product identification.
 311 312 313 314 315 316 317 318 319 320 321 322 323 324 	Gray200 mcgBlue400 mcgOrange600 mcgPurple800 mcgGreen1200 mcgBurgundy1600 mcgThe front of each pouch-blister package utilizes an icon to draw attention to warnings about child safety and opioid tolerance; and standard product identification information. is also included on the front of the pouch (see Attachment 2). The back of each pouch- contains the same icon, plain language warnings about child safety and proper product- storage, and a It also contains a reminder to read the Actiq Patient Leaflet.
324 325 326 327	In addition the blister package label The front of each pouch contains the CII symbol, a "May be habit forming" warning, and an "Rx only" warning.
328 329 330 331 332	2.3 Actiq Shelf Carton The Actiq shelf carton includes labeling messages targeting all three at-risk populations (Attachment 3). The shelf carton contains strong warnings prominently and redundantly displayed on the front and back pharmacy label space on the back of the shelf carton.
 333 334 335 336 337 228 	 The front of the shelf carton has a conspicuous icon calling attention to warnings about child safety, and a reminder to read the <i>Actiq</i> Patient Leaflet. There is also a warning about appropriate patient selection. The right hand side of the back of the shelf carton contains a designated location for the application of the phoremany dispension label. A a sheel list for the
 338 339 340 341 342 343 344 	for the application of the pharmacy-dispensing label. A <u>a</u> checklist for the pharmacist. is included in this space. The checklist reminds the pharmacist to make sure the patient is already taking opioids chronically, to counsel the patient about child safety, to encourage the patient to read the <i>Actiq</i> Patient Leaflet, to discuss the <i>Actiq</i> Welcome Kit, and to counsel the patient about disposal of partially consumed units.
345 346 347 348 349	• On the left hand side of the back of the shelf carton an icon calls attention to prominent warnings about child safety, the need for appropriate patient selection (opioid tolerance), the importance of appropriate disposal of partially consumed units, a reminder to read the <i>Actiq</i> Patient Leaflet, and prominent instructions on what to do in case of an accidental exposure.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

350	
351	• On the top of the shelf carton is another reminder for the patient or caregiver to
352	read the Actiq Patient Leaflet.
353	-
354	At the initiation of <i>Actiq</i> therapy, it is recommended that physicians prescribe an initial
355	supply of six 200 mcg units. At each new dose of <i>Actiq</i> during titration, it is
356	recommended that only six units of the next higher dose be prescribed to limit the
357	potential for left over units in the home.
358	
359	The most prominent front panel warnings will be provided in Spanish in sticker form to
360	pharmacies upon request. As additional languages are identified, appropriate stickers will
361	be developed and distributed in a similar fashion.
362	
363	Each shelf carton contains eight ten strips of three <u>pouches</u> blister packages, for a total of
364	24 pouches 30 blister packages of a single strength of Actiq. Each carton will also
365	include five patient leaflets and one package insert. The shelf carton represents
366	approximately a ten day to two-week supply of Actiq after the appropriate dose has been
367	established via titration. Except for the top panel, all printed panels of the shelf carton
368	contain the CII symbol.
369	
370	2.4 Potential Partially Consumed Actiq Units
371	
272	It is important to limit the evolution of upped and neutiply economical upits in the

372 It is important to limit the availability of unused and partially consumed units in the 373 home. Warnings are placed on the shelf cartons to remind patients to properly dispose of 374 partially consumed units. The following steps will be taken to reduce the availability of 375 unused and partially consumed units by (1) the provision of multiple dosage strengths, (2)376 proportional pricing, and (3) directions for prescribing.

377 2.4.1 **Multiple Dosage Strengths**

378

379 Actiq will be is made available in six dosage strengths (200, 400, 600, 800, 1200, 1600 380 mcg units) so that patients can be titrated to the unit strength which provides adequate relief with acceptable side effects. The directions to both healthcare professionals and 381 382 patients clearly state that Actiq dosage units are to be completely consumed.

- 383 2.4.2
- 384

Pricing

385 Pricing of *Actiq* will provide proportionality on a per mcg basis. This pricing plan is an 386 attempt to minimize the economic incentive to partially consume an Actiq unit and save

387 the remainder for a future breakthrough cancer pain episode, reducing the potential risk to

388 children.

> Actig Risk Management Program (RMP) February 91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01

389

2.4.3 Prescribing Directions

390

As per the *Actiq* titration instructions, the initial recommended prescription size is six units of the 200 mcg dose. If a patient requires a higher dose, the titration instructions recommend a second prescription of six units of the 400 mcg dose. This process of prescribing six units of the next highest available dosage form is recommended until the appropriate dose is found.

396

The package insert contains specific instructions recommending that physicians prescribe
a small quantity (6 units) for titration and/or dosage adjustment in an effort to minimize
the number of units in the home.

400

401 **3.0 Labeling**

402

3.1 CII (Schedule II Classification)

403

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration places very specific controls on the storage,
distribution, accountability, prescribing and usage of scheduled products (see 21 CFR
§1301). Actiq will be a CII product, consistent with other strong opioids such as fentanyl,
morphine, oxycodone, and hydromorphone-based products. CII is the most restrictive
classification available, and raises the overall level of vigilance and surveillance by all
parties involved with the product. These restrictions include:

- 410 strongest tracking and controls throughout the distribution system (DEA Form
 411 222 required for all transactions)
- strict accountability of finished units
- most stringent physical storage requirements
- no refills allowed, triplicate prescriptions may be required in some states
- 415 registered pharmacist is required to check for a legitimate medical purpose before
 416 dispensing
- 417

The status of *Actiq* as a CII product is the primary risk management element against the third potential risk event -- the potential for diversion and/or abuse. It is important to

420 note, however, that simply the fact that a product is CII raises the level of attention

421 devoted to the prescribing and dispensing of the product by all parties involved in the

- 422 process and that this is expected to also reduce the risk of accidental ingestion and
- 423 prescribing for opioid non-tolerant patients because of this heightened awareness.
- 424 **3.2 Patient Leaflet**
- 425

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91</u>, 1999July <u>20 200108/01/01</u>

A Patient Leaflet has been written for *Actiq*, and <u>four-five</u> copies will be packaged in
every shelf carton (see Attachment 4). Extra copies will be broadly distributed for use by
physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers, and patients. The leaflet will be included in
the *Actiq* Welcome Kit and in other direct to patient communication and educational
programs. It will be available in Spanish as well.

- The first page of the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet contains a strong boxed warning and redundant child warning with graphics for emphasis.
- The Actiq Patient Leaflet explicitly addresses, in plain language, preventing access
 by children. These messages include:
- 435 Child Safety messages
- 436 safe storage instructions for whole and partially consumed units
- 437 Disposal directions for used and unused units and a 1-800 number for
 438 additional disposal assistance. Patients calling the 1-800 number will receive
 439 a more personalized "walk through" of -disposal instructions. If additional
 440 assistance is required, callers will be referred to their local DEA office for
 441 information.
- 442
 443
 It contains emergency information on what should be done in case of accidental ingestion by a child or any opioid non-tolerant person.
- a prompt to call 911 if the patient or child is not awake and alert
- 445 a prompt to call Poison Control (at 1-800<u>-690-3924 number is provided)</u> if the patient or child is awake
- 447 instructions for care of the patient or child who is having trouble breathing or 448 not breathing at all
- It contains proper patient selection messages
- Strong language has been used throughout the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet. In all warning statements, the word "must" is used instead of the word "should." The warning language "can be harmful or fatal to a child" and "can cause injury or death in people who are not already taking prescription opioid (narcotic) pain medicines..." is used.
- 455 **3.3 Package Insert**
- 456

The *Actiq* Package Insert (PI) clearly and explicitly communicates messages about child safety, proper patient selection, and prevention of diversion and abuse (see Attachment 5). These messages (see Attachment 6) are important elements of the RMP. The PI highlights the serious risks associated with *Actiq* use and mandates that the healthcare professional must become involved in the process of educating patients and home

462 caregivers. The key elements in the PI include:

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

463 464 465	•	Indication: <i>Actiq</i> is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are <u>already receiving and who are tolerant</u> to opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain.
466	•	Black box warnings, which are:
467 468		PHYSICIANS AND OTHER HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS MUST
469		BECOME FAMILIAR WITH THE IMPORTANT WARNINGS IN
470		THIS LABEL.
471		Actiq is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain
472		in patients with malignancies who are already receiving and who are
473		tolerant to opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain.
474		Patients considered opioid tolerant are those who are taking at least 60 mg
475		morphine/day, 50 mcg transdermal fentanyl/hour, or an equianalgesic dose of
476		another opioid for a week or longer.
477		
478		Because life-threatening hypoventilation could occur at any dose in patients
479		not taking chronic opiates, <i>Actiq</i> is contraindicated in the management of
480		acute or postoperative pain. This product <u>must not</u> be used in opioid non-
481 482		tolerant patients.
482		Activity in intended to be used only in the same of someon metionts and only her
483 484		Actiq is intended to be used only in the care of cancer patients and only by
484 485		oncologists and pain specialists who are knowledgeable of and skilled in the use of Schedule II opioids to treat cancer pain.
485		use of schedule if optorus to treat cancer parti.
487		Patients and their caregivers must be instructed that Actiq contains a
488		medicine in an amount which can be fatal to a child. Patients and their
489		caregivers must be instructed to keep all units out of the reach of children
490		and to discard opened units properly.
49 1		
492	•	Titration instructions which minimize the number of units in the home
493 494	•	Detailed safe home handling and storage
495		
496	٠	Detailed instructions for disposal of used and unused units
497 498	•	CII designation
498 499	•	Ch designation
500	Tł	he Actiq insert will be included in each shelf carton.
500		te rieng moet will be metaded in each shell carton.
502		4.0 Professional Medical Education
503		
504		a and Abbott Cephalon, Inc. will work in conjunction with FDA (through the Office
505 506		alth Affairs) in interfacing with licensing boards and professional associations on evelopment of and dissemination of educational materials related to <i>Actiq</i> .
200	the de	to opinion of and also inflation of concuronal materials formed to hend.
		Actic Dick Management Program (PMD)

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

507	4.1 Key Message Points
508 509 510 511 512	The education of physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients on the safe use of <i>Actiq</i> is an integral part of the <i>Actiq</i> Risk Management Program. These educational messages are drawn directly from the <i>Actiq</i> Package Insert. The key safety messages, which have been described earlier in section 1.1 of this RMP, include:
513	Child safety messages
514	• Proper patient selection messages
515	• Prevention of diversion and abuse messages
516 517 518	The educational programs for physicians, nurses, pharmacists, caregivers and patients will also reinforce the following:
519	• Process for titration to an effective dose
520	• Proper (total) consumption of the product
521	• Proper storage and disposal of the product
522	• Efficacy and side effects of the product
523 524 525	• Basic Life Support training and potential for certain families to be trained in the treatment of accidental narcotic overdose including antagonist therapy.
526 527 528	These key educational messages, primarily focusing on safety, will be are provided to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists through the communication vehicles, which are discussed on the following pages.
529	4.2 Breakthrough Cancer Pain Nursing Medical Education Monograph
530 531 532 533 534 535 536	This monograph is written by nurses who participated in the <i>Actiq</i> clinical trials. It contains specific information about breakthrough cancer pain and the <i>Actiq</i> key safety messages. It will be distributed via direct mail and the sales force. This publication has also received Oncology Nursing Society CEU certification for 3.5 hours of continuing education. This as well as all educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.
537	4.3 The Actiq Speakers Bureau / Medical Education Programs
538 539 540 541	Prior to product launch, Anesta and Abbott will-formally train <u>ed</u> the following professionals on all aspects of <i>Actiq</i> consistent with the package insert, particularly the RMP elements (Attachment 6):

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

1 - 119

542	• At least 50 prominent physician educators in pain management
543	• At least 50 prominent nurse educators in pain management
544	• At least 25 prominent pharmacist educators in pain management
545 546 547	These groups will then be called upon to educate their respective peers and patients via presentations in local, state, regional, and national settings.
548	4.4 Publications
549 550 551 552 553 554	Manuscripts will be submitted to peer-reviewed journals for consideration. They will include messages that reinforce elements of this RMP. The manuscripts selected for publication are those that combine a specific focus into the key cancer pain management audience, as well as other healthcare groups who make up the RMP target audience.
555	4.4.1 Broad-Based Publications
556 557 558 559 560 561 562 563 564 565 566 567 568	 Journal of the National Cancer Institute (circulation 10,000+) Journal of Pain and Symptom Management (circulation 10,000) Journal of Clinical Oncology (circulation 20,000) Anesthesia and Analgesia (circulation 5,000) Seminars in Oncology (circulation 10,000) Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 3,000) Oncology Times (circulation 20,000) Cancer for the Clinician (circulation 10,000) 4.4.2 Pharmaceutical Compendia Pharmaceutical compendia will serve physicians, nurses, and pharmacists in several ways. The compendia regularly send out updates to inform about new products. The circulation numbers for each of these publications, although proprietary, are believed to
569 570	be greater than 50,000 per publication. Abbott and Anesta Cephalon, Inc. will have Actiq listed in each of the following well-known compendia:
571 572 573 574	 Physician's Desk Reference (PDR) American Hospital Formulary Service (AHFS) Facts and Comparisons
575 576	In cases where material is excerpted from the Package Insert, <u>AnestaCephalon, Inc.</u> will contact these publications to request increased emphasis on the RMP elements.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

577	4.4.3 Major Nursing Journals
578	• American Journal of Nursing (circulation 250,000+)
579	• American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care (circulation 100,000+)
580	• Nurse Practitioner (circulation 100,000+)
58 1	• Home Health Care Nurse (circulation 25,000+)
582	Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing (circulation 20,000+)
583	• Seminars in Oncology Nursing (circulation 6,000+)
584	• Oncology Nursing Forum (circulation 20,000+)
585	• RN Magazine (circulation 200,000+)
586	4.4.4 Cancer and Nursing Professional Society Newsletters
587	The Oncology Nursing Society Newsletter
588	Local ONS chapter newsletters
589	Oncology Nursing Society computer mail announcements
590	State board of nursing newsletters
591	State Cancer Pain Initiative mailings
592	4.4.5 Major Pharmacy Journals
593	• U.S. Pharmacist (circulation 100,000+)
594	• Drug Topics /Hospital Pharmacist's Report (circulation 100,000+)
595	• Formulary (circulation 100,000+)
596	• Journal of the Association of Healthsystem Pharmacists (circulation 70,000+)
597	• Journal of the American Pharmaceutical Association (circulation 48,000+)
598	• Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy (circulation 40,000+)
599	4.4.6 Pharmacy Newsletters (Print and Electronic)
600	
601	Abbott and Anesta Cephalon, Inc. During the initial launch of Actiq, requests were
602 603	<u>madewill request</u> that the <i>Actiq</i> key safety messages and new product reviews <u>were to</u> <u>bebeare</u> incorporated into the newsletters of various national, regional, state and local
604	pharmacy organizations including:
605	• The Pharmacist's Letter (circulation - 100,000+)
606	Chain drugstore newsletters and electronic updates
607	- CVS 4,000 stores
608	- RiteAid 3,000 stores
609	- Walgreens 2,200 stores

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

19

• State board of pharmacy newsletters

611 **4.5 Communication with DEA**

612

613 Information on proper disposal of *Actiq* will be provided to the DEA for use by their field

- 614 offices on an as requested basis. Background and training materials will be designed in
- 615 concert with the Office of Diversion Control, Policy Liaison at DEA headquarters and
- 616 will be distributed to all DEA field offices.
- 617

618 5.0 Actiq Launch Program

- 619
- 620 Actiq will target a relatively small group of clinicians. The emphasis of the promotion
- 621 will be highly educational.
- 622 All educational and promotional launch materials will be submitted to and reviewed by
- 623 FDA prior to use.

624

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

624 5.1 **Target Audience**

625

- 626 The target physician audience for *Actiq* is a group of approximately 5,000 oncologists and
- 627 pain specialists, their nurses and office staff. These physicians are already using CII
- 628 opioids to treat cancer pain, are generally knowledgeable about breakthrough cancer pain,
- 629 and should understand the appropriate use of *Actiq* for opioid tolerant cancer patients.
- 630 Since the majority of *Actiq* use is anticipated to be in the oncology outpatient setting, the
- 631 pharmacist will play an important gate keeping role in the Actiq RMP by screening for
- 632 proper patient selection (opioid tolerant cancer patients only) and by providing
- 633 information on safe product use and handling to patients and caregivers.
- 634 Please note the entire universe of practicing oncologists, oncology nurses and pharmacists
- 635 will receive the key messages through some of the broad-based communication vehicles
- 636 described in the Professional Education section of this document.

637 5.2 The Oncology SpecialistOncology Sales Specialist (AbbottCephalon, 638 **Inc. Sales Organization**)

639

640 Approximately 40 fFull time Oncology Sales Specialists will have been be placed in the field to personally call on the target audience. The Oncology Sales Specialists will beare 641 642 the primary day to day link to the physicians, nurses and pharmacists who will be using the product. The Oncology Sales Specialists will play a key role in implementing the 643 644 RMP.

- 645 Each Oncology Sales Specialist must be certified on Actiq via a rigorous product
- education and sales training program. This program begins with four-home-study 646
- 647 modules, which explicitly spell out the three groups of key safety messages. The home
- 648 study modules are followed by onetwo weeks of in-house training at Abbott Cephalon,
- 649 Inc. corporate headquarters and at least by one week of training in the field with a field
- 650 trainer or seasoned field manager. This program is designed to clearly communicate the
- 651 key safety messages and Abbott Cephalon, Inc. expectations regarding sales activity in the
- 652 field. Importantly, Oncology SpecialistOncology Sales Specialists will be are tested prior 653 to being certified to discuss Actiq.
- 654 In the approximately 3 months between product approval and product availability, the
- 655 Oncology Sales Specialists will personally called on 1,000 of the 2,000 pharmacies
- 656 dispensing the largest volume of CII products. In these calls they will educated the
- 657 pharmacist on all safety issues and enlist their assistance as gatekeepers. The second
- 658 group of 1,000 high CII dispensing pharmacies wereill be called on by the Oncology
- 659 Specialists in the first three months post product launch with the same messages.
- 660 Pharmacies not included in the initial target group will be were offered opportunities to
- 661 obtain additional information through several elements of the Actiq Risk Management
- 662 Program, including: Dear Pharmacist letter, pharmacy direct mail services, pharmacy
- 663 journal advertising, pharmacy newsletters, and pharmaceutical compendia. These

Actig Risk Management Program (RMP) February 91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01

664 programs will provide access to the 1-800 number and website for additional information

about Actiq. In addition, the group of pharmacies and health care practitioners serving 665

666 rural areas will be the target of a post approval commitment to better understand and meet

their unique needs through an educational outreach program. 667

668 Upon hiring, each Specialist will receive a letter outlining his responsibilities. This letter

669 will stress the requirement to limit the promotion of Actiq to the approved indication,

670 discourage off-label use, direct the specialist to promote only to the target audiences,

671 describe the serious consequences of violating this policy, and reinforce the three key

672 messages of the RMP. The is letter will be slightly revised from the currently approved

one to reflect Cephalon's practices. It will be reviewed must have by FDA for review and-673

674 prior approval before issue. Moreover, the compensation program for Oncology

675 Specialists will direct them to promote into only the target audience.

676 In their personal calls to physicians, nurses, and pharmacists, the Oncology

- 677 SpecialistOncology Sales Specialist will discuss a variety of educational material which
- 678 may include:
- 679

680 Package insert and patient leaflet

- 681 Actiq safety video
- 682 Actiq CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists
- 683 Actiq Internet site
- 684 Central 1-800 poison control number
- 685 The Actiq Welcome Kit •

686 All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use. Revisions to these materials to reflect the new packaging will also be submitted to FDA prior to use. 687

688 5.3 **Detail Aids**

689

690 Detail aids for *Actiq* will emphasize the three key safety messages. To ensure consistent 691 attention to the key safety messages, all "leave behind" detail aids will also prominently 692 display the detail flag. This flag as well as all other promotional materials will be 693 submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

- 694 5.4 **Direct Mail**
- 695

696 All materials will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA prior to use.

5.4.1 697 Actiq Professional Information Kit

698

Actig Risk Management Program (RMP) February 91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01

699 Upon product launch, the target physician group will receive an *Actiq* Information Kit 700 including:

- Actiq Package Insert and Actiq Patient Leaflet
- Actiq Safety video designed for patients which covers
- 703 child safety
- 704 patient selection (opioid tolerance)
- 705 titration
- 706 storage
- 707 disposal
- 708 emergency care
- Information on accessing the 1-800 number, the *Actiq* internet site and Physician
 CD-ROM program all of which are designed to provide additional information
- Information on how to obtain the *Actiq* Welcome Kit
- 712 5.4.2 The Dear Doctor Letter
- 713
- 714 Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered physicians in the U.S. will be
- 715 conducted. This letter will reinforce the three key messages (child safety, proper patient
- selection and prevention of diversion and abuse) and encourage the appropriate
- 717 physicians to mail in an enclosed business reply card and/or to visit the Actiq internet site
- 718 for more information. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue.
- 719 5.4.3 The Dear Pharmacist Letter
- 720

721 Upon product approval, a mass mailing to registered pharmacists in the U.S. will be

722 conducted. The letter must have FDA review and prior approval before issue. This letter

- will reinforce proper patient selection and child safety messages and encourage the
- pharmacists to mail in the enclosed business reply card and/or visit the Actiq internet site
- 725 for more detailed information.
- 726

5.4.4 Pharmacy Direct Mail Services

- 727 728
- 729 Information to pharmacists using pharmacy direct mail services will prominently feature
- the three key safety messages. All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA
- 731 (DDMAC) prior to use.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

732 733

5.5 **Multimedia Programs**

734 All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

735 5.5.1 Actiq CD-ROM Program

736

737 A CD-ROM will be developed and made available to all *Actiq* target audiences. It will 738 include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and 739 abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. A detailed 740 schematic of the separate CD-ROM programs for physicians, nurses, and pharmacists is 741 presented in Attachment 7. This program will be available via mass direct mail, the 742 Oncololgy Specialist and the Actiq internet site.

- 743 5.5.2 Actiq Internet Site
- 744

745 An Actig internet site will be made available to all Actig target audiences. This will include discussions of child safety, proper patient selection, prevention of diversion and 746 747 abuse, appropriate product usage, product handling, storage, and disposal. Sections will be targeted at physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients and caregivers. 748

749 5.5.3 **Emergency 911**

750

751 This number will be prominently featured in all patient educational materials. Patients and caregivers will be instructed to call this number if *Actig* has been inappropriately 752

753 consumed and the person (eg, a child) is not awake and alert or is breathing slowly.

754

5.5.4 **Central 1-800 Poison Control Number**

755

A single 1-800 telephone number will be established at the Rocky Mountain Poison

756 757 Control Center to receive all US emergency calls for Actiq. Having a central number

758 allows for a focused, well-trained staff to be able to deliver a consistent message to

759 patients and caregivers. It also provides for a near real-time surveillance of all poison

control calls and an opportunity for timely analysis of any trends. This number will be 760

- prominently featured in patient educational materials. Patients and caregivers will be 761
- 762 instructed to call this number if *Actiq* has been inappropriately consumed, and the person
- (eg, a child) is awake and alert. 763

Actig Risk Management Program (RMP) February 91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01

764 6.0 Patient and Caregiver Education

765 6.1 The Actiq Welcome Kit

Upon launch, the 5,000 target oncologists and pain specialists will receive a supply of the
 Actiq Welcome Kit. The *Actiq* Welcome Kit will include the following items:

- Child Safety Lock a lock to secure almost any existing household cabinet or drawer for the storage of *Actiq* and other medications (Attachment 8).
- Secure Personal Container a lockable pouch with a waistband (a fanny pack) will be provided so the patient can safely and conveniently store a day or two supply of *Actiq*. This pouch can be secured directly to the patient or to patient's bed or chair (Attachment 9).
- Child-Resistant Temporary Storage Container an opaque container featuring
 easy-entry, but child-resistant removal. A warning decal will be attached to the
 outside of each container. This bottle will fit into the secure personal container
 (fanny pack) and will be used to secure completely and/or partially used *Actiq* units (should they exist) until the patient or caregiver can properly dispose of them
 (Attachment 10). Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of
 dispensing whenever and wherever *Actiq* is dispensed.
- Patient Leaflet
- Home Warning Stickers and Magnet (detail in section 6.3)
- Children's Booklet (detail in section 6.4)
- Emergency treatment information
- A brightly colored flyer with a special alert to families with young children
- All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.
- 787 Every Actiq patient will receive a free Welcome Kit from his or her physician or via a 1-
- 788 800 number. The kit and ordering information for it are described in the Patient Leaflet.
- 789 Target pharmacists will be given an Actiq Welcome Kit by an Oncology-
- 790 <u>SpecialistOncology Sales Specialist</u> and briefed on how patients can obtain them.
- 791 Several components of the Welcome Kit--the Patient Leaflet and the Child Safety booklet
- --will be available in Spanish, and will be distributed in those geographical areas with
- high Hispanic populations. These will be available on request through the 1-800 number.

794 6.2 Patient Oriented Actiq Safety Video

- 795
- A detailed patient oriented safety video will be made available to practitioners and patients to communicate the following messages:
- Child safety messages

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

- 799• Proper patient selection messages
- Product storage and handling in the home
- Product titration
- Product disposal
- Emergency instructions
- 804
- Emergency instruction

This video will be mailed to the offices of the target physicians and will also be available
to physicians and patients through the <u>Oncology SpecialistOncology Sales Specialist</u> or 1807 800 number. This video will be available in either English or Spanish.

808 All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

809 6.3 Home Warning Sticker / Refrigerator Magnet

810

811 An *Actiq* specific home warning sticker and refrigerator magnet will be distributed to all 812 *Actiq* patients through the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. This sticker/magnet is to be placed around 813 the home in high visibility areas and on the telephone. They will provide warnings for 814 child safety and proper patient selection and contain emergency instructions for calling 815 911 and the central 1-800 poison control number.

- 816 6.4 Children's Booklet
- 817

818 A child-friendly booklet designed by the National SAFEKIDS Campaign in collaboration 819 with the chairperson of the public education committee of the American Association of 820 Poison Control Centers, Gail Banach, M.S.Ed., to be read and to be understood by younger children will be distributed. This book has been developed at a 2nd to 4th grade 821 822 reading level. Older children may read it on their own. The primary goal of this booklet 823 is to educate children on safe handling of all medicines including *Actiq*. The booklet will 824 use simplistic language, realistic graphics and will be interactive to maximize the child's 825 learning. This booklet will be made available in English or Spanish in the Actiq 826 Welcome Kit and in the offices of all target physicians and pharmacists. 827 All content will be submitted to and reviewed by FDA (DDMAC) prior to use.

828 7.0 Point of Dispensing Interventions

829

The following activities will be implemented at the *Actiq* points of dispensing. Product
samples will <u>not</u> be made available.

832

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

833 834

7.1 Pharmacy Software Systems - Precaution Software

In order to around the above exist to inquire above

In order to prompt the pharmacist to inquire about the presence of children in the home
and to verify opioid tolerance of the patient, vendors of major commercial pharmacy
precaution software will be asked to place *Actiq* warnings in their systems being used in

- the U.S. and its territories. Participating software systems will cover approximately 90%
- of the data systems in the U.S. pharmacy market.
- Examples of pharmacy warning screens and electronically produced patient informationsheets are provided as Attachment 11.
- 842 7.2 The *Actiq* Welcome Kit
- 843

844 This kit (previously described) will be personally presented to all targeted retail

845 pharmacies by an Oncology SpecialistOncology Sales Specialist and will be made

846 available to any pharmacist upon request. The pharmacist will be encouraged to explain

to the patient how they can obtain a free *Actiq* Welcome Kit, if they do not already have

848 one, either directly from their physician or via a 1-800 number. Directions to obtain the

849 *Actiq* Welcome Kit are also provided in the Patient Leaflet.

In addition to being enclosed in each *Actiq* shelf carton, the Patient Leaflet will be

851 distributed in quantity to all target pharmacists by the <u>AbbottCephalon, Inc.</u> Oncology-

852 <u>SpecialistOncology Sales Specialists</u> and be made available to any pharmacist upon

853 request. The package (eg, back panel of shelf carton) and the computer program screen

854 will prompt the pharmacist to go over the *Actiq* Patient Leaflet with every new *Actiq*

patient. The Patient Leaflet will also be provided in the *Actiq* Welcome Kit. Where

possible (eg, the Actiq Internet site and CD-ROM), the Actiq Patient Leaflet will be made

857 available electronically.

858 7.3 Temporary Storage Container

859

860 Temporary storage containers will be available at the point of dispensing whenever and

- 861 wherever *Actiq* is dispensed.
- 862

863 8.0 Surveillance Goals And Activities

864

865 The goals of the *Actiq* Surveillance and Monitoring Program are to:

- determine the effectiveness of the *Actiq* Risk Management Program by monitoring
 the potential incidence and outcome of child accidental ingestion, potential
 product use among opioid non-tolerant populations, off-label use, and possible
 diversion and abuse
- trigger intervention when problems are discovered

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

8.1

make modifications to the *Actiq* Risk Management Program to improve its
 effectiveness

873

874 The following pages summarize the various means by which Actiq use and safety data

875 will be collated and analyzed. (In the event that any of these pharmacy organizations are

876 unable to participate in this program, Abbott/Anesta Cephalon, Inc. will commit to

substituting another potential supplier to broaden our sample in a timely manner.)

878

Direct Patient Feedback

879 880

8.1.1 Chain Pharmacy Call Back System

- A call back system will be used to directly query *Actiq* patients. Under this program,
 patients who receive an *Actiq* prescription at a participating pharmacy will receive a
- follow-up phone call by a company pharmacist. During this call, the followinginformation will be collected:
- Did the patient receive an *Actiq* Welcome Kit?
- Was the patient already on a strong opioid when they received the *Actiq* prescription?
- Was the patient or caregiver provided with the appropriate safety messages?
- What titration process has been used to this point?
- Are there any children in the home or with access to the home?
- How is the patient or caregiver storing and disposing of the product?
- Provide a child safety reminder.
- 893

The partners included in this system include RiteAid, Eckerd, Walgreens, and the Merck Medco system. This program will capture real time trends of inappropriate patient selection and child safety issues during the first year of sales, interviewing up to 1,000

- patients per chain who fill *Actiq* prescriptions in each of these pharmacies.
- 898

899 This program will provide timely and specific data on actual patients in a significant,

- 900 geographically distributed population sample as Walgreen, RiteAid and Eckerd stores are
- 901 well-distributed throughout the country, and the Merck Medco mail order system is one
- 902 of the largest in the U.S.
- 903
- 904 After the first year of the call back programs, the firm and the FDA may agree to
- 905 discontinue the call back programs if it can be established that there is no longer a need.

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

906

8.2 **Prescription Monitoring**

907 8.2.1 **IMS Xponent**

908

909 Prescription data will be routinely monitored. The source of these is data will be IMS 910 Xponent, the largest sample available of *Actiq* prescriptions, segmented by physician 911 specialty to determine prescribing trends. The IMS Xponent data sample represents 912 prescriptions from over one million prescribers and over 35,000 retail pharmacies. 913 Additionally, IMS Xponent captures 60 million mail order prescriptions per year. These 914 data provide the prescriber's name, the physician specialty and zip code. These data will 915 be analyzed by comparing the proportion of prescriptions being written by specialties 916 such as hematologists/oncologists (appropriate patient selection) to usage by specialties 917 such as surgeons (inappropriate patient selection). Abbott<u>Cephalon, Inc.</u> will receive IMS 918 Xponent data 28 days after the end of each month. Therefore, data will be between 28-58 919 days current.

920 8.2.2 **IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index**

921

922 National prescription data segmented by physician specialty and by indication from IMS 923 National Disease and Therapeutic Index (NDTI) will be analyzed. An example of an NDTI data sheet is attached (see Attachment 12). These data will be reported to the FDA 924 925 on a quarterly basis as described in section 10.0.

926 8.2.3 Wholesaler Data

927

928 Per the FDA's previous agreement with Abbott Laboratories, Actiq will not be sold

- 929 directly to retail pharmacy outlets, but will be sold only to DEA hospital and distribution 930 registrants.
- 931 AbbottCephalon, Inc. will receive information on retail pharmacy sales. This information

932 will be shared with the Oncology Sales Specialist. The Oncology SpecialistOncology

- 933 Sales Specialist will follow-up with these pharmacies to ensure that they are employing
- 934 the "Point of Dispensing" interventions described previously.
- 935 Additionally, every two months an AbbottCephalon, Inc. Trade Sales Specialist
- 936 (wholesaler representative) will call on the high volume *Actiq* wholesalers. This person
- 937 will request information on any additional pharmacies which need to be added to the list.
- 938 Information from the Abbott Trade Specialists' Cephalon's meetings with wholesalers
- 939 will be shared with the Oncology Sales Specialists for follow-up.
- 940 The sponsor will monitor for compliance to the RMP "Point of Dispensing" and report
- 941 violations to the FDA quarterly along with any interventions made as a result.

Actig Risk Management Program (RMP) February 91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01

942	8.3 Adverse Events
943	8.3.1 <u>AbbottCephalon, Inc.</u> Standard Operating Procedure
944 945 946 947	AbbottCephalon, Inc. has established specific procedures to respond to serious adverse events, which may be associated with <i>Actiq</i> .
948 949 950 951 952	A toll-free number will be staffed to receive adverse event reports. This system can be accessed 24 hours a day. Reports can be logged by clinicians, pharmacists, home caregivers, patients, sales representatives or others. All reports are logged into a computer database and investigated.
953 954 955 956	Any adverse event, as defined by current federal regulations, receives immediate investigation and follow-up by <u>AbbottCephalon, Inc.</u> . The details of this procedure are summarized below.
957 958 959	a) The incident report is reviewed by an investigation team, and an investigation is initiated. This group remains responsible for oversight of the process and for briefing senior management as the investigation proceeds.
960 961	 b) The medical experience analyst assigned contacts the reporting entity as soon as possible. On-site investigation is implemented if deemed necessary.
962 963	c) The medical investigation conclusions are discussed with <u>AnestaCephalon, Inc.</u> to determine reportability.
964	8.3.2 Special Safety Commitments
965 966 967 968 969	Reports of all serious adverse events to the FDA will be made in accordance with current Federal Regulations. Based on an agreement between FDA and the sponsor, the following type of adverse experiences will also be reported to the FDA within 15 days:
970 971	• Any unintended pediatric exposure, whether or not serious and whether or not unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."
972 973 974 975	• Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of diversion (ie, use by an individual other than for whom it was prescribed), whether or not the experience is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."
976 977 978 979	• Any serious adverse drug experience which is determined to occur in the context of "off label use" (ie, that is used outside of the approved indication for <i>Actiq</i>) whether or not the experience is unexpected, will be processed and reported to the FDA as a "15 day Alert."

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

984 to reports from any source (eg. call-in, literature, poison control centers, etc).

985 8.3.3 **Literature Monitoring**

986

987 In addition to specific event reporting, AbbottCephalon, Inc. maintains a system to 988 monitor the literature for adverse events. This review is conducted monthly or at the time 989 a specific literature citation is reported. Any significant findings will be included in the

- 990 quarterly report (as per 21 CFR §314.80).
- 991 **8.4** Poisoning and Overdose
- 992

993 Quarterly reports to FDA will include poison information, trends, and interventions

994 derived from the following sources:

995 8.4.1 **Central 1-800 Poison Control Number**

996

997 A single 1-800 telephone number will be established to receive emergency calls when 998 Actig has potentially been accidentally ingested and the patient or child is awake and 999 alert. This system allows a near real time surveillance of all poison control calls. This 1000 number will be highly publicized in all patient education materials. Any significant 1001 findings will be included in the quarterly report (as per 21 CFR §314.80).

1002 8.4.2 **Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS)**

1003

1004 Toxic Exposure Surveillance System (TESS) reports all contacts with U.S. Poison

1005 Control Centers. This database will be monitored for Actiq exposures. These data are

1006 available once yearly and will be included in the analysis for FDA quarterly reports.

- 1007 8.5 Abuse
- 1008

1009 Quarterly reports to FDA will include information, trends, and interventions derived from 1010 the following sources:

- 1011 8.5.1 **Routine Abbott Cephalon Interaction with DEA**
- 1012
- 1013 Abbott Laboratories Corporate Regulatory Affairs maintains a proactive program to-
- 1014 identify possible product diversion. Abbott routinely visits DEA District offices with

Actig Risk Management Program (RMP) February 91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01

1015 1016 1017 1018 1019	jurisdiction over Abbott distribution facilities to review information on the potential- "street use" of Abbott products. In addition, an interactive relationship has been- developed so that Abbott is alerted to specific instances. AbbottCephalon, Inc. will cooperate-maintain communications with DEA and state drug control authorities."- investigations, as requested.
1020	8.5.2 Abbott Exceptions System
1021	
1022	Actiq will be added to Abbott's exception reporting system to the DEA. Under this
1023	system, any orders that exceed the norm by two or more standard deviations are reported
1024	to the DEA for follow-up and investigation.
1025	8.5.2.3 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)
1026	
1027	The Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN) is an ongoing national survey of non-
1028	federal, short-stay general hospitals that have a 24-hour emergency department (ED). A
1029	representative sample of these hospital EDs submit data, and national estimates of ED
1030	drug episodes or drug mentions are generated for all such hospitals. The DAWN system
1031	also collects data on drug-related deaths from a nonrandom sample of medical examiners
1032	located in 41 metropolitan areas. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
1033	Administration (SAMHSA) division of the Department of Health and Human Services
1034	(DHHS) supports DAWN. This database will also be monitored to identify issues which
1035	have not surfaced through standard DEA interactions.
1036	8.5.34 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy

- 1036 8.5.34 State Drug Control Authorities or State Boards of Pharmacy
- 1037

1038 Reports of diversion or abuse received from state drug control authorities will be

- 1039 investigated and submitted to the FDA as part of the quarterly report.
- 1040

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

1040	8.66 Promotional Message Audit	
1041 1042 1043	Promotional message testing at six month intervals following product launch will be conducted to ensure that Oncology SpecialistOncology Sales Specialists are accurately	I
1045	delivering the key safety messages. This will be accomplished via telephone interviews	
1044	or paper questionnaires with physicians that are prescribing <i>Actiq</i> and have been called on	
1046	by the Oncology SpecialistOncology Sales Specialist. Where necessary, sales	
1047	representatives will be re-trained and/or disciplined to ensure compliance with the	
1048	targeted, focused launch/promotional plan.	
1049	9.0 Intervention	
1050	9.1 Off-Label Usage	
1051	9.1.1 Individual Prescribers	
1052		
1053	Whenever a problem of off-label usage becomes known and individual prescribers are	
1054	identified, the following activities will take place:	
1055		
1056	1) A letter from <u>AbbottCephalon, Inc.</u> 's Medical Department will be sent to all	
1057	identified prescribers to emphasize the approved indication and appropriate	
1058	patient selection. The letter must have FDA review and approval before it is	
1059 1060	issued.	
1060	2) Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physicians in question. If a problem	
1062	persists, an Oncology SpecialistOncology Sales Specialist will visit the	
1063	physician/s to gather information and remind them of appropriate prescribing of	
1064	Actiq.	
1065		
1066	9.1.2 Groups of Prescribers	
1067		
1068	If groups of physicians (such as a particular specialty) are identified as having prescribed	
1069	Actiq inappropriately, and these prescriptions represent potential off-label usage greater	
1070	than 15% of total quarterly Actiq prescriptions, AbbottCephalon, Inc. will contact the	
1071	appropriate professional society (ie, American College of Surgeons, American Society of	
1072	Anesthesiologists). This letter will outline prescribing concerns and offer to implement	
1073	an educational program in conjunction with the professional society in a national setting.	
1074		

1075 Prescribing patterns will be monitored for the physician groups in question and should the 1076 level continue to exceed 15% of total *Actiq* prescriptions for two additional quarters, an

> Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

1 - 135

TEVA_CHI_00049403 P-11326 _ 00171

T

aggressive educational program will be initiated by mail clearly warning of the potential
 liabilities of prescribing *Actiq* to inappropriate patient populations.

10799.2Accidental Ingestion

- 1080
- 1081 In the event of an unintended pediatric exposure, AbbottCephalon, Inc. will initiate their
- standard operating procedure for adverse events detailed in section 8.3.1 of this RMP.
- 1083

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TEVA_CHI_00049404 P-11326_00172

34

1083 10.0 FDA Reporting

1084

Adverse drug experiences will be reported in accordance with 21 CFR §314.80, with the
additional commitment that unintended pediatric exposures, and any serious adverse
events and deaths associated with diversion or off-label use will be handled and

1088 processed as 15-day Alert reports (see Section 8.3.2, Special Safety Commitments). In

addition to the reporting requirements of 21 CFR §314.80(c), these 15-day Alert reports

1090 will be sent to the Division of Prescription Drug Compliance and Surveillance (HFD-330)

and the Division of Anesthetic, Critical Care, and Addiction Drug Products.

1092

1093 <u>Anesta/AbbottCephalon, Inc.</u> will provide a quarterly report to the FDA compiled from

all data collected by the methods described under the *Actiq* Surveillance and Monitoring

1095 Program and Interventions (see Sections 8.0 and 9.0 of this document). This report will

describe and provide data on any concerns for child safety, diversion, and off-label usage.

1097 Anesta/Abbott Cephalon, Inc. will also describe any trends and associated interventions

1098 made as a result of concerns raised and will also describe any proposed changes to the

1099 Actiq Risk Management Plan. This report will be provided as part of the Actiq quarterly

1100 report to the NDA during the first year of marketing. The sponsor and FDA will then

1101 determine requirements for further reports and their frequency after the first year of 1102 marketing. These reports will be cumulative and contain current reports and identified

1103 safety trends.

1104

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>91, 1999July 20 200108/01/01</u>

1104		
1105	List o	fAttachments
1106		
1107		
1108	1	Actiq Dosage Unit (example: 200 mcg)
1109		
1110	2	Labeling - Foil PouchBlister Package (example: <u>2</u> 400 mcg)
1111		
1112	3	Labeling - Shelf Carton (example: <u>2</u> 400 mcg)
1113		
1114	4	Actiq Patient Leaflet
1115		
1116	5	Actiq Package Insert
1117		
1118	6	Elements of RMP to be Included in Speaker Bureau Training
1119		
1120	7	Actiq CD-ROM Schematic
1121		
1122	8	Child Safety Lock
1123		
1124	9	Secure Personal Container (ie, "fanny pack")
1125		
1126	10	Child-resistant Temporary Storage Container
1127		
1128	11	Pharmacy Computer Warning screens
1129		
1130	12	IMS National Disease and Therapeutic Index example page
1131		
1132		

Actiq Risk Management Program (RMP) February <u>9</u>1, 1999<u>July 20 2001</u>08/01/01

1 - 138

Highly Confidential - Attorneys' Eyes Only

TEVA_CHI_00049406 P-11326 _ 00174



January 16, 2002

Cynthia McCormick, M.D. Division Head Division of Anesthetic, Critical Care, and Addiction Drug Products Food and Drug Administration Office of Drug Evaluation II Center for Drug Evaluation and Research FDA HFD-170; Doc.Cont. Rm. 9B23 5600 Fishers Lane Rockville, MD 20857

> NDA 20-747 Actiq[®] (Oral Transmucosal Fentanyl Citrate) Prior Approval Supplement: Revision to Risk Management Program

Dear Dr. McCormick:

Reference is made to Section 5.2 (The Oncology Specialist) of the Risk Management Program (RMP) document that refers to a letter that the company sends to the Sales Specialist that outlines the Specialists' responsibilities as they relate to the RMP. The only approved letter was that associated with the February 9, 1999 filing of the RMP (S-003). Subsequent to that supplement, a revised letter was submitted in association with the revised RMP dated May 31, 2000 in supplement S-007. On October 16th, 2001, Cephalon received a letter from the Agency that contained comments associated with Section 5.2 of the RMP (submitted in S-007) and a response was submitted on October 26, 2001. There has been no further correspondence from the Agency regarding this supplement but we have readdressed this concern in this supplement (see below) since the Agency's concern, the name of the sales force, is reflected in our proposed letter.

In this supplement, Cephalon is providing a revised letter to be sent to the sales force in order to reflect Cephalon, Inc.'s sales and marketing responsibilities for Actiq, as acknowledged in the November 30, 2000 letter to NDA 20-747 that discussed the transfer of responsibilities from Anesta. For ease of review, we are providing a "red-lined" version using the approved letter from the Feb. 9, 1999 submission showing the proposed revisions. In addition, a letter that incorporates the proposed text is also provided so that

J:\REGAFF\Anesta Reg\FDA\FDA Submissions\NDAs (HFD-170)\NDA 20-747\2002\01 January\Prior Approval Suppl. sales force letter\Letter.doc

Cephalon, Inc. • 145 Brandywine Parkway • West Chester, PA 19380-4245 • (610) 344-0200 • Fax (610) 344-0065

Page 2 Prior Approval Supplement: Revision to Risk Management Program January 16, 2002

the reviewer can see the final formatted version. The changes reflect the Cephalon name along with textual edits that reinforce Cephalon's commitment to the RMP principles. In addition, a paragraph was removed to eliminate redundant information. Please note that comments from the Agency (see FDA letter dated October 16, 2001) regarding the name of the sales force has been received. In this regard, please refer to the Cephalon response letter dated October 26, 2001 that states:

The Cephalon sales force has been reorganized to accommodate sales in the broader pain area since this sector of the force will support not only Actiq but also products that will be acquired in pending acquisitions. It is our intention, therefore, to name the individuals in this sector of the sales force "Pain Care Specialists" which can be applicable to more than the sales of Actiq.

We acknowledge your concern regarding the implication of off-label use; however, the title of the sales force is a business organizational decision that has been established based upon company goals. The title of the sales representative does not impact how the sales force is instructed to sell the product or any other aspect of the implementation of the Risk Management Program which safeguards the sales of Actiq from off-label use.

We acknowledge that all changes to the RMP require prior approval. Due to obvious business concerns associated with the acquisition of the product, a letter reflecting the Cephalon name needs to be implemented as soon as possible; therefore, we are requesting an expedited review.

If you have any questions regarding this supplement, please contact me by phone at (610) 738-6237 or by fax at (610) 738-6642.

Sincerely,

and S. Marchine

Carol S. Marchione Senior Director, Regulatory Affairs

	FOOD A		AND HUMA		ES	Expirat	ion Date	OMB No 0910-03 March 31, 2003 ment on page 2.	338	
APPL	ICATION TO M			ug, Biolo	OGIC,			FOR FDA US	E ONLY	
	OR AN ANTIBIC					APPLI	CATION	NUMBER		
	(Title 21, Code o	of Federal F	egulations, 3	14 & 601)				<u> </u>		
APPLICANT INF		····	· ·		DATE OF SU	IBMISSIO	N			
Anesta Co					1/16/0		••			
	O. (Include Area Code				FACSIMILE		her (Inc	lude Area Code))	
610-344-0		•)				38-6642			, ,	
Code, and U.S. I c/o Cepha 145 Brandy	DRESS <i>(Number, Str License number if prev</i> alon, Inc. ywine Parkway ster, PA 19380-42	viously issued		P Code or Mail				AME & ADDRES AX number) IF A		
PRODUCT DES			· · ·							
	ANTIBIOTIC APPLI							previouely iecury	d) (b	IDA 20-7
	NAME (e.g., Proper n				ARY NAME (tra					20-1
oral tansn	nucosal fentanyl ci	trate, OTFC	>	Actiq						
	CHEMICAL/BLOOD F							CODE NAME (If	fany)	
	yl-4-piperidyl prop	ionanilide c		<u></u>						
DOSAGE FORM	1. ked matrix		STRENGTHS	S: 00, 600, 800,	1200 1600 -			E OF ADMINIST		
	NDICATION(S) FOR U	USE	200, 40	,,,,	1200, 10001	-9				
APPLICATION IN APPLICATION T (check one)				4.50)			RUG AP	PPLICATION (AN	NDA, 21 CI	FR 314 94
(check one)		BIOLOGIC	S LICENSE AF	PLICATION (2		1)	RUG AP	PPLICATION (AN	NDA, 21 CI	FR 314 94
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF		BIOLOGIC	S LICENSE AF	PLICATION (2)) (1)	1 CFR Part 60	1)				FR 314 94
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug	TYPE	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2)) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro	1 CFR Part 60	1)) S THE BAS	SIS FOR	THE SUBMISSI		
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM	TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2)) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro	1 CFR Part 60	1)) 5 THE BAS	SIS FOR		ION	NISSION
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE	TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2 D) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro DN	1 CFR Part 60	1) 5 THE BAS TO A PENDII N SUPPLEM	SIS FOR NG APPL			NISSION
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN	TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY IISSION (check one) BMISSION	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2 D) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro DN	1 CFR Part 60	1) 5 THE BAS TO A PENDII N SUPPLEM PPLEMENT	SIS FOR NG APPL IENT	THE SUBMISSI		NISSION
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUPPLEME	TYPE INTIFY THE APPROP INTIFY THE APPROP ISSION (check one) INTISSION ANTI INSSION CHECK ONE) INTISSION ANTICLEMENT INTICLEMENT	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro ESTABLISHMEN CTURING AND C FER OF DATE C Y	1 CFR Part 60	1) 5 THE BAS TO A PENDII N SUPPLEM PPLEMENT	SIS FOR NG APPL IENT [ARTIAL S	THE SUBMISSI	ION RESUBN	NISSION
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUPPLEME	TYPE IN NEW DRUG INTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY IISSION (check one) MISSION ANT NG SUPPLEMENT DN OR PARTIAL APP	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro ESTABLISHMEN CTURING AND C FER OF DATE C Y	1 CFR Part 60	1) 5 THE BAS 0 A PENDI N SUPPLEM PPLEMENT	SIS FOR NG APPL IENT [ARTIAL S	THE SUBMISSI	ION RESUBN	NISSION
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUPPLEME REASON FOR S	TYPE INTIFY THE APPROP INTIFY THE APPROP ISSION (check one) INTISSION ANTI INSSION CHECK ONE) INTISSION ANTICLEMENT INTICLEMENT	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro ESTABLISHMEN CTURING AND C FER OF DATE C Y	1 CFR Part 60	1) THE BAS THE BAS O A PENDIN N SUPPLEM PPLEMENT ENT TO PA CBE-30	BIS FOR NG APPL IENT ARTIAL S	THE SUBMISSI	ION RESUBN CY SUPPLE	NISSION
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUPPLEME REASON FOR S PROPOSED MA	TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY IISSION (check one) SMISSION AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro DN	1 CFR Part 60	1) THE BAS THE BAS O A PENDIN N SUPPLEM PPLEMENT ENT TO PA CBE-30	SIS FOR NG APPL IENT ARTIAL S	THE SUBMISSI	ION RESUBN CY SUPPLE I (PA) CT (OTC)	MENT
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUPPLEME REASON FOR S PROPOSED MA NUMBER OF VC ESTABLISHMEI Provide locations o address, contact, te conducted at this s	TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY IISSION (check one) SMISSION ANT AG SUPPLEMENT ON OR PARTIAL APP ENT, IDENTIFY THE / SUBMISSION Revisi RKETING STATUS (BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro- DN ESTABLISHMEN CTURING AND (2) TURING AND (2) TURING AND (2) THIS APPLIC/ THIS APPLIC/ THIS APPLIC/ tion should be substance and d ber, and manufac ion or, if not, whe	1 CFR Part 60	1) THE BAS THE BAS TO A PENDIO N SUPPLEMENT ENT TO PA CBE-30 CBE-30 PAPER PAPER PAPER	SIS FOR NG APPL IENT ARTIAL S R THE CC PAPEI f the Ap eets may	THE SUBMISSI		IISSION MENT LECTRON e name,
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUPPLEME REASON FOR S PROPOSED MA NUMBER OF VC ESTABLISHMEI Provide locations o address, contact, te conducted at this s Information pro-	TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY IISSION (check one) MISSION ANT ISSION ANT ISSION ANT ISSION ANT ISSION ANT ISSION CENTIFY ISSION REVISI ISSION REVISI ISSION REVISI ISSION STATUS (DUMES SUBMITTED ISSION CENTIFY THE A SUBMISSION REVISI ISSION REVISI ISSION REVISI ISSION STATUS (ISSION	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro- DN	1 CFR Part 60	1) THE BAS THE BAS TO A PENDIN N SUPPLEMENT ENT TO PA CBE-30 OVEF PAPER PAPER he body of thinuation sh i/or type of to	SIS FOR NG APPL IENT ARTIAL S ARTIAL S C THE CO PAPEI f the Ap eets may esting (e	THE SUBMISSI	ION RESUBN CY SUPPLE I (PA) CT (OTC) NIC E any). Includ	AISSION MENT LECTRON e name, testing)
APPLICATION T Check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC REASON FOR S PROPOSED MA NUMBER OF VC ESTABLISHMEI Provide locations o address, contact, tt conducted at this s Information pro	TYPE TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP TSO5(b)(2), IDENTIFY TISSION (check one) SMISSION ANT AG SUPPLEMENT NO OR PARTIAL APP NT, IDENTIFY THE A SUBMISSION Revisi RKETING STATUS (DLUMES SUBMITTED NT INFORMATION (F of all manufacturing, pack elephone number, regist ite. Please indicate whe eviously submitted es (list related Licen	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro- DN	1 CFR Part 60	1) COAPENDIA STHE BAS TO APENDIA SUPPLEMENT ENT TO PA CBE-30 CBE-30 CD	SIS FOR NG APPL NENT (ARTIAL S (ARTIAL S) (ARTIAL	THE SUBMISSI	ION RESUBN CY SUPPLE I (PA) CT (OTC) NIC E any). Includ	AISSION MENT LECTRON e name, testing)
APPLICATION T Check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUPPLEME REASON FOR S PROPOSED MA NUMBER OF VC ESTABLISHMEI Provide locations o address, contact, the conducted at this s Information pro- Cross Reference DMF 5038 DMF 5038 DMF 5038 DMF 1218	TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY IISSION (check one) MISSION ANN IG SUPPLEMENT ON OR PARTIAL APP ON OR PARTIAL APP NT, IDENTIFY THE / SUBMISSION Revisi RKETING STATUS (DLUMES SUBMITTEI NT INFORMATION (F of all manufacturing, pach columes SUBMITTEI NT INFORMATION (F of all manufacturing, pach eviously submitted eviously submitted Fentanyl Citrate Artificial Raspbe Plant Master File	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro- DN ESTABLISHMEN ACTURING AND O TER OF DATE O Y CRIPTION PROD THIS APPLICA INFORMATION PROD INFORMATION PROD Substance and di ber, and manufaction or, if not, whe st As, PMAs, 510(1 CFR Part 60	1) THE BAS THE BAS TO A PENDIN N SUPPLEM PPLEMENT ENT TO PA CBE-30 CBE-30 OVEF PAPER PAPER Fs, and DI son Matther Drs of Noi	SIS FOR NG APPL IENT (ARTIAL S (ARTIAL S) (ARTIAL S (ARTIAL S) (ARTIAL S) (ARTI	THE SUBMISSI	ION RESUBN CY SUPPLE I (PA) CT (OTC) NIC E any). Includ rm, Stability current ap	AISSION MENT LECTRON e name, testing)
APPLICATION T (check one) IF AN NDA, IDEI IF AN ANDA, OF Name of Drug TYPE OF SUBM PRESUE LABELIN IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC IF A SUBMISSIC REASON FOR S PROPOSED MA NUMBER OF VC ESTABLISHMEI Provide localismo o address, contact, te conducted at this s Information pro- Cross Reference DMF 5038 DMF 5038 DMF 8906	TYPE NEW DRUG NTIFY THE APPROP R 505(b)(2), IDENTIFY IISSION (check one) MISSION ANN IG SUPPLEMENT ON OR PARTIAL APP ON OR PARTIAL APP NT, IDENTIFY THE / SUBMISSION Revisi RKETING STATUS (DLUMES SUBMITTEI NT INFORMATION (F of all manufacturing, pack delephone number, regist ute. Please indicate whe eviously submitted Extincial Raspbe	BIOLOGIC RIATE TYPE THE REFE	S LICENSE AF	PPLICATION (2) (1) D DRUG PROE Holder of Appro- DN ESTABLISHMEN CTURING AND C TER OF DATE (Y CRIPTION PROD THIS APPLIC/ THIS APPLIC/ Ition should be substance and d ber, and manufac ion or, if not, whe st As, PMAs, 510(1 CFR Part 60	1) Contract of the second seco	SIS FOR NG APPL IENT ARTIAL S ARTIAL S I R THE CO PAPEL f the Ap eets may esting (e MFs refe ney, Inc rth Ame itories,	THE SUBMISSI	ION RESUBN CY SUPPLE I (PA) CT (OTC) NIC E any). Includ rm, Stability current ap	AISSION MENT LECTRON e name, testing)

- --

	2 Labeling (check one) Draft La	beling Final Printed Labeling		
	3 Summary (21 CFR 314.50 (c))			
	4. Chemistry section			
	A. Chemistry, manufacturing, and controls in	nformation (e.g , 21 CFR 314.50(d)(1); 21 CF	FR 601 2)	
	B Samples (21 CFR 314.50 (e)(1); 21 CFR	601 2 (a)) (Submit only upon FDA's request	;)	
	C Methods validation package (e.g , 21 CFI	R 314.50(e)(2)(i); 21 CFR 601 2)		
	5. Nonclinical pharmacology and toxicology see	ction (e.g., 21 CFR 314.50(d)(2), 21 CFR 60	1.2)	
	6 Human pharmacokinetics and bioavailability	section (e.g , 21 CFR 314 50(d)(3), 21 CFR	601 2)	
	7 Clinical Microbiology (e.g., 21 CFR 314 50(c	d)(4))	,	
	8 Clinical data section (e.g , 314.50(d)(5); 21	CFR 601.2)		
	9. Safety update report (e g., 21 CFR 314.50(c	l)(5)(vi)(b); 21 CFR 601.2)		
	10. Statistical section (e.g., 21 CFR 314.50(d)(e.g., 21 CFR 314.50(d))	i); 21 CFR 601.2)		
	11. Case report tabulations (e.g., 21 CFR 314.5	0(f)(1); 21 CFR 601.2)		
	12. Case reports forms (e.g., 21 CFR 314.50 (f)	(2); 21 CFR 601.2)		
	13. Patent information on any patent which clain	ns the drug (21 U.S.C. 355 (b) or (c))		
	14. A patent certification with respect to any pate	ent which claims the drug (21 U.S.C. 355 (b)	(2) or (j)(2)(A))	
	15. Establishment description (21 CFR Part 600), if applicable)		
	16. Debarment certification (FD&C Act 306 (k)(
	17. Field copy certification (21 CFR 314.50 (k)(3))	······································	
	18. User Fee Cover Sheet (Form FDA 3397)			•
	19. Financial Information (21 CFR Part 54)		··	
	20. OTHER (Specify)			
	 Cation is approved, 1 agree to comply with an application. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 		d applications, including, but not	limited to the follo
fthis	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- I, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12	limited to the follo
f this he D The c	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 6' 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.8' 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final sched data and information in this submission have been ref	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m	limited to the follo
f this he D he c Varn	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 6' 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.8' 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final scheo data and information in this submission have been refining: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense,	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- l, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are U S. Code, title 18, section 1001.	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate	limited to the follo 2 narket the product
f this he D The c Varn SIGN/	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 67 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.87 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final scheo data and information in this submission have been re- ning: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense, ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL OR AGENT	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate	limited to the follo 2 narket the product DATE
f this he D he c Varn iIGN/	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 6' 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.8' 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final scheo data and information in this submission have been refining: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense,	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations TD&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are U.S. Code, title 18, section 1001. TYPED NAME AND TITLE	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate n.D.	limited to the follo 2 narket the product
f this he D Narn SIGN/	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 67 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.87 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final scheol data and information in this submission have been re- ning: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense, ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL OR AGENT ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL O	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are U.S. Code, title 18, section 1001. TYPED NAME AND TITLE Kenneth L. White, Pharm	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate n.D.	limited to the follo 2 narket the product DATE
f this he D fhe c Varn SIGN/	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 67 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.87 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final sched data and information in this submission have been re- ning: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense, ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL OR AGENT	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are U.S. Code, title 18, section 1001. TYPED NAME AND TITLE Kenneth L. White, Pharm	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate n.D. ory Affairs	limited to the follo 2 harket the product
f this he D fhe c Varn SIGN/	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 67 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.87 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final scheol data and information in this submission have been re- ning: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense, ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL OR AGENT ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL O	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are U.S. Code, title 18, section 1001. TYPED NAME AND TITLE Kenneth L. White, Pharm	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate n.D. ory Affairs	limited to the follo 2 narket the product DATE
f this he D Narn NGN/ NDDR	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 67 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.87 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final sched data and information in this submission have been re- ning: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense, ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL OR AGENT	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. IO, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are U S. Code, title 18, section 1001. TYPED NAME AND TITLE Kenneth L. White, Pharm Vice President, Regulate tion is estimated to average 24 hours per res g the data needed, and completing and review	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate n.D. ory Affairs Telephone Number (610) 344-0200 sponse, including the time for rev wing the collection of information.	2 DATE 1/16/02 iewing instruction
f this he D Varn Varn DDR DDR DDR DDR DDR DDR DDR DDR DDR DD	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 67 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro- 5. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314.80, 314.80 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact laws s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final scheer data and information in this submission have been re- ning: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense, ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL OR AGENT	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are - U S. Code, title 18, section 1001. TYPED NAME AND TITLE Kenneth L. White, Pharm Vice President, Regulate tion is estimated to average 24 hours per res g the data needed, and completing and review collection of information, including suggestion An agency may not cor required to respond to,	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate n.D. ory Affairs Telephone Number (610) 344-0200 sponse, including the time for rev wing the collection of information.	limited to the follo 2 market the product DATE 1/16/02 iewing instruction . Send comments
this ne D Varn IGN/ DDR DDR DDR DDR Cublic earco egar ood BEF 401	1. Good manufacturing practice regulations in 21 CF 2 Biological establishment standards in 21 CFR Par 3 Labeling regulations in 21 CFR Parts 201, 606, 67 4. In the case of a prescription drug or biological pro- 5. Regulations on making changes in application in F 6. Regulations on Reports in 21 CFR 314 80, 314.87 7. Local, state and Federal environmental impact law s application applies to a drug product that FDA has p Drug Enforcement Administration makes a final scheer data and information in this submission have been refining: a willfully false statement is a criminal offense, ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL OR AGENT ATURE OF RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL OR AGENT RESS (Street, City, State, and ZIP Code) 145 Brandywine Parkway West Chester, PA 19380-4245 ic reporting burden for this collection of informationing this burden estimate or any other aspect of this artment of Health and Human Services 1 and Drug Administration	R Parts 210, 211 or applicable regulations P t 600. 10, 660 and/or 809. duct, prescription drug advertising regulations D&C Act Section 506A, 21 CFR 314.71, 31- 1, 600.80, and 600.81. s. proposed for scheduling under the Controlled luling decision. viewed and, to the best of my knowledge are - U S. Code, title 18, section 1001. TYPED NAME AND TITLE Kenneth L. White, Pharm Vice President, Regulate tion is estimated to average 24 hours per res g the data needed, and completing and review collection of information, including suggestion An agency may not cor required to respond to,	d applications, including, but not arts 606, and/or 820 s in 21 CFR 202. 4.72, 314.97, 314.99, and 601.12 Substances Act I agree not to m certified to be true and accurate n.D. ory Affairs Telephone Number (610) 344-0200 sponse, including the time for rev wing the collection of information ns for reducing this burden to induct or sponsor, and a person is a collection of information unless	limited to the follo 2 market the product DATE 1/16/02 iewing instruction . Send comments

- ----

Sales Force Letter Showing Proposed Revisions from FDA-Approved Letter of March, 1999

To: Abbott Laboratories H.P.D. Sales Representatives
Pain Care Specialists
Pain Care Area Managers
Medical Liaisons
National Account Managers

RE: Promotion of AetiqCTIQ[®] CII (oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate) C-ll

Cc:_--Field Sales Management

We are all very excited about the <u>success ACTIQ launch of Actiq</u>^{*} <u>CII (oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate)is having in the market place</u>. This product serves an important clinical need in its intended patient population, <u>the cancer pain patient with breakthrough pain</u>, and we are proud to <u>be promoting its proper usebring the product to market</u>.

It is important, however, that we remember our responsibility to promote this <u>unique product</u> drug delivery system only for its intended use and patient population. Actig is indicated only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are already receiving and who are tolerant to opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain. Promotion of Actig ACTIQ for other indications or patient populations is clearly a violation of Abbott Cephalon's policy and therefore makes violators subject to disciplinary action-including termination. As with all drugs, we have an ethical responsibility to assure access to our product by the appropriate patient population in need. In aAdditionally, you must assure that you provide the prescribing while discussing ACTIQ with clinicians, you must provide with a balanced representation of the Risk Management Program -facts regarding its the indications, patient selection, contraindications, side effects, use and safe handling, child safety, disposal, prevention of diversion and abuse.

As we discussed during our training sessions, an appropriately balanced representation of *Actiq* will include the important safety messages, which underlie the Risk Management Program. <u>Note</u>. See attachment for a summary of the Key Safety Messages. It is your responsibility to assure that your customers understand the potential risks, which could come to unintended populations. These include all parameters of keeping *Actiq* out of the reach of children. Accidental ingestion of this medicine by a child could be harmful or fatal. Use the patient leaflet to educate your customers on proper patient selection, proper disposal and handling of *Actiq*, emergency information, and other important directions.

Even though your targeted physician population consists of Ooncologists and Ppain management <u>Sspecialists</u>, it is inevitable that you will be contacted by or become aware of other physicians who wish to use <u>ACTIQAettq</u> outside of indication. It is your responsibility to assure that these physicians are instructed on the appropriate use of <u>ACTIQAettq</u> and the potential dangers associated with its use outside its the intended patient population. <u>Again</u>, tThis instruction should cover include proper use, storage, handling, and disposal requirements in the home as well as indications, contraindications, and side effects.

Actiq-<u>ACTIQ</u> offers a substantial improvement in the treatment of patients suffering daily from episodes of breakthrough cancer pain which are uncontrolled by their current opioid therapy. We are confident that you will be successful in aiding your clinicians in satisfying this critical unmet need.

RegardsSincerely,

Abbott LaboratoriesRoy Craig Vice President, Sales

Attachment

ATTACHMENT cc: Mike Wetherholt Mike Thiem Chuck DcWildt



1

Proposed Sales Force Letter

To:

Pain Care Specialists Pain Care Area Managers Medical Liaisons National Account Managers

RE: Promotion of ACTIQ[®] (oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate) C-II

We are all very excited about the success ACTIQ is having in the market place. This product serves an important clinical need in its intended patient population, the cancer pain patient with breakthrough pain, and we are proud to be promoting its proper use.

It is important that we remember our responsibility to promote this unique product only for the management of breakthrough cancer pain in patients with malignancies who are already receiving and who are tolerant to opioid therapy for their underlying persistent cancer pain. Promotion of ACTIQ for other indications or patient populations is clearly a violation of Cephalon's policy and therefore makes violators subject to disciplinary action. Additionally, while discussing ACTIQ with clinicians, you must provide a balanced representation of the Risk Management Program regarding the indication, patient selection, side effects, use, safe handling, child safety, disposal, prevention of diversion and abuse.

Even though your targeted physician population consists of oncologists and pain management specialists, it is inevitable that you will be contacted by or become aware of other physicians who wish to use ACTIQ outside of indication. It is your responsibility to assure that these physicians are instructed on the appropriate use of ACTIQ and the potential dangers associated with its use outside the intended patient population. Again, this instruction should cover proper use, storage, handling, and disposal requirements in the home as well as indications, contraindications, and side effects.

ACTIQ offers a substantial improvement in the treatment of patients suffering daily from episodes of breakthrough cancer pain which are uncontrolled by their current opioid therapy. We are confident that you will be successful in aiding your clinicians in satisfying this critical unmet need.

Sincerely,

Roy Craig Vice President, Sales

cc: Mike Wetherholt Mike Thiem Chuck DeWildt